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About this report

Our Annual Report follows best practice in
corporate governance by reporting our
performance against strategic objectives
and national targets, and presenting
information about our services and financial
performance transparently and honestly.
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2012/13 and a summary of how we have performed financially
in 2011/12.

• Performance report:
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including our performance against national targets.

• Governance report:
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including details of the Board of Directors.

• Quality Account:
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demonstrating our commitment to providing quality care for all
patients and reporting back on our performance against priorities
for quality improvement agreed by the Board of Directors and
identifying our priorities for 2012/13.

• Finance:
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including the full Annual Accounts and auditor’s statement for
the financial year 2011/12.
If you would like a copy of this document in LARGE PRINT, Braille or audio
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Chairman’s statement
Welcome to this, the second Annual Report and
Accounts of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.
The report highlights our performance in the
12 months to March 2012 and our plans and
priorities for 2012/13.
The past year has been one of consolidation
as we have set about establishing a substantive
Executive team, strengthening our management
structures and processes, and building on the
areas of best practice in our work.
We can again be proud of the strong
performance for the year in terms of meeting
or exceeding expectations in the achievement
of national and local targets, at the same time
being able to record a financial surplus for the
second year running.
This puts us in a strong position to move forward
with our plans to become a Foundation Trust
and to develop new and better services for
local people closer to their homes so that in
some cases, they no longer have to attend
hospital for treatment in future. It is also
gratifying that we now have an aspirant FT
public membership of over 8,000 together
with 3,000 plus staff.
A highlight of the year was our Celebrating
Community Services event when over 30 teams
literally set their stalls out to show colleagues,
GPs and members of the public some of the
wonderful work that is going on every day by
staff in our Trust.
The day also incorporated our first Leading
Lights staff awards. We had over 80 nominations
for the awards and it became a difficult task
to judge the many excellent examples of high
quality work and achievement of individuals
and teams in the Trust. The winners are
highlighted at the back of this report and I
would take this opportunity to congratulate
them all once again for becoming our first
Leading Lights.

One of our main priorities during the year was to
attract top quality people to our Executive Team.
We are fortunate to have gained the services
of David Law as Chief Executive along with
a full substantive team of Executives. I look
forward to working with them all. My thanks
go to Derek Smith, who was our interim
Chief Executive through much of the year,
and who has kept us on track during this
period of change and consolidation.
I would also like to express my gratitude to
my Trust Board colleagues for their unstinting
support. This includes Executive and Non
Executive Directors who have now moved on
to new pastures but whose contribution has
been highly valued. My thanks also to all our
staff at every level and in every area for their
continuing enthusiasm and dedication in
ensuring that our patients remain at the
centre of everything we do.
Looking forward, the challenges we face
continue to be daunting with finances
becoming ever tighter despite growing
demand for our services. We must seek to
grow if we are to prosper in a competitive
health care environment, so it is with this in
mind that I can report that during the year we
were successful in winning new business in a
number of areas and have begun a new
financial year on the right note by taking over
the management of children’s specialist
community services in West Essex.
We need to ensure we remain as flexible as
possible as an organisation. This will allow
us to adapt to changing priorities and grasp
new opportunities as they present themselves.
I believe we can face another year of challenge
and opportunity with full confidence of
progressing in our aims to provide the very
best for our patients, their families and carers.
I hope you find this document helpful and
informative and I commend it to you.

Declan O’Farrell
Chairman
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HCT service portfolio 2011-2012

CORE COMMUNITY (EAST AND NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE)
• Minor injuries unit
• Psychological therapy service

• Integrated community teams
• Intermediate care bed-based units

CORE COMMUNITY (WEST HERTFORDSHIRE)
• Intermediate care bed based units

• Integrated community Teams

ADULT LONG TERM CONDITIONS
• Cardiology services
(including cardiac rehabilitation and heart failure)
• Neurological services
• Neurological bed-bases
• Prison healthcare services
• Respiratory service

• End of life and lymphoedema services
• Speech and language therapy service
• Diabetes community service
• Diabetic retinopathy service
• Children’s eye services

ADULT SPECIALIST
• Sexual health and family planning services
• Dental services
• Skin health services (including leg ulcer
services)
• Bladder and bowel care services
• Nutrition and dietetics service
• Foot health service
• Acute therapies service

• Wheelchair services
(including specialist seating and electric
indoor and outdoor wheelchair services)
• Musculoskeletal services
(including physiotherapy and
occupational therapy)
• Chronic fatigue and pain management service

CHILDREN’S UNIVERSAL
• Health visiting and school nursing services
• Child health service
• Newborn hearing screening service

• Step2 service
• Sure start children’s centres
• Family nurse partnership

CHILDREN’S SPECIALIST
• Speech and language therapy service
• Physiotherapy service
• Occupational therapy service
• Community medical service
• Challenging behaviour psychology service
• Audiology service
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• Continuing care service
• Nascot Lawn respite care
• Special school nursing service
• Specialist diabetes nursing service
• Young people’s health transitional service
• Community nursing services
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In this section we provide a profile of our
principal activities during the course of the
past year and highlight the progress we
have made in developing the range and
scope of the services we provide in the
local communities of Hertfordshire.
Our business review is covered in detail in the
Operating and Financial Review section whilst
the other main sections of this Annual Report
include our Quality Account and the Annual
Accounts for 2011/12.
The Trust’s principal activities
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT)
was established as a stand alone NHS Trust
on 1 November 2010.
The Trust had an income of £127m during
2011/12 and employs over 3,000 staff. HCT is
the main provider of a wide range of universal
and specialist community health services to the
1.1m residents of Hertfordshire. This includes
providing outpatient, inpatient, home and
clinic-based services, as well as a minor injuries
unit, across the 634 square miles of Hertfordshire.

A key aim for the year was to secure a full team
of high quality managers on the Trust Executive.
I was delighted to be appointed Chief Executive
in April. I am also pleased to report the
appointment of Alison Shelley as Director
of Human Resources and Organisational
Development, Dr Hemal Desai as Medical
Director, Sean McKeever as Finance Director
and John Curnow as the new Director of
Strategy and Business Development for the
Trust. They join Julie Hoare as Director of
Operations and Clare Hawkins as Director of
Quality and Governance and Chief Nurse.

We serve the communities of Broxbourne,
Dacorum, East Herts, Hertsmere, North Herts,
St Albans, Stevenage, Three Rivers, Watford
and Welywn/Hatfield.
We have 130 units or bases across the county,
ranging from health clinics to bed based units
providing inpatient care, specialist care and
supporting local people in their own homes.
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Chief Executive’s report

How effective have we been?
I am pleased to report a continuing strong
performance as an NHS Trust both in terms of
quality of service, as reflected in our performance
against key national indicators, and our financial
position as of 31 March 2012.
There have been a number of highlights
during the year:
The refurbishment of Queen Victoria
Memorial Hospital
This £220,000 scheme involved providing two
new single en-suite rooms, decorating existing
patient bays, new assisted showers and toilet
facilities, a new drugs treatment room, sluice
room and dedicated visitor toilets. In addition,
the hospital’s League of Friends generously
donated £48,000 of the money which enabled
builders to provide a new reception area and
meeting/visitors’ room for the hospital.
Clinicenta contract
The successful renegotiation of the Clinicenta
contract resulted in additional income to HCT
of £282k. Six additional staff provide the
services which include inpatient therapy for
planned surgical procedures; on-going
outpatient follow-up on a cost per case basis
and district nursing on a cost per case basis.
The service operates from Monday to Friday
and patients not fit for discharge can be
admitted to HCT for on-going rehabilitation.

The Family Nurse Partnership
This is a national pilot for developing health
visitors and health visitor training. HCT received
funding of £150k for 2011/12 in response to a
national programme based on early intervention
and support for teenage parents. This included
six staff, recruited to deliver the programme.
Additionally HCT recruited a number of
health visitors, thereby resolving long standing
vacancies. This helped to reduce caseload size
and revising the allocation of health visitors
to ensure capacity in areas of most need.
Expansion of children’s community
nursing services
NHS Hertfordshire provided HCT with additional
funding of £98k to expand children’s community
nursing services to include providing a 24 hour
end of life service, Bank Holiday service and
expanding the age range covered to 18 years.
Stroke one-stop-shop pilot
This has improved access for patients to skilled
stroke specialist staff through an increase in
timely access to community services and
subsequent reductions in lengths of stay for
patients in acute/community beds. The pilot
improved patient experience by reducing
waiting times (and decreasing a backlog of
patients).
Funding for the scheme has provided additional
therapy support in the home based community
teams focusing on key areas where waiting
times for access to on-going rehabilitation can
be reduced.
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Children’s bereavement service
HCT successfully obtained funding of £29k
through the National Childhood Bereavement
Network to recruit a Childhood Bereavement
Adviser to run a pilot to review the current
service in Hertfordshire and to explore the
potential benefits of the service. Having been
fully evaluated, a business case has been drawn
up and submitted to NHS Hertfordshire to
obtain funding for 2012/13 for an expansion
to the service across the county and to support
its integration with the Step2 Early Intervention
and Wellbeing service.

Transformation funding 2011/12
In addition to funded service developments,
early in 2011/12, NHS Hertfordshire sought bids
from all providers in the local health system
to enable them to support transformation.
HCT submitted a number of bids all closely
aligned to delivering quality, innovation,
productivity and prevention (QIPP) initiatives
and enabling health system reform.
HCT was successful in securing funding to
support three areas. The table below summarises
the transformation bids supported by NHS
Hertfordshire.

Successful bids for transformation funding
Area

Details

Total cost
2011/12

Mobile
working

Additional costs associated with the implementation of mobile working
for community staff. Funding will lead to efficiencies and an increase
in productivity.

£287,000

Health visitor
training

Additional costs associated with the expansion of the HV training
placements. This provides the clinical supervision and support to trainees
ensuring a high quality learning opportunity is provided.

£163,000

Costs associated with the establishment of an integrated wheelchair
service to release costs associated with duplication and improve quality
to patients.

£85,000

Wheelchairs

TOTAL

£535,000
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Looking to the future
We will continue to be involved in working
with the Strategic Health Authority (SHA) and
Monitor (the FT regulatory body) in achieving
Community Foundation Trust status as quickly
as possible. Like all NHS organisations we will
have to address the changes which will impact
on us and other organisations as funding
reductions begin to bite whilst we also respond
to the national drive to provide more health
services in a community setting.
We intend to build strong alliances with our
new commissioners, the evolving Clinical
Commissioning Groups. We will also continue
developing strong links with Hertfordshire
County Council. For instance, we have been
working with GPs and the County Council in
testing an Integrated Single Point of Access
(IPA) in Welwyn/Hatfield prior to its being
extended to other localities within East and
North Hertfordshire.
Further work with the County Council has
led to integration and redesign of speech &
language and occupational therapy services.
HCT has also been implementing national
policies to reduce health visitor caseloads and
introduce the Family Nurse Partnership, targeted
at young children and teenage parents.
Competition from the private sector and
potential competition from other NHS providers
from outside Hertfordshire pose a risk, but
we remain in a strong position to continue
to develop high quality services and also take
advantage of any opportunities that arise to
compete to provide new services outside
the county. Business development will remain
high on our agenda over the next 12 months.

8

In 2012/13 we intend to restructure the
management of our services to provide a
streamlined Business Unit model providing
greater support for front line staff, allowing for
change and improvement whilst enabling our
teams to become more responsive to the needs
of patients, families and carers.
We have been developing innovative ways of
working and this will continue to be a focus.
Mobile technology has been piloted in health
visiting and some locality-based community
nursing teams, leading to a roll-out across HCT’s
peripatetic services planned for 2012/13.
Our plans remain ambitious and will demand
the commitment of the Board, managers
and staff to deliver them. Everything we do
relies upon our staff and ensuring that their
outstanding capabilities and commitment are
deployed in the best possible way that enables
people in Hertfordshire and users of our services
in West Essex to improve their health and lead
a full, rewarding and independent life.

David Law
Chief Executive
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Operating and financial review

This section of the report covers our financial,
operational and clinical performance during
2011/12.
We state our Vision and Values as an organisation, look at our
corporate objectives for 2011/12 and how we have performed against
them. We highlight the key objectives for 2012/13 and provide an
overview of financial and clinical performance.
Leadership
HCT has been through a process to strengthen its Board and
restructure services. This is to ensure strong direction and leadership.
The Chair and Non-Executives bring a balanced portfolio from financial,
business and health care professional backgrounds. There is a robust
Board development programme in place to prepare for the future as a
Foundation Trust.
Our Vision
To become a leading light in the provision of innovative programmes
of care which maintain and improve the health and wellbeing of the
people of Hertfordshire and other areas served by the Trust.
Our Values
Care
We put patients at the heart of everything we do.
Respect
We treat people with dignity and respect.
Quality
We strive for excellence and effectiveness at all times.
Confidence
We do what we say we will do.
Improve
We will improve through continuous learning and innovation.

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-2012
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Operating and financial review
Objectives, priorities and targets

DEVELOPING A DISTINCTIVE HEALTH CARE ORGANISATION
There are some key features to our services
which give us a unique position in the health
and social care system and in the community.
These features are:
• Our commitment to develop and maintain
a person’s independence in the community,
to improve their health and help them lead
full lives through the interventions and
support of our clinicians
• Our services are woven into the fabric of
local communities, working in people’s
homes or in the community throughout
people’s lives
• We work with individuals and their families
and carers, who are or have become
vulnerable

• Our clinical services take a holistic approach,
across medical, social and psychological
models of care
• We are integrally aligned to general
practitioners and primary care practice
• We work together with social care,
education, acute services, voluntary
organisations and private sector partners,
enabling us to act as a key link in the health
and social care system.
We provide care and support to meet changing
needs throughout people’s lives. We are
fundamentally concerned with sustaining
people’s independence and the dignity which
this affords them, so we aim to maintain
people in their own homes and, wherever
possible, avoid entry to institutional care.

THE TRUST’S STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2012/13
In 2011/12 the Trust's strategic objectives
were to:
• provide services which people choose and
recommend for patient safety, clinical
effectiveness and patient experience
• maintain financial health through viable
services, innovation and investment
• fully empower and utilise the talents,
expertise and experience of our people
• maximise service development opportunities
by leveraging our networks partnerships and
collaborative working.
These were reviewed and revised in 2012/13
to allow for the next stage of the Trust's
development as an organisation and to give a
focus on "high value health care". We define
high value health care as having four
components:

Our objectives now are:
• We will support the people we serve to
manage their own health and wellbeing.
• We will improve clinical outcomes and
enhance patient safety.
• We will support the substantial expansion
of community services through the delivery
of excellent core services for adults and
children, and the development of
ambulatory services.
• We will use resources efficiently to enhance
our ability to improve services.
• We will develop the organisation's capacity
to deliver our vision and objectives.

1. Excellent clinical outcomes
2. An outstanding patient experience
3. Consistent and improving patient safety
4. Highly efficient and cost effective

12
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KEY PRIORITIES FOR 2011/12 AND HOW WE MET THEM
• Achieve all national and local quality and
performance targets to deliver high quality
care and drive up reputation. These were all
achieved for the second year running.
• Ensure the organisation has the appropriate
governance systems and processes in
place to demonstrate readiness to become
a Foundation Trust. HCT was the first
community provider in the East of England
to achieve 100%venous thromboembolism
(VTE) screening. The Trust achieved NHS
Litigation Authority Level 1 (December
2011) and Information Governance Level 2
(March 2012).
• Develop the Clinical Services Strategy and
identify business development opportunities
to improve patient care across Hertfordshire.
HCT continues to develop new business
opportunities and was successful in winning
a £3m contract to manage children’s specialist
community services in West Essex beginning
1 April 2012.

• Strengthen business processes to enable
HCT to successfully compete and win future
contracts. HCT gained over £780,000 worth
of new business plus £535,000 in successful
bids for transformation funding.
• To retain a robust and sound financial
position throughout the year. HCT achieved
a £1m surplus.
• Recruit CEO/Executive Directors and key
leadership positions within the organisation.
The recruitment of a full Executive Team was
completed by March 2012.
• Further develop key strategies for: quality,
estates, IMT, organisational development,
business development. Work continues
to finalise, develop and implement these
strategies.
• Deliver on the five quality priorities for
the year. (See the Quality Account section
of this document.)

• Develop key strategic partnerships with
GP consortia, acute trusts, County Council,
independent and voluntary organisations.
Work continues to build new alliances which
will be led by individual members of the
Executive Team.
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OUR PRIORITIES 2012/13
• Using innovation
Developing our HomeFirst prototype services
(based on the virtual ward concept) in two
localities, to maintain older people in the
community and avoid unnecessary hospital
admissions. This will test our ability to deliver
this across the county, and will support the
national policy of Transforming Community
Services. We will work in close partnership
with GPs and Hertfordshire County Council
social care services to deliver this service
development.
• Build on our successes
Embed our community-based model to help
those people with diabetes in Hertfordshire
and work with our partners to explore
other opportunities to support others with
long term conditions to live with them in
the community.
• Integrate new services
Developing the newly acquired West Essex
Children’s Service to deliver the high standards
of care experienced by Hertfordshire residents,
whilst continuing to improve the service overall.
• Utilise new ways of working
To implement mobile working more fully
across all services to improve productivity
and recording. This will support the delivery
of cost improvements this year and into
the future.
• Make best use of inpatient beds
Reviewing our bed-based provision to
ensure that it is meeting needs, provides
effective care and is cost-effective.
• Continue to provide high quality services
Maintaining and improving service
performance in all areas of provision to
ensure that services are delivering high
value health care.
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To achieve this ambitious programme of
development and improvement, HCT must have
in place essential organisational components.
Progress is being made and must come to
fruition in the year on the following actions:
• Completion of the appointments to the Board
and a programme of Board development.
HCT now has a full, substantive executive
team and needs to replace two Non-Executive
Directors. The Board Governance Assurance
Framework together with a development
programme is being implemented.
• Re-organisation of management structures and
processes. Consultation is taking place on the
plan to reduce operating unit numbers, achieve
greater delegation and flexibility and reduce
the corporate overhead. For the structural
change to be effective, the Trust’s managers
will need to be equipped and authorised to
take necessary decisions, initiate change and
improvement, as well as responding decisively
and positively to patients, families and referrers.
• The drive towards better business intelligence
must be reinforced. Cost information through
service line reporting is starting to be available.
HCT is working upon its activity and capacity
planning. In conjunction with service
commissioners a project is underway aimed at
improving data capture and accuracy, providing
better information on service performance
and creating a basis for devising new contract
currencies. This will presage a move away
from the use of block contracting.
• While the Trust has made strides in improving
available performance information and has
a comprehensive integrated business and
performance report, there is a need for a
‘front end’ business intelligence system
drawing from current information systems
and placing active and timely information on
managers’ and clinicians’ desktops. The aim
is to develop this capability during 2012/13.
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• Innovative means of service delivery and
changes to the way services are managed
as well as provided will affect the workforce.
The use of assistive technology to monitor
and maintain people in their home
environment will be tested, which will
require some professional and support staff
to learn new skills. Some new ways of
working will require specific capabilities.
Examples include: referral assessment, rapid
response, case management (virtual ward),
and nurse navigators (who advise patients
on alternative treatment options) to prevent
avoidable admissions to hospital.
• In some instances more specialists will be
needed in the likes of tissue viability, oxygen
therapy, rehabilitation and the management
of long term conditions. It is also expected
that the extant skills of community health
staff in working with others on behalf of
patients at the boundaries of organisations,
will develop further, particularly where
services are delivered in an integrated
manner with social care and potentially
even directed at a local level through an
integrated management structure.

• The new Health and Social Care Act creates an
environment in which services might further
be subject to competition. The changes to
NHS organisations and the novelty of Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) probably
militates against radical change in 2012/13,
but HCT has a clear need to develop its
market intelligence and ability to compete
effectively for services in the future.
• Focusing on priorities for quality
improvement for 2012/13 outlined in the
Quality Account section.
• Acquisition of the West Essex Children’s
Services has been encouraging, but HCT
is under no illusion that opportunity also
means risk, meaning that the development
of capabilities to bid successfully for work is
critical to our future. We are also well aware
that the best way to secure existing services is
by ensuring their excellence and costeffectiveness.

NATIONAL /REGIONAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS
All national targets and key performance
indicators (KPIs) have been met including:
• 18 weeks waiting
• GUM (offered and seen)
• Newborn hearing screening
• Retinal screening (offered and screened)
• Minor Injuries four hour access
(100% achievement)
• Human Papilloma Virus (HPV)
(ahead of trajectory for the school
year 2011/12)
• C.difficile (remained ahead of trajectory
agreed with PCT)
Performance against indicators set with the
SHA and PCT have been within target levels.
These include:
• MRSA bacteraemia cases are below the
trajectory agreed with PCT
• HCT has had zero mixed sex accommodation
breaches

• 18 weeks referral to treatment for nonconsultant led services at 99.9% in February
against a target of 98%
• District nurse response times are within
expected levels
• Achieving and maintaining NHS delayed
transfers of care at 4.7% compared to a
threshold of 6%
• Achieving length of stay threshold for stroke
patients at 38 days compared to a threshold
of 42
• Community matron caseloads at 50 per wte
• A venous thromboembolism assessment
implementation plan was completed in
2011/12 which has resulted in 100% of
admitted patients having received an
assessment by the end of the year
• 91% of new birth visits conducted within
14 days of birth against a target of 90%
• HPV immunisation levels have achieved
target levels.
See pages 19-20 for operational performance
of the Trust
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Summary of financial performance

The Trust achieved an Income and Expenditure (I&E) surplus of £1,030,000 for the financial year
2011/12. A comparison of planned and actual performance is shown in the table below.
Summary of financial performance
2011/12 Plan
£000s

2011/12 Outturn
£000s

Variance

£119,784

£125,807

(£6,023)

(5.0%)

£1,258

£1,396

(£138)

(11.0%)

£121,042

£127,203

(£6,161)

(5.1%)

Pay costs

£91,821

£92,751

(£930)

(1.0%)

Non-pay costs

£27,607

£32,762

(£5,155)

(18.7%)

£119,428

£125,513

(£6,085)

(5.1%)

£1,614

£1,690

(£76)

(4.7%)

Interest receivable

£0

£10

£10

0

Interest payable

£0

£0

£0

0

Depreciation

£530

£569

(£39)

(7.4%)

PDC dividend

£80

£101

(£101)

(26.2%)

£0

£0

£0

0

£1,004

£1,030

(£26)

(2.6%)

£000s

% of plan

Income
Clinical income
Non-clinical income
TOTAL INCOME

Expenses

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

EBITDA*

Exceptional items
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

*EBITDA = Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

NHS Trusts have a statutory duty to break even in terms of income and expenditure. In order
to achieve this position the Trust instigated a Cost Improvement Programme which identified
schemes across the organisation to make efficiencies or reduce costs. This included savings on
the procurement of goods and services, introducing an online expenses system for reclaiming
mileage costs, and increasing income by charging the relevant Primary Care Trust when we
treat out of county patients.
The planned outturn position differs from the actual due to the high level of vacancies that
occurred throughout the year.
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Capital investment

Cash

The Trust invested £2.3m in capital schemes.
The Department of Health set a capital resource
limit of £2.3m and no overspend is permitted.
This duty has therefore been achieved.

NHS trusts are required to manage cash within
their notified External Financing Limit (EFL).
This limit is set by the Department of Health and
determines how much cash an NHS trust may
spend beyond that generated by its normal day
to day operations. It is a breach of its financial
duty to overspend against the EFL. The Trust
delivered an undershoot of £4.9m which
means that it has met its obligation. The Trust
retained £8.5m cash at the end of the year.
This is an increase of £5.1m on the cash held
at 31 March 2011.

The Trust spent much of this funding on
developing mobile working across several
clinical services and purchasing IT software to
improve its systems in preparation for becoming
a Foundation Trust. It also invested in improving
a number of health care facilities, some to
enhance patient environment and some to
clear back-log maintenance, including
replacing boilers and roofs.
The Trust agreed a high level of capital
expenditure during 2011/12, as it was
anticipating that the ownership of a number
of buildings would transfer during the year
and it would therefore take on responsibility
for the maintenance. That transfer did not
take place, but the Trust honoured its
agreement with NHS Hertfordshire to invest
in maintenance of these buildings.
For 2012/13 the Trust will fund its capital
programme from retained depreciation, which
is £0.8m and therefore this will be carefully
managed to ensure there is no overspend.
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Better Payment Practice Code - % value of creditor invoices paid in 30 days and 10 days
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
Apr
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Jun
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Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

◼2010/11 ◼2011/12 ◼Target ◼10 Day
Better Payment Practice Code

Plans for estate 2012/13

The Trust is required to comply with the
Better Practice Payment Code (BPPC). The
code requires organisations to pay 100% of
suppliers within 30 days of receiving a valid
invoice (95% is considered to be compliant).
Performance dropped slightly below target
during the year as the Trust worked hard to
improve its internal procurement practices,
and work with suppliers to improve the
information provided on invoices.

HCT occupies 49,000m2 of space within 78
sites across Hertfordshire. Currently, these
sites are owned, leased and managed by
NHS Hertfordshire. The portfolio is diverse and
includes community health clinics, bed based
units and office space. In some buildings, HCT
is the only tenant, in others it shares the space
with others. 49% of the HCT estate is freehold.

The Trust did not deliberately build up its
cash at the expense of its BPPC performance.
The cash was mainly received in March due
to a number of debtors paying outstanding
invoices.
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The Trust is currently negotiating with NHS
Hertfordshire and the Department of Health on
the transfer of a number of properties from
April 2013 which are currently owned and
managed by NHS Hertfordshire. This is in
accordance with guidelines laid down by the
Department of Health. The exact number and
value of buildings is yet to be finally determined,
but is likely to involve the transfer of as many
as 50 buildings at a value of £51m funded
through Public Dividend Capital issued to
the Trust.
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The operational performance of the Trust

The Trust’s services aim to provide the very
highest quality services at all times. A key part
of maintaining our high standards is to deliver
on achieving national targets.
The table below provides an indication of overall activity for the year.
Patient Activity Figures

2010/11

2011/12

Total contacts

1,474,765

1,674,373

288,134

301,213

93,298

80,874

7,108

7,454

Total referrals received
Occupied bed days
Minor Injuries attendances

Operational performance
The Trust performed strongly in 2011/12.
In particular, we achieved all seven national
indicators with 97% or more in six of the seven
indicators. All 7,454 patients that attended
our minor injuries unit were seen within the
national standard of four hours. We achieved

100% for our referral to treatment indicators
for consultant and non-consultant services.
This puts HCT in the position of being one
of the most consistent and best performing
aspirant community Foundation Trusts in
the country.
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The following table sets out performance against our main targets. Further information on
performance against quality standards is included in the Quality Account.
Main target performance
Key performance indicators

2011/12
Target

2011/12
Performance

Minor injuries patients seen < 4 hours

95%

100%

Percentage of GUM (Genito Urinary medicine)
patients seen < 48Hrs

85%

99%

Percentage of GUM (Genito Urinary medicine)
patients offered < 48Hrs

98%

99%

New born hearing screening - % babies screened
within 1 month of birth

95%

97%

Retinal screening - % of diabetic cohort that has
been offered an annual screen

100%

100%

Retinal screening - % of diabetic cohort that has
been screened in 2011/12

80%

82%

Consultant led 18 weeks referral to treatment (national indicator)

95%

100%

Non-consultant led 18 weeks referral to treatment (local indicator)

98%

100%

MRSA bacteraemia

4

2

Clostridium difficile

19
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Level 1

Level 1

National indicators

18 week referral to treatment indicator

Infection control

Clinical governance
NHS Litigation authority (NHSLA)
clinical negligence level
Patient experience
% of patients reporting positively about cleanliness of
environment in a community hospital
Proportion of complaints resolved within
timescale agreed with complainant

Not Set

98.5%

80%

88%

>83% - 93%<

85%

Readmission rates within 28 days

<2%

1%

Delayed Transfers of Care - NHS Delays

<6%

5%

Bed-based units
Average Occupancy
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Principal risks and uncertainties

As is the case in the rest of the NHS, the Trust faces a number of challenges due
to the growing demand on services at a time of financial uncertainty.
As a newly formed Trust, HCT has a number of additional challenges to overcome
during the coming year.
These include:
The ‘due diligence’ process and preparing
the ground for becoming a Community
Foundation Trust
The Trust has a dedicated team to take this
crucial work forward.
The need to secure a share of the work
identified in the ongoing shift from hospital
services into the community
The Trust is expanding its range of services to
strengthen its position in winning new work
and retaining services currently provided.
To forge links with newly formed Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs)
The Trust is continuing to develop a dialogue
with all GP practices, but specifically with the
shadow CCGs in Hertfordshire.
Establish the transfer of estate from the PCT
Negotiations continue with NHS Hertfordshire.
Key risks
The Trust’s corporate risk registers and
governance processes are designed to assess
the impact of any identified risks to the Trust’s
plans, and ensure that as far as possible they
are managed and mitigated.
Those objectives which run the greatest risk
of not being achieved are reviewed regularly
by the Executive Team, the Audit Committee
and the Board. Independent assurance is also
provided by the Trust’s Internal Auditors.

The main strategic risks that face the Trust in
2012/13 fall broadly under five categories:
Economic risks
The Trust has declared a surplus for 2011/12,
so the associated risks of having a deficit
position is not an issue. However, economic
risks, including increased plurality and
competition remain, as does the increased
use of “Any Qualified Provider” contracting
model which may result in loss of existing or
future business.
Service risks
HCT’s viability is reliant on the ongoing
channelling of funds from the acute sector
into developing community health services.
Any delay in the roll out of HERTS QUIPP
would have an adverse impact on the Trust’s
future viability.
Governance risks
HCT continues to develop embedded information
governance systems and processes to offset
the risk of incidents which may be in breach
of statutory or common law duties attracting
legal sanctions - with the attendant financial
and reputational consequences for the Trust.
Budgetary risks
HCT continues to develop within the constraints
of finite resources during a time of significant
and complex change for the NHS and health
care delivery generally. There is a risk that
available budgets are insufficient to meet
spending pressures.
Financial planning risks
The Trust must generate revenues and
control costs to ensure an end of year surplus.
The Trust continues to work in developing its
cost improvement plans.
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Monitoring performance

Internal

Reporting to the Strategic Health Authority

Monthly financial statements are reviewed by
the Trust Board and Executive Team who, with
Business Units, analyse variances from budget.
Action plans are produced to manage any
variances and these are monitored through
integrated performance meetings with Business
Units and the Executive Team.

The Trust reports to NHS Midlands & East
cluster of SHAs through the SHA’s “Provider
Management Regime”. This is based around
Monitor’s Compliance Framework for
Foundation Trusts and involves:

The Financial, Business and Investment
Committee receives monthly updates and this
is scrutinised in detail.
The Board and Executive Team of the Trust
monitor performance closely through analysis
of a monthly “Integrated Board Performance
Report”, which has continued to evolve and
develop throughout 2011/12.
This comprehensive report covers the domains
of Patient Safety, Quality, Performance,
Finance and Workforce. It sets out targets
and/or key performance indicators which
are (a) national (b) agreed as part of the
contract with the PCT or (c) devised internally.
The indicators are recorded against a
trajectory for the year and performance
against each indicator for each month
(or quarter) is allocated a “red”, “amber” or
“green” rating subject to whether it meets
the trajectory.
Any indicators showing red are specifically
highlighted and analysed for the Board’s
attention.

• the submission of a detailed Annual Plan,
which includes a self assessment of
governance, financial and contractual risk
• reporting monthly on how the Trust is
performing. This is through self-certified
completion of a model template which is a
month by month assessment of the Trust’s
Governance Risk Rating (GRR), Financial Risk
Rating (FRR) and Contractual Risk Rating
which are then assessed against the Annual
Plan risk projections. The monthly return is
also supported by a declaration which sets
out Board confirmation of the position on
compliance with national targets and other
prescribed requirements.
• meeting with the SHA every month to
review the Trust’s performance.
For 2011/12 the Trust projected and was
rated as the following:
Contractual Risk Rating: Green
(Contract with NHS Hertfordshire as the
principal commissioner signed off)
Governance Risk Rating: Green
Financial Risk Rating: 3
For 2012/13 the Trust is projecting:
Contractual Risk Rating: Green
Governance Risk Rating: Green
Financial Risk Rating: 3
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Patient care - listening and learning

The patient is at the centre of all we do and improving the patient experience
whilst in our care remains paramount. We must also be alert to what patients
and visitors think of our services at all times.
One of our Quality Priorities for 2011/12 was to:
further demonstrate changes in our services as
a result of patient feedback.
We have worked to ensure that more patients
are able to see and experience services in the
way they have told us best meet their health
needs and wishes. We also wanted staff to feel
they were available to provide the quality of
care which they would be happy for their
families and friends to receive.
As a result, 78% of our services have introduced
changes following patient feedback, with a
number of services introducing more than
one change. For a list of some of the actions
taken please refer to the Quality Account in
this document.
We have gathered more patient views,
experience and stories with the support of
our Patient Experience Team and through the
introduction of hand-held devices (patient
experience trackers). We have developed
surveys for patients who use our children’s
and adult services and made them available
via an on-line link. A telephone survey with
patients who were seen by our community
nursing service was also undertaken.

In another initiative we have been working
closely with Hertfordshire Local Involvement
Network (LINk) to seek feedback from the
public and patients about their care and our
service developments. Seeking patients’ views
and experiences, and using them to improve
our services, remains important to us and will
be embedded into our improvement plans in
2012/13 when we will also introduce three
new quality priorities. (See the Quality Account
section for full details.)
National survey results
As a community NHS Trust we do not participate
in the national inpatient survey but we do
undertake our own inpatient surveys which
include the national questions.
97% of patients surveyed would recommend
our service to a relative or friend and 90% rated
their overall care as ‘very good or excellent’.
Significantly more staff would be happy with
the standard of care at the Trust if family or
friends needed treatment - a rating of 3.52 in
the national Staff Survey compared to 3.44
last year and higher than the national average.

Patients’ experiences of our services in both
children’s and adult services featured in a film
shown at the Celebrating Community Services
event.
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Percentage of PALs enquiries responded to within 24 hours
PALS enquiries

2010/11

2011/12

Total number

445

488

Percentage resolved within 24-hours

73%

91%

Complaints, compliments and PALS

How have we met these principles?

HCT received 190 complaints during 2011/12
compared with 192 in 2010/11. We have been
continuing to improve our responsiveness to
complaints. We resolved a higher proportion
of complaints within 24 hours and, since June
2011, we have responded to more than 80%
of our written complaints within the timescale
agreed with the complainant.

• We have incorporated the NHS complaints
procedures into our own policy .

Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
also increased the number of enquiries which
they were able to resolve within 24-hours.
Principles for Remedy
The Trust follows the six principles set down
by the Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman in ‘Principles for Remedy’
(revised February 2009).

• The Chief Executive and Director of Quality
& Governance/Chief Nurse take a personal
interest in all complaints and the quality of
investigation and response.
• We have a responsive Patient Advice and
Liaison Service (PALS) which can resolve
many problems or concerns without the
need for a formal complaint.
• We have in place a ‘losses and compensations’
procedure.
• Regular reporting to the Board on
complaints received as part of the Trust’s
performance monitoring.

The aim of these principles is to ensure that
instances of injustice or hardship as a result of
poor service or maladministration are redressed.
The principles are:
1 Getting it right
2 Being customer focused
3 Being open and accountable
4 Acting fairly and proportionately
5 Putting things right
6 Seeking continuous improvement.
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Privacy and dignity
We have maintained compliance with same
sex accommodation within our inpatient units
and have ongoing monitoring of compliance.
Questions on same sex accommodation are
included within our inpatient surveys.
Our staff work to ensure that the bathroom
facilities are only used by patients of the
opposite sex if a patient needs the specialist
facilities within that bathroom.
During 2011/12 we undertook a planned
programme of work to improve the bathroom
facilities in three of our bed-based units:
• Bathrooms in Potters Bar Community
Hospital were replaced by separate toilets,
wet rooms and showers, and baths suitable
for patients with disabilities.
• Two side rooms in Queen Victoria Memorial
Hospital were refurbished and now have
en-suite bathrooms and two ‘wet rooms’.
A new visitor’s toilet was also installed.
• Bathrooms in Sopwell and Langton wards in
St Albans Hospital were upgraded and now
have showers.

Immediately following the release of the CQC’s
national report on its Dignity and Nutrition
Inspection of 100 acute hospitals, our lead
modern matrons undertook an inspection of
our 12 bed-based units using the same checklist that the CQC had used. Overall they found
that patients were experiencing respectful and
dignified care and receiving the nutritional
support they needed. Some improvements
made as a result of this inspection were:
• call bells were installed into the day room
at Queen Victoria Memorial Hospital and
portable call bells introduced at Danesbury
Neurological Centre
• a change to the time at which medication
rounds take place
• a barber coming to the wards at Herts and
Essex hospital.
We will continue to deliver care in same sex
accommodation in our bed-based units except
where it is in the overall best interest of the
patient or reflects their personal choice.
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Patient Experience Action Team (PEAT)
PEAT assessments are undertaken within our bed-based sites and in 2011, HCT’s 11 community
facilities posted ‘Good’ scores across the board for environment and six coveted ‘Excellent’ scores
- with the rest getting ‘Good’ for standards of privacy & dignity.
In the quality of food category, two facilities gained ‘Excellent’, six were rated ‘Good’ and three
rated ‘Acceptable’.
Environment
2010
2011

Food
2010

2011

Privacy & Dignity
2010
2011

Danesbury
Neurological
Centre

Good

Good

Acceptable

Acceptable

Good

Good

Gossoms End
Elderly Care Unit

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Excellent

Herts & Essex
Hospital

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Excellent

Hitchin Hospital

Good

Good

Good

Acceptable

Good

Good

Langley House

Acceptable

Good

Acceptable

Good

Good

Excellent

Good

Good

Good

Excellent

Good

Good

Queen Victoria
Memorial Hospital

Acceptable

Good

Good

Acceptable

Good

Good

Royston Hospital

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Runcie Unit
St Albans City
Hospital

Good

Good

Good

Excellent

Good

Excellent

St Peter’s Ward
Hemel Hempstead
Hospital

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Excellent

Windmill House

Poor

Good

Acceptable

Good

Good

Excellent

Potters Bar
Community
Hospital

The 2012 PEAT shows the Trust facilities recording Good and Excellent scores only
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Infection prevention and control

The Trust has made good progress against
the objectives as laid out in the 2011/12
Annual Plan.
These were:
• To reduce C difficile rates below the ceiling
set by commissioners of 19 cases for the year.
We recorded 11 cases of C difficile which is
a reduction of 39% compared to 2010/11.
• To not exceed the commissioner’s MRSA
bacteraemia target of four cases (avoidable)
for the year. We recorded a total of two
avoidable cases of MRSA bacteraemia,
significantly below the ceiling agreed with
our commissioners.
A key part of maintaining our high standards
is to deliver on not exceeding national ceilings
related to health care associated infections
(HCAIs).

Infection prevention and control is an integral
part of the services that HCT provide and the
responsibility of all staff. Our Medical Director
has overall responsibility for infection
prevention and control and is supported by
our well established Infection Prevention and
Control Team which consists of a lead infection
control nurse and two infection control nurses
supporting staff working in a variety of
environments, including community hospitals,
health centres and patients’ own homes.
We aim to prevent health care associated
infections when patients are in our care.
Each health care associated infection is
reported as a patient safety incident and we
work together to identify learning from each
individual case and review practice as necessary.
During 2011/12 we have strengthened the
systems which demonstrate that our staff
work to best practice guidance.
In our bed-based units we have seen a high
compliance with hand hygiene throughout the
year with an average audit compliance score
of 99%.

Infection prevention and control target performance
Key performance indicators

2011/12

Infection Control

Ceiling

2011/12
Performance

MRSA blood stream infections (avoidable)
NB a low performance against the ceiling is good

4

2

Clostridium difficile
NB a low performance against the ceiling is good
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Compliance with hand hygiene in the bed-based units
will be more than 95%

95%

99%

% of relevant patients screened for MRSA on admission
to bed-based units

100%

100%

Patient experience

Target

% of patients reporting positively about cleanliness of
environment in bed-based units

Not set

98.5%

% of patients reporting that staff washed their hands

Not set

97%
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Hand hygiene comparison 2008 - 2012
100%

Percentage of staff complying

90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

◼2008/09 ◼2010/11 ◼2010/11 ◼2011/12 ◼Target
Diarrhoea and vomiting comparison 2007 - 2012
Year
Number of outbreaks

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

6

12

9

1

4

Our patients also tell us that compliance with
hand hygiene is good (an average of 97%
patients throughout the year, varying from
92% to 100%) and that the environment they
are cared for in is very clean or fairly clean (an
average of 98.5% patients throughout the
year, varying from 95% to 100%). This feedback
and demonstrable improvement in staff practice
give us confidence that our patients will feel
safer from the risk of contracting a health care
associated infection whilst in our care.
Actions implemented as a result of learning
from these health care associated infections
during the year include:
• the development of competencies for staff
who care for patients with urinary catheters
to ensure they have the appropriate level of
skill and knowledge
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• appropriately skilled staff undertaking initial
assessments so that a patients’ needs are
identified promptly and care is planned to
meet these needs
• the development of a tool to support staff in
assessment of patients with diarrhoea so that
appropriate treatment and management is
implemented promptly.
During 2011/12 there were four outbreaks of
diarrhoea and/or vomiting in three of our
community hospitals. Two outbreaks were
confirmed to be Norovirus (winter vomiting
disease) and one was an outbreak of Influenza A.
Outbreaks have been managed appropriately
with staff acting promptly to reduce the spread
of infection and return services to normal
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Working with our partners

In planning and developing our services to
meet the health care needs of local people,
HCT actively developed strong relations with
partner organisations in health, social care,
independent, voluntary sector and education.
These included our main commissioner - NHS
Hertfordshire; the 13 local Practice Based
Commissioners (PBCs), their GP practices and
evolving Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs), our colleagues in other NHS Trusts,
Hertfordshire County Council and other local
authorities, the University of Hertfordshire,
Hertfordshire Constabulary and others. We
have invited representatives from a number of
these key stakeholder organisations to stand
as appointed Governors on our Council of
Governors. We have stated, as an aspirant
community FT, the aim to develop a culture of
involvement and collaboration that will help
us provide a service which is more responsive
to local people’s needs.

HCT, along with local CCGs, Trusts and
Hertfordshire County Council, are working
together to put in place a multi agency
single point of contact. This is part of HCT’s
“HomeFirst” initiative which aims to support
patients and thus reduce the need for
unnecessary admissions from their home
or care homes, and reduce duplication of
enablement and intermediate care services.
This will deliver improved access and response
times for patients and help keep more people
at home.
Health scrutiny
We are held to account by Hertfordshire
County Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee
and attend meetings to discuss issues related
to the development of community health care
in Hertfordshire.

Local managers will continue to maintain links
with GP localities and emerging CCGs to focus
on improving the current services to patients
and to look at more innovative ways of working
especially in the care of children and those
with long term conditions.
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Staff wellbeing

Staff survey and our response
HCT encourages staff to participate in the
annual NHS Staff Survey. The questionnaires
for the 2011 survey were distributed between
October and December to a random selection
of 800 staff. There are 38 key findings and a
measure for staff engagement. The response
rate for the Trust was 63% in 2011, which is
above average when compared against other
community trusts, and an improvement on
the response rate of 55% in 2010.
The key findings where HCT is better than
average when compared to other Community
Trusts include:
• 94% of our staff agree that their role makes
a difference to our patients
• staff feel valued by their work colleagues
• the extent to which staff feel they are
performing jobs that are well designed and
rich in content
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• our staff look forward to coming to work;
are enthusiastic about their jobs; and time
passes quickly when they are working
• 96% believe HCT provides equal opportunities
for career progression or promotion.
The one key area where we have deteriorated
statistically significantly since 2010 is the
number of staff who have received equality
and diversity training in the last 12 months.
This is acknowledged, but we believe that the
appointment of our new Equality & Diversity
Manager on 1 April 2012, following the post
having been vacant for 18 months, will soon
see activity in this area improving.
Our overall staff engagement score is better than
average in comparison with other Community
Trusts; and shows an improvement over our
score in 2010.
There are three sub-dimensions to employee
engagement:

• the level of commitment shown by HCT and
its managers in helping staff to achieve a
good work-life balance

• the ability of staff to contribute towards
improvements at work (average)

• there is good communication between
senior management and staff

• staff recommending HCT as a place to work
or receive treatment (better than average)

• the extent to which staff thought the care of
patients and service users was the Trust’s top
priority

• staff motivation at work (better than average).
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Equality, diversity and human rights
HCT believes that the Equality Delivery System (EDS) framework represents a real
opportunity to raise equality performance for patients, carers and staff, and at the
same time enables NHS organisations to work effectively in partnership with local
stakeholders to analyse performance and to identify equality objectives, thereby
meeting our statutory equality obligations.
The EDS is designed to support NHS
commissioners and providers to deliver better
outcomes for patients and communities, and
working environments for staff which are
personal, fair and diverse.
At the heart of the EDS is a set of 18
outcomes grouped into four strategic goals.
These outcomes focus on the issues of most
concern to patients, communities, NHS staff
and Boards, and it is against these that the
performance of all NHS organisations are
analysed and graded.

For each of the 18 outcomes, the group had
to grade HCT as either:
In 13 of the 18 areas we were graded as
“achieving” and for the remainder we were
graded as “developing”. We are proud of
this achievement. We are a newly-formed
organisation and have shown good progress
in a short space of time to achieve these
positive grading outcomes in partnership
with our local stakeholders.
Our Equality Objectives, which will be
monitored and reported on annually, are:

The four strategic goals are:
1 to improve patient diversity monitoring in
order that HCT can report on NHS Outcomes
Framework indicators by diversity

1 Better health outcomes for all
2 Improved patient access and
experience
3 Empowered, engaged and
well-supported staff
4 Inclusive leadership at all levels

2 to monitor both complaints and compliments
in line with the Equality Act by all of the
protected characteristics

HCT has implemented the EDS framework in
partnership with a range of internal (our staff
and staff side representatives) and external
stakeholders, such as representatives from
Black and Minority Ethnic groups, Local
Improvement Networks (LINks), the travellers’
community and other public bodies. We see
the involvement of LINks as key to helping
represent the views of our diverse local
communities. LINk met in March 2012 to
analyse our equality performance and agree
our equality objectives going forward.

3 develop and implement a Health & Wellbeing
Strategy for the Trust and ensure fully inclusive
talent management initiatives
4 implement the competency framework for
equality and diversity leadership to recruit,
develop and support middle managers and
above to advance equality outcomes; and
deliver a Board training session on the EDS
framework.
These objectives were published before 6 April,
thereby enabling us to meet our statutory duty
in line with the requirements of the Equality
Act 2010.

Excelling

All protected groups

Achieving

For most protected groups (6-8)

Developing

For some protected groups (3-5)

Underdeveloped No evidence at all, few or no protect groups
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Staff wellbeing
Equal opportunities
HCT is an equal opportunities employer. We have an equal opportunities policy
which aims to ensure that all employees, irrespective of their background,
are supported to develop their full potential. An equal opportunity statement
is also included in all contracts of employment to ensure staff are aware of
their responsibilities.
The Trust is determined to ensure that we
practise a culture of equality, diversity and
human rights, that we continue to build on
our relations with our diverse local population
and that we identify any health inequalities
amongst our patient and service user groups.
The Trust’s vision is to achieve equality,
celebrate diversity and advance inclusion as
enshrined in the NHS Constitution pledges for
patients, carers and staff and in line with the
public sector general equality duty. We want
our Trust to provide equality of opportunity
and treatment through the delivery of first
class health care services which are fair,
personal and diverse for all.
We will lead and embed fairness into the cultures
and behaviours of our staff by:
• championing and advancing equality,
diversity and inclusion implementing the
NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS)
framework
• identifying local needs and priorities to help
reduce local health inequalities

32

• facilitating the engagement of everyone in
shaping local services to meet individual
needs and achieve better health outcomes
• helping and supporting staff to understand
the importance of personalisation, fairness
and diversity in the planning and delivery
of services
• providing an environment where staff can
thrive, are confident to be themselves, feel
valued and treat each other with fairness,
dignity and respect
• working to ensure that all of our information,
services and buildings are accessible to all
• showing zero tolerance towards bullying,
harassment, inappropriate language and
behaviour, and encouraging the reporting of
all cases of discrimination
• recognising and supporting the work of our
LINks partners in helping us to measure
progress.
Together we can achieve this ambitious vision
and ensure that everyone counts.
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Informing and involving staff
HCT is committed to keeping its staff fully informed about the organisation,
its activities and policies. For staff to be motivated and committed to providing
high quality services, we need to provide them with information, consult them
on key decisions and listen to their concerns.

HCT has established a number of formal
mechanisms to ensure the involvement of staff
and staff side organisations on a wide range
of issues, including service developments, new
policies and updates on key matters relating
to Trust business.
The Trust keeps managers and staff up to
date with news and policy changes through
the monthly Chief Executive’s Team Brief and
there is a weekly “Notice Board” which is
circulated via email to all staff giving them a
weekly update on news and happenings at the
Trust and in the local NHS. Staff are encouraged
to give their views and comments via a
communications email address.
Regular induction days are held to introduce new
staff to the Trust’s vision and values and our
commitment to quality, The Joint Negotiating
Committee which includes Directors and
accredited staff side representatives meets on a
monthly basis to ensure the views of employees
are taken into account when the Trust is
making decisions.

To build on our engagement and involvement of
staff throughout the first year as a Community
NHS Trust, a series of Executive road shows
were held to provide staff with an update on
Trust plans. The road shows culminated in a
Celebrating Community Services Event in
November 2011 which celebrated the HCT’s
first year as a Trust. It also aimed to give staff
the opportunity to meet with colleagues from
other parts of the Trust and view examples of
good practice, to hear patient stories which
demonstrated the scope and range of services
we deliver and to ask questions of the Board.
The event was rounded off with the first
Leading Lights staff awards to recognise staff
who have provided an excellent service or
have come up with innovative ideas to make
their teams more effective and efficient and
improve the experiences of our patients (See
Leading Lights awards winners at the back of
this document).

Disabled employees
HCT is a two ticks symbol champion* for recruiting and supporting people in
the workplace who have disabilities.
The Occupational Health Service and HR team
provide clear guidance to managers and staff
on how to work with people with disabilities.
All managers are given clear instructions
regarding the best possible support for their
staff in the workplace and the provision of
reasonable adjustments.

The Attendance Management Policy states
that the advice of the Disability Employment
Adviser must be sought when looking for
alternative employment or redeployment
for staff affected by disabilities. Our Health
and Safety experts conduct workplace
assessments as required.

* As awarded by Jobcentre plus
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Staff wellbeing

The findings of the Chartered Institute of
Personnel and Development (CIPD) 2011
Absence Management Survey show that
absence rates are highest in the public sector
at 9.1 days per employee per year compared
with 7.1 days in the private sector. There is,
however, considerable variation within the
public sector where the level is noticeably
higher in health at 10.6 days.
In HCT the cumulative absence rate (WTE)
for the 12 month period to February 2012
was much better than that reported by the
CIPD for both the Public Sector and the NHS
at 4.03% (7.25 days per employee per year).
The Trust’s target for sickness absence is 3.5%
(6.3 days), which is below the average for the
private sector, and HCT will be working towards
improving this year on year. This figure is
calculated on calendar days.
The Trust is required to report sickness absence in
its annual accounts. The reported figure is 17.66
working days lost per whole time equivalent.
Ensuring that employees are safe and
healthy at work is one of the fundamental
requirements of any employer. Data produced
from our Employee Assistance Programme
regarding the number of staff contacts and
the reasons for these are used to monitor
staff wellbeing, together with health and
safety and sickness data.
The Trust has a proactive Occupational Health
Service which aims to help our staff keep
physically and mentally well. Stress awareness
sessions are delivered to managers and staff
to help them to identify stress, both in
themselves and in their workforce. Healthy
living is the key focus of the Occupational
Health Service’s support for our staff.

Occupational health performance
The Occupational Health (OH) Department
offers a confidential service that provides
impartial advice to all staff. Its aim is to ensure
that employees’ health and wellbeing are
maintained, protected and promoted.
The team comprises a nurse manager, two senior
occupational health nurses, two occupational
health clinic nurses, an occupational health
physician and administrative support.
The department is based at Kingsley Green
near Radlett, and regular clinics are held at
Park Drive Clinic, Baldock and Herts and Essex
Hospital, Bishops Stortford.
During 2011/12:
• 668 OH forms for new members of staff
were assessed; this is a 60% increase on the
previous year. 70 new employees attended
for occupational health assessments.
• 355 new employees attended health and
wellbeing promotion appointments, an
increase of nearly 600% on 2010/11.
• The department issued 235 eye care vouchers.
• 1,660 appointments were attended for
occupational immunisations. During these
appointments 530 vaccines were given for
hepatitis B, varicella (chicken pox), measles,
mumps and rubella. 1070 blood tests were
undertaken.
• Seasonal influenza vaccine was offered to
all staff with direct patient contact. During
the 2011/12 campaign the OH Department
ran an additional 30 clinics at 24 locations
across the county. 850 staff received the
Flu vaccine, which equates to 41% of our
frontline staff. This is almost treble the uptake
of the previous year.
• There were 30 appointments following
sharps and splash injuries, the same number
as last year.
• 379 employees were referred to the OH
Department; this is a 28% increase from
2010/11 and 952 appointments were attended
for occupational health assessments
following referral.
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Working for a sustainable future

HCT is committed to being a good corporate
citizen and to embedding sustainability
throughout the organisation. The Trust has
developed a Sustainable Development
Management Plan which is currently
awaiting Board approval.
The Trust has worked with NHS Hertfordshire
and linked with the Carbon Trust to produce
an accredited Carbon Reduction Management
Plan.
HCT is planning to:

Reduce the impact from transport emissions
from staff and patient travel by:
• reducing carbon emissions related to staff
business travel
• reviewing how the Trust works across a
large geographical area to minimise its
environmental footprint.
Minimise waste and increase recycling by:
• reducing waste by 20% by 2015
• strengthening procurement policies to
include environmental and carbon
management criteria
• increase recycling to 50% by 2015.

• make continued progress against the “Good
Corporate Citizenship” model, achieving a
minimum score of "Getting there" in at
least four questions in each area of the test,
and "Excellent" in at least two questions in
each area - or achieve a minimum of 56% in
each area of the results
• reduce carbon emissions from buildings by
20% by 2015.

Emergency preparedness
HCT has robust processes in place to ensure
that emergency planning and resilience work
is carried out appropriately.
The Trust has three levels of on-call in place
which operate across 24 hours and seven days
a week to deliver continuity of leadership
and management.

Notification of a major incident from an
external partner would be directed to the
Director on-call, who would put in place
the required response.
Business Continuity Plans are continually
updated for all corporate and operational
services in the Trust.
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The Trust Board

The Trust Board consists of a Chair, appointed
through the Appointments Commission;
four Non-Executive Directors (also appointed
through the Appointments Commission)
and four voting Executive Directors.
The Board is responsible for setting and
developing the strategic direction of the Trust,
sustaining business viability and holding the
Executive Directors to account for all aspects
of the Trust’s activities, including quality and
safety of patient services, financial management
and legal compliance. The role also includes
seeking assurances from the Executive
Directors that risks to the organisation are
being appropriately assessed and managed.

The Board has a duty to operate in a way
that is transparent and to comply with
best practice in probity. To this end, the
Board has signed up to following: the
“Nolan Principles” of good governance,
The NHS Code of Conduct and Accountability
and The NHS Code of Openness. The Board
has also subscribed to principles of Board
Etiquette as set out in the NHS Integrated
Governance Handbook.

As a general rule, the HCT Board meets
formally every other month, with a “Board
Briefing” or “Board Development Session”
held in the intervening months.

THE BOARD OF THE TRUST AS AT 31 MARCH 2011
Declan O’Farrell Chair
Declan was appointed Chair of Hertfordshire Community Health Services in
February 2010. He was Chair of West Herts College in Dacorum for eight
years leading the transformation of a failing college to Beacon status
awarded in February 2012. Previously he was Chair of a Training & Enterprise
Council in London and Business Link London. He was awarded a CBE in 2000
for services to businesses in London. ACCA qualified he was a financial
controller for London Transport, becoming MD of a bus division, which
following privatisation, was successfully listed on the London Stock exchange.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
Anne McPherson Non Executive Director
Anne was appointed NED in April 2010. Her professional background is
a nurse and midwife, with extensive board level experience as Chief Nurse
for Hertfordshire health authorities in the East and the West of the county,
as well as a number of Director of Nursing posts, including an integrated
NHS Trust. She has extensive expertise in quality improvement, having a
special interest in patient experience and patient safety. Anne has served
as a non-executive director for Dacorum PCT, West Hertfordshire PCT
and a Trustee for Isabel Hospice for a number of years. Anne is currently
Chair of the Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Performance Advisory Group.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
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Jeff Phillips Non Executive Director
Jeff is a qualified accountant and has had a wide and varied career in
the telecommunication and chemical industries. He has also served as a
non-executive director for Luton Community Services and is currently
Chair of CHUMS, the bereavement and trauma social enterprise based
in Bedfordshire. He is Vice Chair of the School Governors of Manland
School Harpenden and a member of Hertfordshire County Council
Schools’ Appeals Panel. Jeff was appointed as Chair of the Trust’s Audit
Committee from March 2012.
Period of Appointment: 01/09/11 - 31/08/15
Alan Russell Non Executive Director
Alan was appointed NED in April 2010. He was previously Managing
Director of Logica Consulting UK, prior to which he was the MD of
Atos Consulting and Chair of its global consulting Board. Both companies
engaged in complex transformational change programmes for public
and private sector organisations. He was a Director of the Management
Consultancies Association and President in 2005. Alan is Vice Chair of
the Trust Board.
Period of Appointment: 01/11/10 - 31/03/13
Vacancy
A Non Executive Director vacancy as of 31 March 2012 was filled by the
appointment of Dr Chris Hanvey in May 2012.

David Law Chief Executive
David took up post as Chief Executive in March 2012 and he has extensive
knowledge of the health service in Hertfordshire. He worked in a number
of planning roles in health organisations in the county during the 1990s
before joining West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust in 2001 as Director
of Strategy. In 2004 he was appointed Chief Executive of the Trust, a post
he held until 2007. More recently he has been working mainly in the
NHS in London and has led on a number of projects involving service
change and the transfer of PCT community services to NHS Trusts.

Dr Hemal Desai Medical Director
Hemal has been a working GP in London and still practises as a sessional
GP, having worked in over 70 primary care service settings including urgent
care, inner city practices, multi-partner health centres, out-of-hours provision,
nurse-led practices and prison services. Since 2006 he has also worked as
a clinical lead on a number of Department of Health and SHA projects.
Most recently he has provided clinical leadership in the ground breaking
Hinchingbrooke ‘Next Steps’ project and led ‘Transforming Pathology
Services’ which was one of the largest service transformation programmes
in the East of England. Hemal joined the Trust in February 2012.
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Clare Hawkins Director of Quality & Governance and Chief Nurse
Clare joined HCT as Director of Quality and Governance in March 2011,
having previously worked as Deputy Director and Director of Nursing and
Quality in NHS Hertfordshire. Clare trained as a nurse, District Nurse and
Nurse Practitioner. Since 1995 her NHS management experience includes
a number of posts in London and as Director of Nursing and Operations
and Deputy Chief Executive for Dacorum PCT. Her particular areas of
interest are patient safety, patient experience and clinical leadership.
Clare is the Board lead for safeguarding.

Sean McKeever Director of Finance & Commerce
Sean has worked for most of his career in Northern Ireland and has over
18 years experience as a Chief Executive/Finance Director in the province's
health and social care services. His most recent post in the health service
was as Chief Executive and Accountable Officer of the Southern Health
and Social Services Board in NI from 2006 to 2009. More recently he has
been working overseas on an EU funded project in Kosovo. Sean joined
the Trust in December 2011.

Julie Hoare Director of Operations*
Julie was appointed Director of Operations in March 2012, having taken on
the role of Acting Director of Operations in December 2010, after joining
the organisation as Assistant Director of Operations in September 2009.
She is a registered nurse and health visitor, and started her management
career in 1997. Julie is particularly interested in service transformation
and staff development.

Alison Shelley Director of HR and Organisational Development*
Alison has extensive HR experience in the private sector in large complex
organisations in the aerospace and health care sectors. Her experience
covers a breadth of HR disciplines, including talent management,
leadership development, organisational change and employee engagement.
Prior to joining the NHS, Alison undertook global HR leadership roles for
GE Healthcare. Alison joined the Trust in March 2012.

Vacancy
A vacancy as of 31 March 2012 for the Director of Strategy and Business
Development was filled with the appointment of John Curnow in May 2012.
* Non-Voting Board Member
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THE FOLLOWING WERE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD DURING THE YEAR 2011/12
Alison White Non Executive Director and Chair of Audit Committee (Until February 2012)
Julian Laite Non Executive Director (until March 2012)
Derek Smith Interim Chief Executive (until March 2012)
Karen Taylor Deputy Chief Executive (until February 2012)
Gordon Flack Director of Finance & Commerce (until July 2011)
John Summers Interim Director of Finance & Commerce (July - December 2011)
Dr Joel Bonnet Medical Director (until September 2011)
Dr John Riordan Interim Medical Director (November 2011 - February 2012)
Gloria Barber Director of Workforce & OD* (until July 2011)
Krystyna Ruszkiewicz Director of HR and OD* (July 2011 - March 2012)
* Non-Voting Board Member

AUDITORS
Internal Audit Services are provided by RSM
Tenon and the external Auditors are the
Audit Commission, who were first appointed
in November 2010 and whose tenure as
external auditors will run to August 2012.
The cost of external audit for work undertaken
in 2011/12 was £114,500. (2010/11 = £118,800).
The external auditors have not undertaken
any non-audit work which may have given rise
to conflict of interest or compromised the
audit function.

As far as the directors are aware there is no
relevant audit information of which the NHS
body’s auditors are unaware and that the
directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as directors in order to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditors
are aware of that information.
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Public interest disclosures

Counter fraud policies and procedures

Charges for information

The Secretary of State’s Directions 2004 on
work to counter fraud and corruption require
NHS bodies to appoint a Local Counter Fraud
Specialist (LCFS). Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust has an accredited and nominated
LCFS employed via service level agreement
from NHS Hertfordshire who reports directly
to the Director of Finance.

The Trust complies with Treasury Guidance on
setting charges for information.

The Trust has a Counter Fraud and Anti Bribery
Policy and Response Plan that is communicated
to all staff via the induction process and is held
on the Trust’s extranet. The Work plan for
2011/12 has been completed and the work
plan for 2012/13 has been agreed and signed
off by the audit committee. A formal report is
made to the committee at each quarterly
meeting. All investigations and pro-active work
are monitored by the Director of Finance on a
monthly basis.

40

(See Annex 6 of “Managing Public Money”
(HM Treasury, February 2010)
The Trust does not normally charge for
information requested under the Freedom
of Information Act (FOI). However, it reserves
the right to charge for information that
incurs high photocopying or retrieval costs.
People making requests under the FOI Act
are informed in advance of any costs that
will be charged.
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Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee membership

HCT has a Remuneration Committee which
makes decisions on behalf of the HCT Board
on the remuneration, terms and service and
performance related pay of the Chief Executive
and Executive Directors and other members
of HCT staff on very senior manager terms
and conditions.

Chair of HCT: Declan O’Farrell
Two Non-Executive Directors, one of whom should be
a member of the HCT Audit Committee:
Anne McPherson (Chair of Remuneration Committee)
and Alison White (Chair of Audit Committee) until
February 2012
Executive Directors (except when their remuneration
or terms and conditions of service are discussed):
Chief Executive and Director of Human Resources
& Organisational Development
Executive Directors and other members of HCT may
be co-opted as and when required.

Remuneration Committee meetings
Date

Attendance

27 September 2011

Anne McPherson, Chair of Remuneration Committee
Declan O’Farrell, Trust Chair
Alison White, Chair of Audit Committee
In attendance: Derek Smith, Interim Chief Executive
Krystyna Ruszkiewicz, Interim Workforce Director

26 January 2012

Anne McPherson, Chair of Remuneration Committee
Declan O’Farrell, Trust Chair
Alison White, Chair of Audit Committee
In attendance: Derek Smith, Interim Chief Executive
Krystyna Ruszkiewicz, Interim Workforce Director

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the
relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and
the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated
performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind as
well as severance payments. It does not include
employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid
director in Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in the financial year 2011/12 was £137,500
(2010/11, £112,500). This was 4.9 times
(2010/11, 4.2 times) the median remuneration
of the workforce, which was £27,884 (2010/11,
£26,745).

For the purposes of determining the highest-paid
director, interim directors have been excluded.
The payments reflected in the salaries and
allowances for interim directors are the total
payments made to the respective agencies and
include VAT, agency fees and statutory payments
to HM Revenue and Customs. It is therefore not
possible to determine the basic pay element.

In 2011/12, no (2010/11, nil) employees received
remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
Consequently, the Trust has used the highest-paid
director. Remuneration ranged from £13,900 permanently employed Director in determining
to £100,500 (2010/11 £13,700 - £100,500)
the pay multiple. The increase in the multiple
from 2010/11 arises from the appointment of
a new Chief Executive during 2011/12.
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Senior managers’ remuneration
Salaries and pensions
Salaries and allowances 2011/12
Name and title

Dates

Salary
bands of
£5,000
£000

42

Bonus
Benefits
Payments in Kind
bands of rounded to
£5,000 nearest £00
£000
00

Declan O'Farell
Chair

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£20 - £25

£0

£0

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Julian Laite
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Alison White
Non-Executive Director

01/04/2010 - 13/02/2011

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Jeff Phillips
Non-Executive Director

14/09/2011 - 31/03/2012

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Derek Smith *
Interim Chief Executive

09/05/2011 - 31/03/2012 £230 - £235

£0

£0

David Law
Chief Executive

05/03/2012 - 31/03/2012

£10 - £15

£0

£0

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance & Commerce

01/04/2011 - 07/08/2011

£30 - £35

£0

£0

John Summers *
Interim Director of Finance & Commerce

11/07/2011 - 03/01/2012

£80 - £85

£0

£0

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance & Commerce

01/12/2011 - 31/03/2012

£35 - £40

£0

£0

Karen Taylor 2
Deputy Chief Executive

01/04/2011 - 26/02/2012 £100 - £105

£0

£0

Julie Hoare 3
Director of Operations

01/04/2011 - 31/03/2012

£75 - £80

£0

£0

Gloria Barber
Director of Human Resources

01/04/2011 - 31/07/2011

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Krystyna Ruszkjewicz *
Interim Director of Human Resources

11/07/2011 - 28/03/2012 £105 - £110

£0

£0

Alison Shelley
Director of Human Resources

13/03/2012 - 31/03/2012

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Dr Joel Bonnet 4
Medical Director

01/04/2011 - 30/09/2011

£25 - £30

£0

£0

Dr John Riordan *
Interim Medical Director

24/10/2011 - 29/02/2012

£25 - £30

£0

£0

Dr Hemal Desai
Medical Director

13/02/2012 - 31/03/2012

£15 - £20

£0

£0

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance
& Chief Nurse

01/04/2011 - 31/3/2012

£70 - £75

£0

£0
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Salaries and allowances 2010/11
Name and title

Dates

Salary
bands of
£5,000
£000

Bonus
Benefits
Payments in Kind
bands of rounded to
£5,000 nearest £00
£000
00

Declan O'Farell
Chair

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Julian Laite
Non-Executive Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Alison White
Non-Executive Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£0 - £5

£0

£0

Heather Moulder 1
Chief Executive

01/04/2010 - 06/02/2011

£85 - £90

£0

£0

Robert Kirton *
Interim Director of Finance & Commerce

01/11/2010 - 03/12/2010

£15 - £20

£0

£0

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance & Commerce

29/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£35 - £40

£0

£0

Karen Taylor 2
Director of Operations

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£45 - £50

£0

£0

Julie Hoare 3
Acting Director of Operations

08/12/2010 - 31/03/2011

£25 - £30

£0

£0

Jessica Linskill
Director of Quality & Governance

01/11/2010 - 04/03/2011

£30 - £35

£0

£0

Gloria Barber
Director of Human Resources

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£35 - £40

£0

£0

Dr Joel Bonnet 4
Medical Director

01/11/2010 - 31/03/2011

£15 - £20

£0

£0

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance
& Chief Nurse

01/03/2011 - 31/03/2011

£5 - £10

£0

£0

Note: The Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust Board of Directors was appointed on 1 November 2010. Whilst those with a start date of
01/11/2011 were in post prior to the creation of the Trust, the disclosures above are only for the period for which the Trust has been in existence.
The costs recognised within the 2010/11 accounts show the restated position (for the full year) following the transfer of functions.
*: These officers were employed on an agency basis under temporary contracts and the salary above is the total payment made to
the employing agency.
1: Heather Moulder was a Director of NHS Hertfordshire for the period 1 April 2010 to 31 October 2010 and Chief Executive of
Hertfordsire Community NHS Trust from 1 November 2010 to 6 February 2011.
2: Karen Taylor was Acting Chief Execuitve for the period 6 December 2010 to 9 May 2011
3: Julie Hoare was Acting Director of Operations from 8 December 2010 and appointed as Director of Operations in March 2012.
4: Dr Joel Bonnet is employed by NHS Hertfordshire and recharged to the Trust
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Senior managers’ remuneration
Pensions
Pensions
Name and title

Real
Real
Total
Lump sum
Cash
Cash
Real
Employers
increase in increase in accrued at age 60 equivalent equivalent increase contributions
pension
pension
pension related to
transfer
transfer
in cash
to
at age
lump
at age
accrued
value at
value at equivalant stakeholder
60
sum
60 at
pension at 31 March 31 March
transfer
pension
at age
31 March 31 March
2011
2012
value
60
2012
2012
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
2,500)
2,500)
5,000)
5,000)
£000

£000

Heather Moulder
Chief Executive

n/a

n/a

David Law
Chief Executive

n/a

n/a

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£644

£10 - £15

£40 - £45

n/a

£753

n/a

Karen Taylor
Acting Chief Executive

£2.5 - £5

£7.5 - £10 £110 - £115

n/a

£153

£250

£84

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance
& Commerce

£0 - £2.5

£2.5 - £5

£30 - £35

n/a

£485

£636

£48

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance
& Commerce

n/a

n/a

£35 - £40

n/a

n/a

£9

n/a

£2.5 - £5

£12.5 - £15

£80 - £85

£75 - £80

£298

£419

£112

£296

£520

£214

n/a

£17

n/a

Julie Hoare
Acting Director
of Operations
Jessica Linskill
Director of Quality
& Governance

£0

Clare Hawkins
£10 - £12.5 £30 - £32.5 £95 - £100 £95 - £100
Director of Quality &
Governance & Chief Nurse
Alison Shelley
Director of
Human Resources

n/a

n/a

£5 - £10

Dr Hemal Desai
Medical Director

n/a

n/a

£15 - £20
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£000

£10 - £15
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

Real Increase in CETV

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued
are the member’s accrued benefits and any
contingent spouse’s pension payable from
the scheme.

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively
funded by the employer. It takes account of
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation,
contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from
another scheme or arrangement) and uses
common market valuation factors for the start
and end of the period.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme
or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when
the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the benefits accrued in their former
scheme. The pension figures shown relate to
the benefits that the individual has accrued as
a consequence of their total membership of
the pension scheme, not just their service in a
senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details
include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the
individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional
pension benefit accrued to the member as a
result of their purchasing additional years of
pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries.

In the budget on 23 March 2011, HM Treasury
confirmed its intention to review the basis for
the calculation of CETVs payable from public
service schemes, including the NHS Pension
Scheme. The review was undertaken and revised
guidance was issued on 26 October 2011.
For the calculation of CETCs as at 31 March 2012,
NHS Pensions have followed the revised guidance
and have used the updated Government Actuary
Department (GAD) factors in their calculations.
The revised GAD factors are different to those
used as at 31 March 2011 so direct comparison
between financial periods is not possible.
The new factors will have differing impacts of the
CETVs of the individuals concerned depending
on their age and normal retirement age.

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-2012

45

Governance report
Register of interests

Board Members as at 31 March 2012
Name and title

Interests declared

Chair and Non-Executive Directors
Declan O'Farrell
Chair

Director: Castletown Corporation Ltd
Director: Castletown Homes Ltd

Julian Laite
Non-Executive Director

Managing Director: Julian Laite Consulting Ltd
Pro-bono work on behalf of HM Treasury Pro-Bono Economics,
for Friends of the Elderly

Anne McPherson
Non-Executive Director

Executive Officer: The Association for Leaders in Nursing
Independent Chairman: Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire & Luton PCTs
Performance Advisory Panel

Jeff Phillips
Non-Executive Director

None

Alan Russell
Non-Executive Director

Director: Bury Lake Young Mariners Limited
(Prospective FT) Member of West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust

Executive Directors
Dr Hemal Desai
Medical Director

Director: Vitamax Consultancy Limited (VCL)
VCL provides consultancy services in health care
Active project is clinical advisory service to the DH National Clinical
Director for Pathology

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality & Governance
& Chief Nurse

None

Julie Hoare *
Director of Operations

None

David Law
Chief Executive

Director: Law Consulting Ltd
Trustee: Health and Social Care Advisory Service

Sean Mc Keever
Director of Finance & Commerce

None

Alison Shelley *
Director of HR & Organisational
Development

None

* Non Voting Member
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Board Members no longer in post as at 31 March 2012
Name and title

Interests declared

Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors
Alison White
Non-Executive Director

Non Executive Director: HM Courts and Tribunals Service
Non Executive Director: Rural Payments Service
Shadow Chair: General Osteopathic Council (01/12/2011 - 31/03/2012)

Gloria Barber *
Director of Workforce

None

Dr Joel Bonnet
Medical Director

Deputy Medical Director/Consultant: Public Health, NHS Hertfordshire

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance & Commerce

None

Dr John Riordan
Interim Medical Director

Owner/Director: Riordan Medical Consulting Ltd

Krystyna Ruszkiewicz *
Interim HR Director

Director: Krystyna Ruszkiewicz Ltd
Director: Space 4 Consulting
Director: Acertus Search & Select
Associate Consultant: NHS Elect
Associate Consultant: Durrow Ltd

Derek Smith
Interim Chief Executive

Associate Consultant: Durrow Ltd

John Summers
Interim Director of Finance & Commerce

Director: Firstex (UK) Ltd
Senior Consultant: Durrow Ltd

Karen Taylor
Interim Chief Executive

None

* Non Voting Member
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities
as the Accountable Officer of the Trust
The Chief Executive of the NHS has
designated that the Chief Executive should be
the Accountable Officer to the Trust.
The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the Accountable Officers
Memorandum issued by the Department of Health. These include ensuring that:
• there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds and assets and
assist in the implementation of corporate governance;
• value for money is achieved from the resources available to the Trust;
• the expenditure and income of the Trust has been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them;
• effective and sound financial management systems are in place; and
• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of State with
the approval of the Treasury to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end
of the financial year and the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash
flows for the year.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out
in my letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer.

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive Officer
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Delivering high quality health services
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closer to people’s homes in towns and villages
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throughout Hertfordshire
Caring for you... closer to home
forand
you...
closer to 2011-2012
home
AnnualCaring
Report
Accounts

49

Contents
• Chief Executive’s statement

51

• Our quality priorities for 2012-2013

53
54
57
58
61
62

Improving patient experience
Assuring patient safety
Developing clinical effectiveness
Monitoring progress throughout the coming year
Other areas of quality improvement

• Review of services

63

• Our quality improvements in 2011-2012
How we performed in delivering the quality priorities we set ourselves
How we performed against national targets
Other areas of quality improvement
Understanding quality in our developing organisation

74
74
88
89
101

• Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

107

• Assurance Statement from Internal Auditors

108

• Formal responses from stakeholder organisations

110
111
112
114

Hertfordshire Local Involvement Network (LINk)
NHS Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire County Council Health Scrutiny Committee

• How to provide feedback

50

118

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-2012

Chief Executive’s statement
Hertfordshire Community Trust is entering its
third year as an independent NHS Trust and is
working to become a Foundation Trust.
As an organisation we will touch a very large
part of the population in Hertfordshire, either
directly or in providing treatment, care and
support to family members. The Trust makes
around 1.4 million contacts with people in
the county, and now beyond the borders
of Hertfordshire.

As a Trust we have committed to delivering
what we call ‘high value health care’. High value
healthcare has four components:

The Trust runs over 40 different services which
are predominantly focused on working with
children and their families and with older
people. We deliver these services in people’s
homes, clinics and community hospitals; we
are woven into the fabric of the community.
Our services are not as visible as those of the
acute hospitals and not the focus of as much
attention, but they play a crucial role in
supporting children’s development and in
maintaining the independence and dignity of
older people. We employ over 3000 people health visitors, school nurses, speech and
language therapists, community (district) nurses,
physiotherapists, occupational therapists,
doctors, specialist nursing and therapy staff,
health care assistants and administrative staff.

• a good patient experience - from services
that are well-organised, accessible and
responsive, from staff that explain well what
is happening and show the compassion we
all want from health professionals

• good clinical outcomes - providing treatments
and interventions that are effective in
improving health

• ensuring patient safety - avoiding harm to
people (such as falls and infections) and
ensuring people are safe in the environment
in which we are working with them
• using resources well - delivering an efficient
service and spending money wisely so that
we can achieve the best results possible for
our patients.

We are concerned with supporting people to
live their lives to the full - from working with
families to give children the best start in life,
to helping older people live well as they become
more likely to develop long term conditions or
become frail. We are concerned with people
in their day-to-day lives.

We are ambitious to improve the quality of care
and support we offer and to deliver high value
healthcare in all of our services. We have a lot
of work to do to be able to demonstrate high
value in every service, but this account describes
the good work that is already underway.
We have made good progress but there is
no complacency in the Trust. We want to
improve what we do.

The quality of care we provide for people in
the community is at the heart of our concerns.
We do have to manage within a budget and
have a responsibility to do so, but our job is to
deliver the very best service we can within
that budget.

This account also identifies our priorities for
2012/13. These are very specific and we will
ensure that we improve our services in these
priority areas, but we will also have a much
broader focus, looking at how all our services
can improve.
On behalf of the Board I would like to thank
our staff who show great commitment to
the quality of care and support we provide.
We will continue to support them to do the
very best job they can.

David Law Chief Executive Officer
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Our quality priorities for 2012-2013
How we decided our quality priorities
for the next 12 months
In determining the areas that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust should focus on for our
quality improvements for 2012/13, we sought
the views of our patients, carers, staff and
stakeholders in a number of ways.
• In our Board2Patient programme members
of the Board and the Quality & Governance
directorate spoke to frontline staff about
quality issues, observed care being delivered
and spoke to patients about their experiences.

• We made presentations and held discussions
on a variety of topics to the Health Topic
Group of the Hertfordshire Overview and
Scrutiny Committee, Hertfordshire LINk and
the Clinical Commissioning Groups.

• We captured feedback from staff, patients
and the public at a variety of events at
different locations across the county, such as
our Celebrating Community Services event,
our Foundation Trust road shows, at Patient
Experience and Patient Safety road shows,
and at equality and diversity Community
Conversation events.

• We made regular presentations and held
discussions on performance and quality
issues with our commissioners (Primary
Care Trust, GPs and the Local Authority).

• We sought feedback from patients and their
families and carers, not only through analysing
the themes from the complaints received,
incidents reported and concerns raised via
our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS),
but also through comments cards, hand-held
devices and patient forums.
• We recruited a member of Hertfordshire Local
Involvement Network (LINk) to our Patient
Experience sub-committee, requested their
contribution to the development of patient
information, and we supported LINk to
develop a programme of unannounced
visits into our services.

• We sought feedback from our staff,
through regular updates in our monthly
Team Brief and discussions in team and
committee meetings.
After careful consideration of the main
themes emerging from this feedback, our
Trust Board agreed five priorities for 2012/13.
All five priorities are about delivering better
experiences and outcomes for patients.
Two of the priorities build on the progress
made last year and three are new priorities.

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-2012

53

Our quality priorities for 2012-2013

Improving patient experience

“

PRIORITY 1
To increase the number of patients who feel that they have the information
which they need, communicated in a clear and understandable way.

”

The service
is excellent, the
problem arises
when you try to
make a follow up
appointment.

“

Patient

Podiatry Services

”

I thought
letters were to be
sent in clear plain
English with no
abbreviations.
Patient

We know that having the right information is
crucial in supporting patients in their choices
and their ability to participate in decisions
about their own care. Last year 96% of our
patients told us they were as involved as they
wanted to be in decisions about their care,
99% had confidence in the staff that treated
them, and 65% of our patients rated the
quality of their care as ‘excellent’. They also
told us in their complaints and enquiries that
we could do better in how we communicate
with them and the information that we give
them when they leave our services and about
their appointments.

In 2012/13 we will involve more patients
in booking their own appointments, give
patients more choice about when and where
they attend for their appointment, and extend
the introduction of appointment ‘slots’ for
patients who are seen in their own homes.
We will produce information which is easier
for our patients and their carers to understand
and produce easy-read versions suitable for
people with learning disabilities. We will
improve information that we give patients
and their carers about how to contact our
services so that they can seek reassurance or
advice if they need to. We will continue to
empower, engage and support our staff to
enable them to provide the quality of care
which they would be happy for their families
and friends to receive.

Diabetes Services
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Our aim – 50% reduction in complaints and enquiries about appointments
and poor communication
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Percentage of patients who received information in a way
they could understand

95%

Percentage of patients who know who to contact on leaving
HCT services should they need to

78%

Percentage of patients who, on discharge from our
bed-based units, felt completely informed about their
medication side effects

55%

Percentage of patients who feel they are given a choice
of time for their appointment

Baseline to be set in first
3 months of 2012/13

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of PALS enquiries** about appointments

19% (43)

Percentage of PALS enquiries** about communication

22% (50)

Percentage of complaints about communication

20% (36)

**enquiries made about HCT services

What is the national picture?
44% of patients attending outpatient clinics1 and 43% of inpatients2 rated the care that they received as ‘excellent’.
38% of inpatients2 said they felt ‘completely’ informed about medication side effects to watch out for after they
went home.
33% of patients1 said they had a choice of date and time for their first appointment.
1
2

National Outpatient Survey 2011
National Inpatient Survey 2011
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Our quality priorities for 2012-2013

Improving patient experience

“

PRIORITY 2
To increase the number of patients and their carers feeling supported to manage
their long-term condition

”

I found the
exercise class
very good. It gave
me a lot more
confidence.

“

Patient

Heart Failure
Self-management Group

The course
was a life-changing
experience more confident
and motivated
about managing
my long-term
condition.

”

Patient

Diabetes Patient
Education Sessions

We know that self-management is recognised
nationally to improve the quality of life for
people living with long-term conditions, and
involving patients as partners in their care
improves their experience. We also know
from the national out-patient survey in 2011
that nationally only 45% of patients who
attended an out-patient appointment for a
long-term condition or illness felt that their
appointment had ‘definitely’ helped them to
better manage their condition or illness.
During 2011/12 we continued to deliver patient
education and self-management sessions to
patients with diabetes, respiratory conditions
and heart conditions. We developed new
patient education and self-management
sessions with input from patients and their
families. Feedback from patients who attended

these groups was overwhelmingly positive.
For example, 96% of patients with a respiratory
condition told us they received the ‘right amount’
of information about their condition, and 89%
of patients with neurological conditions said
they were ‘likely or very likely’ to put the ideas
gained into practice when they got home.
In 2012/13 we want to build on these positive
experiences. We want our patients to feel that
they have the information which they need to
manage their long-term conditions and to feel
confident in how their families and friends
have been involved. We will make patient
education and self-management information
available to more of our patients, and we will
support our patients to develop health plans
which are personal to them.

Our aim - 90% of patients with a long-term condition will have the information they
need to help them manage their condition
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Percentage of patients with a long-term condition reporting they have Baseline to be set
the information they need to help them manage their condition
Percentage of patients with a long-term condition who said they
were definitely given information in a way they could understand

85%

Number of patients with a long-term condition attending
patient education sessions or self-management programmes

1507

Percentage of patients with a long-term condition completing
a personal health plan following a patient education or
self-management programme

100% (for established groups)

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of patients with a long-term condition who have confidence in the way staff involved their
family and/or friends
Percentage of patients with a long-term condition who feel able to talk to someone about their fears
and worries
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Assuring patient safety
PRIORITY 3
To reduce the number of patients using indwelling urinary catheters and
consequently reduce the number of catheter associated urinary tract infections.
National evidence indicates that 80% of urinary
tract infections can be traced to indwelling
urinary catheters and, the longer a catheter is
in place the higher the risk that the patient
will develop an infection. Whilst we know
from our regular audits during 2011/12 that
staff in our bed-based units and integrated
community teams maintained high standards
for hand hygiene and urinary catheter care
(page 82), we also know that one patient in
the community developed an MRSA blood
borne infection linked to catheterisation.
We know from audits in 2011/12 that 860
patients receiving care from our community
nurses and living in their own homes had a
urinary catheter and 12.14% of patients in
our bed-based units had one.

In 2012/13 we want fewer people in our care
to face the risk of a catheter associated urinary
tract infection. We will do this by supporting
patients in their bladder continence so that
they only use a urinary catheter where it is
essential to do so, and for the least amount
of time necessary. We will continue to provide
patients and their carers with useful information
about hand hygiene and their own catheter
care. We will support their understanding
through the wider use of self-care checklists
and catheter care diaries, and we will work
with our colleagues in Hertfordshire to develop
and introduce a ‘catheter passport’ which will
accompany the patient between health and
social care settings. We will train more of our
staff in continence management and urinary
catheter care and assess the confidence and
competence of staff that are providing care
to patients with urinary catheters.

Our aim – fewer than 10% of patients with urinary catheters experience
an associated infection
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Patients with catheters in situ (or removed within previous 72 hours)
as a proportion of the overall population being cared for*

12.14% bed-based units
(February 2012)

Incidence of patients with urinary catheter in situ for less
than 28 days*

5.83% bed-based units
(February 2012)

Incidence of catheter associated urinary tract infections*

3.4% bed-based units
(February 2012)

Compliance with Department of Health’s urinary
catheter care bundle

100% bed-based units
98% integrated community teams

“

The support
and advice [of the
continence specialist
nurse] means that I
can now control my
own symptoms and
the impact on my life
is minimal.

“

”

Patient

Bladder and Bowel Service

”

We feel
[our friend’s] pain
and subsequent
infection was caused
by a blockage in
his catheter.
Friend

Community Nursing
East Hertfordshire

Other measures we will use to track progress
Complaints, comments and compliments
*The reporting in 2012/13 will include patients at home
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Our quality priorities for 2012-2013

Developing clinical effectiveness

“

PRIORITY 4
To increase the proportion of patients following an acute Stroke who experience
a positive outcome from their rehabilitation.

I am strongly
recommending
that you send a
physiotherapist that
is trained to help
Stroke patients
sooner rather
than later.

”

Relative

Integrated Community Team
Dacorum

Since the special review by the CQC in 2011
which found Stroke care in Hertfordshire overall
to be in the ‘least well performing’ category,
we have been working with our commissioners,
the Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Heart and
Stroke Network and the Hertfordshire Life After
Stroke Group to improve local Stroke services
(page 70) and will continue to progress this
work in 2012/13.
We know that better outcomes for patients
will be realised by services working closely
together and the new model for Stroke patients
in Hertfordshire is one which aims to be clearly
defined, well coordinated and provided in
partnership across NHS, social care and
voluntary sectors.

We will work in partnership with patients and
their families in planning the type of care that
best meets their needs and we will provide them
with information to support them in managing
the impact of their Stroke. We will improve
communication between different agencies
for patients and their families through the
use of personal health plans.
We will capture the benefits of this earlier
rehabilitation for patients who are seen by our
specialist neurology services using nationally
recognised measures and we will seek feedback
about their experiences. We will work with
the Life After Stroke Group to introduce the
measure of patient outcomes recommended
by the Department of Health.

In 2012/13 we want to support more patients
who have had a Stroke to achieve a good quality
of life with the best possible outcome from
the treatment and care available. We will do
this by building on the progress achieved last
year and aiming for patients to be consistently
seen within 72 hours of discharge from an acute
hospital by therapists trained in Stroke care.
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Our aim - 90% of patients following a Stroke achieve a good outcome against
their own goals
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Percentage of patients who achieve a good outcome against
their own goals1

77.8% (pilot sample)

Percentage of patients who report that they have the information
they need to help them manage their condition

92% (pilot sample)

Percentage of patients and carers who are offered and take up
self-management support within 3 months of their Stroke

Baseline to be set

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of patients who achieve the best outcome against their goals
Families and Friends Test (page 90)
1

Using the Goal Attainment Score

What is a Goal Attainment Score?
Patients set their own goals for the outcomes which they want to achieve during an episode of rehabilitation.
The extent to which these personal goals are met is measured and translated into a score.
The national benchmark is a score of 50. Scores significantly above or below this are considered poor outcomes.
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Our quality priorities for 2012-2013

Developing clinical effectiveness

“

PRIORITY 5
To eliminate all avoidable category 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers developed by
patients within our care.

The sore had
reached an infected
grade 4 …even my
wife and I could
smell the decay
when we entered
mum’s home.

”

Relative

St Albans and Harpenden

In February 2012 NHS Midlands and East
strategic health authority launched its ambition
to eliminate all avoidable category 2, 3 and 4
pressure ulcers by December 2012 in its ‘call to
action’ to improve the quality and safety of care
that patients receive. To achieve this ambition
will be a considerable challenge. We know that
our staff reported and treated significantly more
pressure ulcers for the second successive year.
We know from a recent audit that the majority
of our patients with pressure ulcers were at
high risk of developing one; 86% were over
70 years old, 83% had skin very vulnerable to
pressure damage, and 33% were at high risk
of becoming malnourished. Whilst our actions
during 2011/12 resulted in fewer pressure ulcers
deteriorating in our care, we know that 26
category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers which were
avoidable did develop whilst patients were
within our care (page 86).

We want to realise the strategic health authority’s
ambition during 2012/13. We will try to do so
by applying the best practice in prevention
and treatment of pressure ulcers described in
the care bundle developed by the Pressure
Ulcer Expert Working Group, and in so doing
improve the consistency and reliability of care
delivered to our patients. We will work more
closely with the Hertfordshire Equipment
Service to improve the provision of the most
effective pressure relieving equipment for
patients as early as possible in their care.
We will help staff in residential homes to identify
patients at risk of pressure damage and to
refer earlier for support to prevent pressure
ulcers developing. We will train more of our
staff in pressure ulcer management and wound
care and we will use the information captured
in the monthly snap-shot audits from the
Safety Thermometer to track our progress.

Our aim - no avoidable category 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers developed in our care
Measures we will report to our Board

What is our current position?

Avoidable pressure ulcers (category 3 and 4) developed in our
care and reported as serious incidents

26 (2011/12)

The proportion of patients with any pressure ulcer (new or old)
documented following skin inspection*

11.70% bed-based units
(February 2012)

The proportion of patients with a new pressure ulcer documented
following skin inspection*

0.49% bed-based units
(February 2012)

The proportion of patients with an old pressure ulcer documented
following skin inspection*

11.21% bed-based units
(February 2012)

Other measures we will use to track progress
Percentage of pressure ulcers which deteriorate in our care
*The reporting will include patients at home in 2012/13
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Monitoring progress throughout
the coming year
We have a dedicated Committee focused on reviewing the safety, quality and effectiveness of our services.
This Committee, known as the Healthcare Governance Committee, will monitor our progress throughout the year.
Quality Priority

Sub-committee of Healthcare
Governance Committee

To increase the number of patients who feel that they have
the information which they need, communicated in a clear
and understandable way

Patient Experience

To increase the number of patients and their carers feeling
supported to manage their long-term condition

Patient Experience

To reduce the number of patients using indwelling urinary
catheters (and consequently reduce the number of catheter
associated urinary tract infections)

Infection Prevention and Control

To increase the proportion of patients following an acute Stroke
who experience a positive outcome from their rehabilitation

Clinical Effectiveness

To eliminate all avoidable category 2, 3 and 4 pressure
ulcers developed by patients within our care

Clinical Effectiveness

How will we report progress to the Board and the public throughout the year?
Progress in all these five priority areas will be monitored by our Board through our Healthcare Governance
Committee. We have agreed a Board level sponsor for each priority and the same at service level. Where possible
we have selected indicators that can be compared across the Trust and with other similar Trusts. These quality
indicators will be reported through the Integrated Board Performance Report which is published every month
for the Trust Board and on our website for the public and our staff. Our commissioners will also receive reports
as part of our contract with them.
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Our quality priorities for 2011-2012
Other areas of quality improvement

Our five Quality Priorities are not the only areas
of quality improvement in 2012/13. We will also
deliver the quality improvements outlined in
our Quality Strategy and in our contract and
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
Schemes (CQUINS) (page 69).
We will deliver the four objectives identified in
partnership with local people during 2011/12
from the assessment of our performance in
meeting the national NHS Equality Delivery
System Framework, in order that we move
closer to our vision of achieving equality,
celebrating diversity and advancing inclusion
for all our patients, carers and staff.
We will continue to work with the NHS
Quality Innovation Prevention and Productivity
(QIPP) safe care work stream and with our
partners in Hertfordshire and beyond to
deliver improvements towards harm free care.
We will use the information from the Safety
Thermometer to support our actions to deliver
improved outcomes for our patients and track
our progress towards this. We will continue to
deliver care in same sex accommodation in

our bed-based units except where it is in the
overall best interest of the patient or reflects
their personal choice.
We will build on the transformational work
we undertook in 2011/12 (page 100), with our
clinical staff driving it forward in their services
and shaping the quality improvements.
• We will use the Productive Series in all of
our community services by March 2013
releasing more time to care for our patients.
• We will extend the Single Point of Access
model making it easier for patients to
contact and enter our services.
• We will work more closely with our partners
to give patients more choice about where
and when they receive their care and to
improve their journey through our services.
• We will encourage and support other
innovative developments which help
improve our patients’ health and support
them to live their lives.

My Marvellous Tablet…
In 2012/13 children with life-limiting or life-threatening conditions and their families will have the opportunity
to communicate with their Community Children’s Nurse by video-conference, using an Apple IPad ® funded
through a successful bid to the Roald Dahl Marvellous Children’s Charity. The children and families can choose
to have real-time video conversations as an alternative to their nurse visiting them at home, or to get emotional
and psychological support at moments of difficulty or crisis, or to get support for their symptoms outside
normal working hours.
The NHS Safety Thermometer is a tool for measuring patient safety, developed by the NHS Information Centre
(NHS IC). A Safety Thermometer survey is a snapshot survey of four harms for all the patients in a ward, or seen
in the community on a particular day. The four harms are those arising from falls, pressure ulcers, catheter
associated urinary tract infections and venous thromboembolism (blood clots).
More information about the safer care programme and the Safety Thermometer can be found at:
www.eoe.nhs.uk/page.php?page_id=2133
The Productive Series supports NHS teams to redesign and streamline the way they manage and work.
This helps achieve significant and lasting improvements – predominately in the extra time that they give to
patients – as well as improving the quality of care delivered whilst reducing costs.
More information can be found at:
www.institute.nhs.uk/quality_and_value/ productivity_series/the_productive_series.html
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During 2011/12 Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust provided and/or sub-contracted
42 NHS services which are listed in the table
on the following page.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
reviewed all the data available to them on
the quality of care in 42 of these services.
This information has come from a range of
sources including; local and national audits,
patient surveys, national targets, locally
agreed performance measures and last year’s
CQUIN targets and national benchmarking.
During 2011/12 Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust has continued to develop its Integrated
Board Performance Report. This monthly report
now provides performance for all of our
services against 95 key indicators across five
domains; safety, quality, performance,
workforce and finance. The report includes
trends on the top ten key performance
indicators which are derived from the monthly
Governance Risk Register submission to the
strategic health authority, which is itself based
on the key indicators required by Monitor (the
regulator for Foundation Trusts).

We improved the reporting in our bed-based
units during 2011/12, by the introduction of
an electronic dashboard which gives the
clinical staff a real-time view of a range of
indicators such as, falls, pressure ulcers,
assessment for venous thromboembolism
(VTE), length of stay and patient transfers.
This dashboard has acted as an early warning
system for front line clinical staff, supporting
them in identifying trends and taking the
action needed to maintain high levels of
patient safety and experience. During 2012/13
we will extend this early warning system into
our integrated community teams.
The income generated by the NHS services
reviewed in 2011/12 represents 98% of the
total income generated from the provision of
NHS services by Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust for 2011/12.

This integrated approach has been replicated
within all of our business units at the monthly
reviews of performance by the Executive Team,
using a series of dashboard and scorecards of
a core set of key indicators in the Integrated
Board Performance Report.
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Core Community (East and North Hertfordshire)
Integrated Community Teams
Intermediate Care bed-bases (Community Hospitals)
Minor Injuries Unit
Psychological Therapy Service
Core Community (West Hertfordshire)
Integrated Community Teams
Intermediate Care bed-bases (Community Hospitals)
Adult Long Term Conditions
End of Life and Lymphoedema Services
Speech and Language Therapy Service
Diabetes Community Service
Diabetic Retinopathy Service
Children’s Eye Services
Cardiology Services (including Cardiac Rehabilitation and Heart Failure)
Neurological Services
Neurological bed-bases
Prison Healthcare Services
Respiratory Service
Adults’ Specialist
Sexual Health and Family Planning Services
Dental Services
Skin Health Services (including Leg Ulcer Services)
Bladder and Bowel Care Services
Nutrition and Dietetics Service
Foot Health Service
Acute Therapies Service
Wheelchair Services (including Specialist Seating and electric indoor and outdoor wheelchair services)
Musculoskeletal Services (including Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy)
Chronic Fatigue and Pain Management Service
Children’s Universal
Health Visiting and School Nursing Services
Child Health Service
Newborn Hearing Screening Service
Step2 Service
Sure Start Children’s Centres
Family Nurse Partnership
Children’s Specialist
Speech and Language Therapy Service
Physiotherapy Service
Occupational Therapy Service
Community Medical Service
Challenging Behaviour Psychology Service
Audiology Service
Continuing Care Service
Nascot Lawn Respite Care
Special School Nursing Service
Specialist Diabetes Nursing Service
Young People’s Health Transitional Service
Community Nursing Services
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Participation in clinical audit
Clinical audit involves looking at current practice
and modifying it where necessary to improve
the quality of patient care. National confidential
enquiries investigate an area of healthcare and
recommend ways of improving it.

The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust was eligible to
participate in during 2011/12 are listed in
the table below.

In 2011/12, the Department of Health released
51 national clinical audits for inclusion in Trusts’
Quality Accounts. The information which follows
on this page refers to those 51 national
clinical audits.

The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust participated in during
2011/12 are also listed in the table below.

During 2011/12, four national clinical
audits and no national confidential enquiries
covered NHS services that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust provides. During that
period Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
participated in 75% national clinical audits
and 100% national confidential enquiries of
the national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries which it was eligible
to participate in.

The national clinical audits and national
confidential enquiries that Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust participated in, and
for which data collection was completed
during 2011/12, are listed below alongside
the number of cases submitted to each audit
or enquiry as a percentage of the number of
registered cases required by the terms of that
audit or enquiry.

National Clinical Audits

Participation

Number or percentage of cases submitted
or reason for non participation

National Adult Diabetes
Audit 2011

No

Developments underway in the electronic record
system prevented data extraction during the period for
data collection.

National Paediatric Diabetes
Audit 2011

Yes

180 cases submitted
No minimum sample requirement
Collaborative participation with West Hertfordshire
Hospitals Trust

National Childhood Epilepsy
(National Epilepsy12)
Audit 2011

Yes

12 cases submitted
No minimum sample requirement
Collaborative participation with West Hertfordshire
Hospitals Trust

National Parkinson’s
Audit 2011

Yes

150%*

National Confidential
None covered NHS services that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust provides
*50% more cases were submitted than those required by the terms of the audit
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In addition Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust registered during 2011/12 for six other
national clinical audits for which it is eligible;
five from the National Clinical Audit
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Programme and one as a member of the NHS
National Benchmarking Network. The progress
and participation in these national audits are
outlined in the table below.

National Clinical Audits with open HCT
registration during 2011/12

Number or percentage of cases submitted

National Audit of Services for People with
Multiple Sclerosis 2011

Organisational data submitted June 2011

National Audit of Back Pain Management 2011

35%

National Continence Care Pilot Audit 2011

100%

National Falls and Bone Health (Round 2)
Pilot Audit 2011

80%

National Sentinel Stroke Pilot Audit 2012

Organisational feedback submitted March 2012

National Audit of Intermediate Care 2011

Completion of data collection due April 2012
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The reports of four national clinical audits
were reviewed by Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust in 2011/12 and Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust intends to take the
following actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided.
National Falls and Bone Health Audit 2010
(published May 2011)
• To work with the discharge teams in our
acute hospitals to ensure that patients who
have had surgery for a hip fracture, have all
the equipment and advice in place for
effective prevention of pressure damage
before they are transferred into our services
for their rehabilitation.
• To refer patients who attend our Minor
Injuries Unit with a fall or fracture to the
new Hertfordshire Falls Liaison Service for
their support to prevent further falls or
fractures.
National Adult Diabetes Audit 2009/10
(published June 2011)
• To develop a Carbohydrate Awareness Course
for patients with Type 2 diabetes.
• To improve the transition of young people with
diabetes into adult services by strengthening
our partnership working across children’s and
adults’ diabetes services.

National Pain Audit 2010
(published November 2011)
• As we are not eligible to participate in the
next two phases of the national clinical audit
because we have no medical clinician in our
multi-disciplinary team, we will undertake a
local audit against the standards.
The reports of 23 local clinical audits were
reviewed by Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust in 2011/12 and Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust intends to take the following actions
to improve the quality of healthcare provided.
• To promote staff awareness of safe
management of sharps (needles and scalpels)
through training and information posters.
• To deliver the educational programme on
pressure ulcer prevention, assessment and
management to more of our staff.
• To introduce a stop date on the prescriptions
for antibiotics of patients in our bed-based
units.
• To upgrade the lighting in one of our
bed-based units so that the lights can be
dimmed at night for patients’ comfort.
• To train staff in decontamination of dental
equipment.

National Parkinson’s Audit 2010
(published July 2011)

“

It is so
refreshing to meet
someone who
understands our
situation and has a
deep appreciation of
the challenges of
people with learning
disabilities and is
prepared to go
that extra mile
to help.

“

”

Relative

Specialist Dental Services

”

She is our
first choice for
giving help thus
saving surgery
and specialist
appointments.
Relative

Parkinson’s Disease
Specialist Nurse

• To continue to provide care to the standards
outlined in the national audit, and to explore
additional investment in ‘voice therapy’ for
patients with Parkinson’s Disease with the
commissioners.
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Participation in clinical research
The number of patients receiving NHS services
provided or sub-contracted by Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust in 2011/12 that were
recruited during that period to participate
in research approved by a research ethics
committee was 52, a slight increase from 44
during 2010/11.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has been
involved in four clinical research studies during
2011/12 which were approved by a research
ethics committee. These are:
• visual acuity in pre-school children
• music perception and production in children
with hearing impairment
• the role of assistant staff within community
nursing services
• specialist nursing services for patients with
heart failure at end of life with implanted
cardio-defibrillators.
Requests for approval of seven research projects
to be undertaken in 2012/13 have already
been received, with four of the projects being
collaborative work with the Centre for Research
in Primary and Community Care (CRIPACC) at
the University of Hertfordshire and one with
the Department of Health.

Of the five research studies being conducted
during 2010/11, one remains underway, two
were completed in 2011/12, and two had to be
withdrawn due to difficulty recruiting patients.
As part of our commitment to increasing
levels of participation in clinical research and
making our contribution to wider health
improvement, Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust is establishing more formal links with
the University of Hertfordshire’s CRIPACC, the
Essex and Hertfordshire Comprehensive Local
Research Network, and the East of England
Primary Care Research Network.

Research into Leg Ulcer Treatments
One of our specialist nurses working in our Leg
Ulcer Service participated in a European-wide research
project comparing the treatment outcomes for patients
from the use of two different types of compression
bandages. The published report was presented at an
international conference in Harrogate in November
2011. The Leg Ulcer Service has considered the
findings from this research in their preferred choice
of compression bandage for patients.
Clinical Audit & Clinical Effectiveness
Sub-committee, January 2012

• Start and Stay: examining recruitment and
retention of Health Visitors will evaluate
the services provided by our Health Visitors
by seeking the views and experiences of
families when their toddlers reach the age
of two-and-a-half, and will support the
national research on the Health Visitor
Implementation Programme.
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Use of the CQUIN payment framework
A proportion of Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust’s income in 2011/12 was conditional on
achieving quality improvement and innovation
goals agreed between Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust and NHS Hertfordshire, through
the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
payment framework. These are outlined here,
with further details of the agreed goals for

2011/12 and for the following 12 month
period both available electronically at
www.hertschs.nhs.uk. The goals were agreed
as part of the Trust’s contribution to achieving
both local and regional health priorities and
were supplemented by quality improvements
within the Trust’s contract, included in pages
88 - 100 of this Account.

2011/12 CQUIN schemes
Goal

Quality domain

Improvements in patient experience for patients using
Community (District) Nursing and Health Visiting services

Patient Experience

Reducing the incidence of patients with newly acquired
category 4 pressure ulcers

Clinical Effectiveness

Early supported discharge for patients following an
acute stroke

Clinical Effectiveness

Improving the quality of care for patients with dementia
through staff training

Patient Experience and Clinical Effectiveness

Using an independence outcome measure for patients
receiving intermediate care services

Clinical Effectiveness

Improvements in rapid access for intermediate
care services

Clinical Effectiveness

Improvements in End of Life care

Patient Experience
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Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is
required to register with the Care Quality
Commission and its current registration status
is ‘registered without conditions’.
The Care Quality Commission has not taken
enforcement action against Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust during 2011/12.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has not
participated in any special reviews or investigations
by the Care Quality Commission during
2011/12.
We have progressed the actions arising from
the integrated inspection of safeguarding and
Looked After Children’s services in Hertfordshire
undertaken jointly by the CQC and Ofsted in
October 2010.
• Through our involvement as an early
implementer site in the Department of
Health’s Health Visitor Implementation Plan
to create a bigger and rejuvenated workforce,
we are working closely with the University
of Hertfordshire and our commissioners to
train and recruit more health visitors over the
next four years. We significantly increased
our student health visitor placements in
this academic year to 34, and plan to
support a further 50 students in the
2012/13 academic year.

• We now support all young people aged 16
years and over who leave care in managing
their own health by giving them a copy of
their health assessment and immunisation
history, as well as information of how to
access the Children Looked After health
team and front-line health services should
they wish to.
We have continued to work with the
Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Heart and
Stroke Network to improve local services, and
with the Hertfordshire Life After Stroke Group
to implement changes in response to the
CQC’s special review of Stroke care.
• Gaining a detailed understanding of the
different journeys patients take through
Hertfordshire’s Stroke services to inform
their redesign during 2012/13.
• Improved access to a therapist for patients
discharged from an acute hospital into our
bed-based units and community teams,
achieving this within 72 hours of discharge
for 88% of patients by March 2012.
• Introduction of one-stop shop clinics and
self-management sessions for patients and
their carers.

• In November 2011 we started delivering a
new Family Nurse Partnership Service in
Welwyn, Hatfield, Letchworth and Stevenage,
to work with very vulnerable young families
in developing their resilience, confidence
and abilities as parents.
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The Care Quality Commission undertook three
reviews of compliance in our services during
2011/12.
Danesbury Neurological Service

St Peters Ward

An unannounced visit in June 2011, undertaken
in response to concerns received by the CQC,
judged that Danesbury was not meeting the
essential standards for respecting and involving
people who use the services, meeting patients’
nutritional needs, safeguarding patients from
abuse, and ensuring sufficient staffing levels
to keep patients safe and meet their health
and welfare needs. The CQC requested that
actions be taken to improve the experiences
for patients, and in March 2012, having
reviewed the evidence, they judged Danesbury
to be meeting all the essential standards of
quality and safety. Examples of improvements
made were:

An unannounced visit undertaken in August
2011 within the schedule of CQC planned
visits judged that St Peters Ward is meeting all
the essential standards of quality and safety.
The CQC requested some improvements in
safeguarding people who use the services and
in supporting the staff that provide the service.
In March 2012, we submitted the evidence of
our improvements in these areas to the CQC
for their formal review and we await their
judgement. Examples of improvements
made were:

• developing a Welcome Pack and Personal
Health Plans to support patients in telling
staff how they wish to receive their care
• adapting menu choices in response to
feedback from patients
• making it easier for patients to ask for
help and responding more quickly when
patients did
• providing one-to-one care for very vulnerable
patients and employing a small number of
regular temporary staff to reduce the different
staff that patients have caring for them.
In January 2012, we commissioned an
independent review from Dame Elizabeth
Fradd providing us with additional assurance
of the improvements that staff had made for
their patients. In 2012/13 we will build on her
recommendations to sustain the improvements
through stronger working across the different
professions and help staff to embrace a culture
of change.

“

All the staff
at Danesbury are
very kind and very
helpful and caring.
They made me feel
special physically and
emotionally.

“

”

Relative

• providing easy-to-read leaflets about
safeguarding to staff, patients and
the public
• contracted staff demonstrating a good
understanding of how to respond to
safeguarding concerns were they to arise
• confirming that safeguarding training will
be mandatory for all contracted staff from
April 2012
• increasing the proportion of staff completing
mandatory training and appraisals to above
the Trust targets.
Potters Bar Community Hospital
In March 2012 the CQC judged that Potters
Bar Community Hospital is meeting all the
essential standards of quality and safety, having
undertaken a review of evidence of improved
patient experience and outcomes submitted to
them in September 2011. The improvements
were made following the CQC review of
compliance in January 2011 as part of the
national assessment of health & social care
services over the Christmas and New Year
period 2010/11.

Danesbury Neurological Service

It was
particularly
heartening to
hear the feedback
from some of the
patients in the [CQC]
improvement plan
which echoed the
feedback which was
received from people
when we visited
the ward. The staff
are to be commended
in their work.

”

CQC inspector
St Peters Ward

The reports produced by the CQC can be
found at www.cqc.org.uk.
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Data quality
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust will
be taking the following actions to improve
data quality:
• Apply the principles outlined in our Data
Quality Policy approved in 2011/12 to deliver
the data quality priorities agreed with our
clinical staff and commissioners.
• Engage our staff through the newly established
Data Quality Forum.
• Continue to develop a culture of high data
quality within the Trust and involve clinical
staff in reviewing data as we move increasingly
towards more patient care being recorded
electronically.
• Build on the success of the mobile working
pilot project in our Health Visiting Service
during 2011/12, and provide staff working
in our integrated community teams with
mobile technology.
• Continue to run reports to assure ourselves
and our commissioners of the accuracy,
timeliness and quality of our data and ensure
that data is matched to national coding to
enable its sharing and comparison.
• Develop a portal through which clinical staff
and managers can access data on a self-service
basis, as and when they need it, and be
confident in its quality.
• Participate in the Hertfordshire-wide Data
Quality project being led by our commissioners.

During 2011/12 Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust commenced reporting its performance
against the Community Information Data Set
and has been able to report on 17 of the 19
data items identified by Monitor for data
completeness, achieving a completion rate
of 95% against the target of 50%.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
continued its involvement in developing
benchmarking data for Community Trusts by
working with a network of aspirant Community
Foundation Trusts and through its membership
with the NHS National Benchmarking Network.
During 2011/12 we were involved in three
benchmarking projects relating to Community
Hospitals, Acute Therapies and Provider Services,
and will be involved in a further four during
2012/13. We know from our involvement in these
that, compared to similar Trusts, we perform well
for our rate of patients’ readmissions to hospital
and we have higher than average nursing
levels in our bed-based services.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust submitted
records during 2011/12 to the Secondary Uses
service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode
Statistics which are included in the latest
published data. The percentage of records
in the published data which included the
patient’s valid NHS number was 99.6% for
admitted patient care and which included the
patient’s valid General Medical Practice was
99.9% for admitted patient care.
During 2011/12 Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust has continued to improve the
percentage of all patient records which have
the patient’s NHS number recorded in them.

Patient records containing NHS number
2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

Electronic records

70%

82%

98%

100%

Paper records

86%

87%

88%

99.1%

Source: local clinical audit
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Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust’s Information
Governance Assessment Report overall score
for 2011/12 was 66% and was graded green.
This significant improvement from the red
score of 39% in 2010/11 has been achieved
through a variety of actions taken throughout
the year.
• We reviewed, updated and developed five
policies relating to information governance.
• 95.6% of our staff completed training in
information governance.

• We developed information leaflets for our
patients and the public on how we protect
and use personal information, and made
them available in our clinics and on our
public website.
Progress during 2012/13 will continue to be
monitored by the Information Governance Group
which reports directly to the Executive Team.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was not
subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding
audit during 2011/12 by the Audit Commission.

• We reviewed the information flows into
and out of the Trust, confirming that we
have robust procedures, use the NHS
number, and assess the risks associated
with the movement of information.

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-2012

73

Our quality improvements in 2011-2012
How we performed in delivering the
quality priorities we set ourselves
Improving patient experience
PRIORITY 1

“

To further demonstrate changes in our services as a consequence of patient feedback

”

We found the
service perfectly
tailored to our
family’s needs.

“

Parent

Challenging Behaviour
Psychology Service

I was always
impressed by the
quality of care you
gave [my father],
and the respect
and kindness
with which you
treated him.

”

Relative

We wanted more patients to be able to see
and experience services which are delivered
in ways that they have told us best meet their
health needs and wishes. We wanted more
staff to feel they were able to provide the
quality of care which they would be happy
for their families and friends to receive.
The outcomes we achieved
• 90% of patients surveyed rated their
overall care as ‘very good or excellent’, an
improvement from 86% in 2010/11.
• 97% of patients surveyed would
recommend the service to a relative or
friend, an improvement from 95% in
2010/11.
• More patients in our bed-based units
gave us their feedback on discharge; 32%
compared to 21% in 2010/11.

Danesbury
Neurological Centre

Patients surveyed reporting that they have
confidence and trust in the staff treating them

Staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work
and patient care they were able to deliver **

• We improved our overall responsiveness
to the personal needs of patients in our
bed-based units; 72.6% compared to
63.7% in 2010/11.
• Significantly more staff would be happy
with the standard of care at the Trust if
friends or family needed treatment; a
rating of 3.52 in the national staff survey
compared to 3.44 last year, and higher
than the national average.
• 78% of our services introduced changes as
a direct result of patient feedback, with a
number of services introducing more than
one change; a significant improvement from
30% of services in 2010/11 and above our
target of 50%.
The wider benefits of improving services as a
result of patient feedback were in patients’
confidence in us and the satisfaction that staff
can have in their work.

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

93%

97%

99%

2010/11

2011/12

70%

73%

**Source: Source: National Staff Survey 2011 (national average 73%)
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How we supported these improvements
We gathered more patient views, experiences
and stories with the support of our Patient
Experience Team, and we used this feedback
to inform areas for improvement.
• We introduced hand-held devices (patient
experience trackers) into daily use in all of
our bed-based units to collect almost instant
patient feedback.

We worked more closely with Hertfordshire LINk
to seek feedback from the public and patients
about their care and our service developments.
• We recruited a LINk member onto our Patient
Experience sub-committee as well as our Board.
• We worked with LINk to develop their
approach for unannounced visits.

• We developed surveys for patients who
use our community services and made them
available through an on-line link.

• We sought input from LINk and other
patient forums on the content of new
patient information.

• We worked with an independent company
to undertake a telephone survey with patients
seen by our Community (District) Nurses.

• We participated in the engagement events
in the development of the Hertfordshire
Equality Delivery Scheme.

• We extended the use of comments cards
into more of our services.
• We made a film portraying patient stories for
our Celebrating Community Services event.
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We continued to engage and support our
staff to provide the high quality care which
they would be happy for their families and
friends to receive.
• We delivered customer care training to 56
frontline staff, communication training to
29 staff working with palliative care patients,
and patient experience training to all new
staff joining the Trust.
• We launched the Royal College of Nursing
Principles of Nursing Practice and the strategic
health authority’s I Trust You to Care campaign.

Seeking patients’ views and experiences and
using them to improve more of our services
remains important to us - this will be embedded
into our quality improvement agenda in 2012/13
and we will focus improving patient experiences
in two new quality priorities in 2012/13.
Board sponsor
Clare Hawkins,
Director of Quality and Governance
and Chief Nurse
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee,
via Patient Experience Sub-committee

The Principles of Nursing Practice tell us what patients, colleagues, families and carers can expect from nursing.
More information can be found at:
www.rcn.org.uk/nursingprinciples

I Trust You to Care is a campaign developed by frontline staff to support the delivery of harm-free care.
More information can be found at:
www.eoe.nhs.uk/page.php?page_id=2176
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You said...
“Sometimes we have to
wait too long unless we get
here 15 minutes before the
clinic opens”

You said...
“We need to know
the current time”

We did...
We arranged for another
Health Visitor to be in the
Drop-in Baby Clinics

We did...
We put a clock in each
Specialist Dental surgery
You said...
“There is not enough contact
information about the service or
role of the MacMillan Nurse”

We did...
We developed an information
leaflet for the Specialist
Palliative Care Service
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Improving patient experience
PRIORITY 2
To improve the nutritional status of our patients whilst they are in our care

We wanted our patients and carers to feel better
informed about their nutritional needs and
choices and for their nutritional status to improve
whilst in our care. We particularly wanted to
improve how we worked with our patients and
carers and with our partner organisations to
encourage and support mothers in breastfeeding
their babies, encourage healthy weight in our
children, and to help our patients who are
elderly and frail, or who have long-term
conditions, to stay nourished and hydrated.
The outcomes we achieved
• 91% of babies were seen by their health
visitor within 14 days of their birth, and
88% of mothers surveyed said that their
preferred method of feeding was fully
discussed with them.

• 94% of patients admitted to our bed-based
units were assessed for their risk of malnutrition
within 24 hours of their admission; a significant
improvement from 62% in 2010/11, and
99.6% of patients at risk had a nutritional
care plan in place.
• 76% of patients seen by our integrated
community teams were assessed for their risk
of malnutrition during their first appointment;
a significant improvement from 57% in
2010/11, and 67% of patients at risk had
received nutritional advice and treatment.
• 83% of patients in our bed-based units
rated the food as ‘good’ or ‘very good’, an
improvement from 75% in 2010/11.

• Of those mothers who preferred to breast
feed, 95% said that they were provided
with information about breastfeeding
support groups.
• 83% of parents attending well-baby clinics
valued the feeding advice offered, with 62%
valuing it ‘a great deal’.
• 99% of school children in Reception and Year
6 in schools participating in the National Child
Measurement Programme were weighed and
measured during the academic year 2010/11,
exceeding our target and an improvement
on the previous year.
• 574 patients with diabetes attended
self-management sessions, and reported
positive benefits.

Nutrition and Hydration Week,
staff go bananas
Patients at Gossoms End bed-based unit enjoyed
activities and quizzes about eating, drinking and
food during national Nutrition and Hydration week.
Staff dressed up as bananas to add a fun element.
“Our overall aim was to raise awareness and help our
patients make wiser nutritional choices in the future.”
Nutrition Champion, Gossoms End
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How we supported these improvements
We promoted national initiatives with our
patients and their families.
• We worked jointly with midwives and GPs
to promote the UNICEF UK Baby Friendly
initiative which supports breastfeeding.
• We extended our Breastfeeding Clinics
into all localities in Hertfordshire and
continued to run some of them jointly
with the National Childbirth Trust and
National Breastfeeding Network.
• We worked with Hertfordshire’s Public
Health team to offer support to parents
and carers of underweight and
overweight children.

We improved the nutritional assessment,
review and care of patients in our bed-based
units and integrated community teams.
• We introduced Nutrition Champions in
every unit and team to promote nutrition
and hydration, share learning with their
colleagues, and to undertake monthly
audits of nutritional care.
• We introduced red trays and napkins in all
our bed-based units so patients who require
assistance at meal times get the help that
they need.
• We established Food Groups in all our bedbased units and introduced regular food audits
with patient involvement.
• We used the Meals Module of the Productive
Ward and replaced the meals not liked by
patients with more appetising ones.

• We introduced the Seven Steps to End
Malnutrition recommended in Age UK’s
Hungry to be Heard campaign into our
bed-based units.

• We confirmed that patients are receiving
high standards of nutritional care through
our internal Dignity and Nutrition inspection
and our Patient Environment Action Team
(PEAT) inspections (page 92).

We provided information to our patients
and their families at their appointments, in
education sessions and workshops and in our
units and clinics.
• We gave pregnant and breastfeeding
women and families from low income
groups information about vouchers for fruit
and vegetables, milk and vitamins through
the Healthy Start Scheme.
• We introduced Diet Workshops for patients
attending our Heart Failure service.
• We produced new leaflets on Healthy Eating.
• We advertised protected mealtimes in the
patient information packs and notices in our
bed-based units.

”

“

Parents

Breastfeeding Clinic

• We continued to offer education programmes
for adults with both types of diabetes as
recommended by the National Institute for
Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE).

• We ran activities for patients during national
Nutrition and Hydration Week.

“

Without your
help and advice
we would have
given up.

• We trained 131 staff in how to assess
for malnutrition, and 282 staff in a wide
range of food and nutrition related topics,
including breastfeeding and weaning,
healthy eating, obesity, swallowing
difficulties and food hygiene.

I’ve been a
diabetic type 1
for 25 years…
this course has
been a wonderful
experience. I feel
as if I have been
empowered…
I only wish I
had this opportunity
sooner.”

”

Patient

Diabetes Education Session

Continuing to ensure nutritional assessment,
support and education to patients where
nutrition plays a part in their health or recovery
remains important to us - this will be embedded
into our quality improvement agenda in
2012/13 so that we can build on the
progress made this year.
Board sponsor
Clare Hawkins,
Director of Quality and Governance and
Chief Nurse
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee,
via Patient Experience Sub-committee
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Assuring patient safety

“

PRIORITY 3
To further reduce the number of reported patient falls within our bed-based units

Thank you for
getting [my mother]
walking again,
something I thought
some weeks ago
I’d never see
again.”

”

Relative

Herts and Essex Hospital

We wanted fewer patients to experience a fall
whilst in our care and not to come to harm
should they fall. Whilst 15% fewer falls were
experienced by patients in our bed-based units
in 2010/11 compared to 2009/10, we wanted
to make more of a difference for our patients
and set ourselves a target of 20% fewer falls
in 2011/12. In order that we were confident
of a true reduction in falls, we reported our
progress not only by the number of falls but
also by their ratio to the number of days that
beds were occupied by patients.
The outcomes we achieved
• Patients in our bed-based units experienced
22% fewer falls compared to 2010/11; a total
of 660 falls compared to 849.

• 1.97% of the patients who fell experienced a
fracture or an injury needing acute hospital care
as a consequence of their fall; 13 compared
to one in 2010/11.
• 95% of patients were assessed for their risk
of falling within 2 hours of admission; a
significant improvement from 87% in
2010/11, and 94% of those at risk had a
falls care plan in place, an improvement
from 80% in 2010/11.
• We reported 1,635 more patient-related
incidents to our Board in 2011/12 compared
to 2010/11, of which 15% were falls
experienced by patients in our bed-based
units compared to 32% in 2010/11 and
51% in 2009/10.

• 26% fewer patients experienced more than
one fall during their stay; 109 compared to
147 in 2010/11.
Patient falls per 1000 occupied bed days
2010/11

2011/12

All falls

9.100

8.297

Falls resulting in severe harm

0.011

0.163

What is the national picture?
In community hospitals the national average is:
8.4 falls per 1000 occupied bed days, 0.4% falls resulting in severe harm
National Patient Safety Agency 2007
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How we supported these improvements
We launched our Slips, Trips and Falls Policy to
support our staff in making effective decisions
and taking appropriate actions, and we included
falls in the new electronic early warning system
introduced into our bed-based units.
We promoted falls prevention with staff, patients
and their relatives throughout the year.

• We used visual indicators for patients at
high risk of falling, such as a ‘falling star’ on
bedroom doors and ‘traffic light labels’ on
walking aids.
• We purchased 170 more ‘early warning’
sensor mats.
• We put call bells into day rooms.

• We ran activities for staff and patients in
Age UK’s National Falls Awareness Week.
• We reinforced safety during Patient Safety
Week.
• We used the Safety Thermometer in our
bed-based units.
• We launched the strategic health authority’s
I Trust You to Care campaign.
• We ran a series of patient safety road shows
in different clinics and units across the Trust.
We established a multi-disciplinary falls team
in all our units to assess patients at high risk
of falling and put in place a care plan tailored
to reduce their risk of falling. We established a
forum for the falls champions to meet and
share good practice and learning.
We undertook detailed investigations into the
13 falls which resulted in severe harm and used
the learning to reduce the risk for other patients.
We reduced some of the factors which were
contributing to the likelihood of patients falling.
• We developed a pocket-sized easy-toremember check list to prompt staff in taking
actions to prevent a fall.

• We arranged one-to-one care for patients at
very high risk.
We trained 75 staff from our bed-based units
in falls prevention and, as we know patients
with dementia are twice as vulnerable to falling,
we trained 94 staff in dementia awareness
and 68 of our dementia champions in
dementia management.
We continued to work with our colleagues in
Hertfordshire through the Forum of Fractures,
Falls and Fragility.
Reducing patient falls is a core component in
delivering improvements towards harm free care
for our patients - it will be embedded into our
quality improvement agenda in 2012/13 so that
we can build on the progress made this year.
We will do more work in 2012/13 to understand
the factors which continue to contribute to
patients falling and experiencing harm so that
we can reduce the number who do.
Board sponsor
Clare Hawkins,
Director of Quality and Governance and
Chief Nurse
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee
via Patient Safety Sub-committee

• We moved our nursing handovers to the
patients’ side.
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Assuring patient safety

“ ”
“
”

Extremely
clean hospital
Patient

Royston Hospital

The ward felt
clean and tidy and
well organised and
had a very good
atmosphere.
Patient

Langton Ward

PRIORITY 4
To extend the good practice in reducing infections from our bed-based units
into the community, and to continue to reduce Clostridium difficile rates in our
bed-based units
We wanted more of our patients to benefit
from our good practice in infection prevention.
We wanted our staff to reliably identify concerns
and respond to them without delay, and for
our patients, their families and carers to feel
confident when undertaking their own care at
home. We wanted even fewer patients in our
bed-based units to develop a C difficile infection
setting back their recovery or contributing
to ill health, so we set ourselves a target of
reducing those by 10% compared to 2010/11;
an aspirational ceiling of 16 cases for the year,
three fewer cases than the ceiling set by
our commissioners.
The outcomes we achieved
• 11 patients acquired C difficile infections
whilst in our bed-based units during
2011/12; a 39% reduction compared to
2010/11, and a continuation of our year
on year improvement.
• No cases of C difficile in seven of the 14 wards
in our bed-based units during 2011/12.
• 100% of patients were screened for MRSA
on admission to our bed-based units.
• Two patients in the community experienced
an avoidable MRSA bacteraemia (blood
borne infection) linked to our services during
2011/12, against the ceiling of four set by
our commissioners.
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• High standards in hand hygiene and good
practice in ‘bare below the elbow’ were
maintained by staff in our bed-based units
and in our integrated community teams.
• 53% of staff reported availability of hand
washing materials in our annual national
staff survey, a reduction from 57% last year.
How we supported these improvements
We extended our proven systems and processes
from our bed-based units into all our integrated
community teams, and developed new tools
to support staff in delivering care which meets
high standards of infection prevention.
• We established regular checks of hand hygiene
and urinary catheter care in all our integrated
community teams and supported our staff
in taking immediate action where standards
were below our expected minimum level
of 95%.
• We developed a tool to reinforce the good
practice of staff in assessing patients in our
bed-based units who have diarrhoea and in
taking prompt action.
• We replaced 140 mattresses in our units
and developed a robust system of mattress
inspection.
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2008/09

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

30

19

18

11

0.193

0.138

Number of Clostridium difficile cases
Number of Clostridium difficile cases
per 1000 occupied bed days

Infection prevention – what our staff and patients told us in 2011/12
• in our integrated community teams
Hand hygiene

Urinary
catheter care

96%

98%

99% said staff
washed their hands

99% said staff
washed their hands

Cleanliness

Hand hygiene

Urinary
catheter care

97%

99%

100%

90% said the
unit was very clean

97% said staff
washed their hands

Audit scores
Patient feedback*
*Source: Telephone Survey, February 2012

• in our bed-based units

Audit scores
Patient feedback
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We worked with representatives from
Hertfordshire LINk to develop leaflets and
posters about Norovirus (winter vomiting bug)
and to improve our patient information.
We promoted and reinforced hand hygiene,
cleanliness and infection prevention with staff,
patients and visitors.

We included infection prevention as a core
part of clinical training, and we made it
easier for our staff to undertake training in
infection prevention by delivering sessions
where staff were working and by developing
an e-learning module. We trained over 1,100
staff in infection control and 193 staff in
sharps awareness.

• We distributed hand hygiene packs and
wallet-sized cards into all our health centres
and bed-based units.

Our estates and facilities team improved
the environment in our bed-based units and
community clinics.

• We held regular Trust-wide meetings for
our infection prevention link practitioners
to share good practice and to hear from
external speakers.

Prevention and control of infection is important
to us - this will be embedded into our quality
improvement agenda in 2012/13, and we
will extend our regular checks into our dental
and Health Visiting services. We will focus
on reducing the likelihood of patients with
indwelling urinary catheters developing an
infection as one of our quality priorities in
2012/13.

• We shared learning from our cases of
C difficile and MRSA bacteraemia, and
from our outbreaks of Norovirus and
Influenza A, in dedicated sessions with
affected staff and in our committees,
through our Sharing Lessons in Practice
publications and our infection prevention
and control newsletter.
• We adopted the World Health Organisation’s
Save Lives Clean Your Hands initiative and
organised Think Clean Week to support our
staff in de-cluttering their wards.

Board sponsor
Joel Bonnet,
Medical Director and Director of
Infection Prevention and Control
and
John Riordan,
Interim Medical Director and Director of
Infection Prevention and Control
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee via
Infection Prevention and Control Sub-committee

Patient experience - C difficile infection
Our infection prevention and control training now includes a film of a patient telling his story about how a
C difficile infection affected him and the impact it had on his family.
“The video of the gentleman who had a C difficile infection highlighted the reality of infection control measures.”
Physiotherapist
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Developing clinical effectiveness
PRIORITY 5
To reduce the number and severity of reported avoidable pressure ulcers
developed by patients within our care
We wanted fewer patients to develop avoidable
pressure ulcers whilst in our care, whether they
were being cared for in our bed-based units
or their own home, and where a pressure
ulcer did develop that our staff gave effective
treatment to control its severity.

• 26 avoidable severe (category 3 and 4)
pressure ulcers were developed by patients
whilst they were in our care. These represented
1.4% of all pressure ulcers reported and
treated by our staff during the year and 3.4%
of those which were category 3 and 4.

The outcomes we achieved

• Fewer pressure ulcers deteriorated in our
care; from 12% in November 2010, to 8%
in May 2011 and 6% in February 2012.

• Significantly more (217%) pressure ulcers
were incident reported during 2011/12 as a
result of increased staff awareness; a total of
1,861 pressure ulcers (category 2 and above)
compared to 587 in 2010/11. These were all
pressure ulcers in patients seen by our services
whether they were avoidable or unavoidable,
and whether they were developed by patients
whilst in our care or developed elsewhere.
• We did not achieve our target of 50%
reduction in avoidable severe (category 3
and 4) pressure ulcers developed in our
care compared to last year, but we did
achieve a 40% reduction in those which
were category 4.
All pressure ulcers reported and treated
during 2011/12
10.1% (189)

• 90% of patients had a comprehensive care
plan in place which reflected their risk factors,
with 82% of these put into place on the day
of assessment.

Proportion of all category 3 and 4 pressure
ulcers developed in our care and avoidable
3.4% (26)

30.7% (571)

59.2% (1101)

◼Category 2 ◼Category 3 ◼Category 4
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• More patients were assessed for their risk
of developing pressure damage when they
were first admitted to our bed-based units
or integrated community teams.

96.6% (734)

◼All category 3 and 4 reported and treated
◼Avoidable category 3 and 4 developed in HCT
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Risk factor assessed
May 2011

February 2012

Skin

79%

80%

Nutrition

51%

74%

Not measured

79%

Continence
*Source: local audits

How we supported these improvements
We introduced pressure ulcer link nurses into
every team providing care to patients who are
vulnerable to pressure damage, to promote
good practice in their teams and to share
learning across the Trust.

We worked with the Hertfordshire Equipment
Service to improve the provision of pressure
relieving equipment to our patients and we
will continue to work closely with them in
2012/13.

We launched our evidence-based guidelines
on pressure ulcer prevention, assessment and
treatment to support staff in making effective
and appropriate decisions in their clinical care
and we promoted pressure ulcer prevention
and management throughout the year.

We supported our patients and their carers in the
management of their own skin by developing
a self-care checklist and information leaflet,
and we worked more closely with staff in
residential homes who care for our patients.

• We ran pressure ulcer conferences.
• We reinforced good practice during national
Patient Safety Week.
• We used the Safety Thermometer in our
bed-based units.
• We launched the strategic health authority’s
I Trust You to Care campaign and our own
Heels Aware campaign.
• We updated our website with information
and resources for staff.
We trained over 200 nursing and therapy
staff in pressure ulcer prevention and
management and wound care, and we
supported the learning from the training
by developing pocket-sized cards for the
accurate recognition and classification of
pressure ulcers and summarising the actions
to prevent pressure damage.
We undertook detailed investigations into
all 57 pressure ulcers which were declared
as serious incidents and shared the learning
from them across the Trust.

We improved the information we collect about
pressure ulcers on our incident reporting system
and in each of our integrated community teams,
enabling staff to monitor their progress at
individual service level.
We continued to work with our commissioners
and the other organisations in Hertfordshire to
agree a shared approach to this nationally
recognised challenge.
The work to improve prevention and
management needs to be embedded more
consistently if we are to eliminate all avoidable
pressure ulcers by December 2012 in line with
the strategic health authority’s ambition - we
have therefore retained this as one of our
quality priorities in 2012/13.
Board sponsor
Joel Bonnet, Medical Director
and
John Riordan, Interim Medical Director
Accountable Committee
Healthcare Governance Committee via Clinical
Audit and Clinical Effectiveness Sub-committee
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How we performed against national targets

“

National Indicators

The speed
and efficiency
of the care
[for my wife],
and the
professionalism
was much
appreciated.

“

”

Relative

Community Nurses
Royston

I was delighted
with the staff
efficiency and
friendliness, very
little waiting time
before being seen
and treated.

”

NHS Choices

Full year
target

Performance as at
March 2012

18 Weeks - non-admitted patients - percentage of patients being
treated within 18 weeks for HCT consultant led services

95%

100%

Genitourinary Medicine (GUM) - percentage of patients offered
an appointment within 48 hours

98%

100%

GUM - percentage of patients seen within 48 hours

85%

98.9%

West Herts Newborn Hearing Screening - percentage of babies
screened within four weeks of birth

95%

98%

Retinal screening - percentage of diabetic cohort that have
been offered an annual screen

100%

100%

Retinal screening - percentage of diabetic cohort that have
been screened

80%

85.8%

Minor Injuries Unit - Herts and Essex hospital - patients seen
treated and discharged with four hours

95%

100%

18 Weeks - non-admitted patients - percentage of patients being
treated within 18 weeks for HCT non consultant led services

98%

100%

Urgent district nurse response within 24 hours

100%

100%

Non urgent district nurse response within 48 hours

100%

100%

Strategic Health Authority Indicators

Minor Injuries Unit
Herts & Essex Hospital
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Other areas of quality improvement

Patient experience
Patient experience – listening and responding to compliments, concerns and complaints
In 2011/12 we built on the steady improvement
made during 2010/11 in our responsiveness to
the formal complaints we received. We resolved
27% of complaints within 24 hours and, since
June 2011 we have exceeded our target and
responded to more than 80% of our written
complaints within the timescale agreed with
the complainant.
Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
also increased the number of enquiries which
they were able to resolve within 24 hours;
91% compared to 73% in 2010/11.

The significant seven-fold increase in the
number of compliments received during
2011/12 compared to previous years reflects
our improvement in seeking feedback from
our patients and their families about the
care which they receive. Only four comments
were posted about our services on NHS
Choices during 2011/12, all of which were
compliments about our Minor Injuries Unit
in Herts and Essex Hospital. During 2012/13
we will ensure that all patients have equal
opportunities to give us their feedback and
we will put specific arrangements in place
to support people with learning disabilities
to do so.

Proportion of compliants resolved within agreed timescale
100%*
90%*
80%*

“

”

I’m absolutely
delighted with
the service I
received from
PALS and the quick
response.

“

Patient

”

An excellent
service, a perfect
solution for minor
injuries.
NHS Choices

Minor Injuries Unit
Herts and Essex Hospital

70%*
60%*
50%*
40%*
30%*
20%*
10%*
0%*
1
0
r 10 10 10 l 10 10 10 t 10 1 10 1 11 r 11 r 11 11 11 l 11 11 11 t 11 11 11 12 12 r 12
Ap May Jun Ju Aug Sep Oc Nov Dec Jan Feb Ma Ap May Jun Ju Aug Sep Oc Nov Dec Jan Feb Ma
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“

We have
been extremely
impressed by
the level of care
and compassion
given to the
patients.”

”

Relative

Langton Ward

90

We recognise that patient feedback is a valuable
resource at a time of uncertainty and change and
whilst we have strengthened the patient voice
through examples of compliments, complaints
and You Said, We Did in the regular Patient
Experience reports which our Trust Board now
receive, and through the Board2Patient visits
into services undertaken throughout the year,
we have more to do in 2012/13 to routinely
share patient experience stories with our
Trust Board.
During 2012/13 we will implement the new
guidance on patient experience issued by NICE
in February 2012. We will use the Families and
Friends Test in every one of our services to
understand more fully whether the experience
which our patients receive is one that they would
recommend to a family member or a friend.

The Families and Friends Test
Also known as the Net Promoter Score.
It is a measure, expressed as a percentage, of the
overall likelihood of a service to be recommended to
others by its service users.
It is calculated from the difference of the percentages
of those users who would recommend the service
and those who would not. A score of 75% or above
is considered high.

“What matters to patients?”
King’s Fund, November 2011

We will continue to use the feedback from
patients to inform our training programmes
in 2012/13. We will also draw on the experiences
of the many students and trainees on placement
in our services and involve patients in both the
development and delivery of our training.
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Summary of the complaints, compliments and PALS enquiries received
Complaints

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

173

192

190

Referrals to Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO)

2

2

2

Referrals investigated by PHSO following investigation

0

0

0

n/a

n/a

n/a

Top 4 themes

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

Standards of Care

29 (17%)

53 (30%)

41 (23%)

Communication

50 (29%)

30 (17%)

36 (20%)

Total number of complaints

Referrals upheld by PHSO

Clinical Treatment1

19 (10%)

Access to Services (including waiting times)

28 (16%)

44 (25%)

Attitude2

28 (16%)

24 (13%)

Patient Advice and Liaison Service

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

416

445

488

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

Total number of enquiries
Top 4 themes

18 (10%)

Information about non-HCT services

261 (54%)

Communication

50 (10%)

Appointment (dates/times)

41 (8%)

Relaying compliments

17 (4%)

Compliments
Total number of compliments received
1
2

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

428

449

3047

Not recorded as separate category until 2011/12
No longer in top 4 themes in 2011/12

The Health Service Ombudsman said “The NHS still needs to listen harder and learn more from the
complaints it receives”.
PHSO investigated and reported on 48 complaints for all NHS bodies in the East of England Strategic
Health Authority in 2010/11 and upheld 77% of them.
Listening and Learning: the Ombudsman’s review of complaint handling by the NHS in England 2010/11
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Patient experience
Maintaining privacy and dignity
We continued to promote a culture of respecting
the privacy and dignity of our patients during
2011/12 and, when asked on average 99% of
3,137 patients told us that we are getting it
right for them.

Staff were able to
respect the wishes of
a married couple who
were both patients
on their unit at the
same time, and
arrange for them
to share the same
bedroom during
their stay, without
breaching the same
sex guidelines.
Langley House

During one week, chosen to coincide with the
national Dignity in Action Day, staff in 18 of
our teams and units participated in different
activities to promote dignity for our patients.
Staff sought the views of 940 patients about
their experiences in relation to privacy and
dignity, asking them to share a thought on
what dignity means to them and how it could
be improved. We will use this feedback during
2012/13 to maintain the good experiences of
our patients and their carers.
Immediately following the release of the CQC’s
national report on its Dignity and Nutrition
Inspection of 100 acute hospitals, our lead
modern matrons undertook an inspection of
our bed-based units using the same check-list
used by the CQC. Overall they found that
patients were experiencing respectful and
dignified care and the nutritional support
they needed. Some improvements were
made as a result of this inspection.
• Call bells were installed into the day room
at Queen Victoria Memorial Hospital and
mobile call bells were introduced at
Danesbury Neurological Centre.
• The time at which medication rounds take
place were changed.
• We arranged for a barber to come to the
wards at Herts and Essex Hospital.
Our Patient Environment and Action Team
(PEAT) results for 2011 confirmed continued
high standards of privacy and dignity and
from our self-assessment we anticipate similar
experiences to be confirmed in our PEAT
results in 2012, against the new more
challenging standards.
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Patients in our bed-based units continued to
receive their care in same sex accommodation
and we reported no breaches. Our staff worked
hard to ensure that the single sex bathroom
facilities are only used by patients of the opposite
sex if a patient needs the specialist facilities
within that bathroom. During 2011/12 we
undertook our planned programme of work
to improve the bathroom facilities in three of
our bed-based units.
• Bathrooms in Potters Bar Community
Hospital were replaced by separate toilets,
wet rooms and showers, and baths suitable
for disabled patients.
• Two side rooms in Queen Victoria Memorial
Hospital were refurbished and now have
en-suite bathrooms, and two ‘wet rooms’
and a new visitor’s toilet were installed.
• Bathrooms in Sopwell and Langton wards
were upgraded and now have showers.

Share a Thought in Dignity Week
What does dignity mean to you?
• Being treated like a human being and as you
would like to be treated yourself
• Feeling comfortable in mixed wards
• Being treated with respect and consideration
• Being respectful and understanding, listening to
what people have to say
How can we improve your dignity when you use
our services?
• Please do not say do this "for me" it is patronising.
Therapy Service
• Be discreet otherwise it’s embarrassing.
Looked After Children Service
• Make sure I'm safe when sitting in my wheelchair.
Physiotherapy Service
• Have a separate room to chat in if needed, so I’m
not in front of everyone.
Health Visitors
• Fit a curtain behind the entrance door in the clinic.
Leg Ulcer Service
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Patient safety
Delivering harm free care
During 2011/12 we worked with the strategic
health authority and our NHS colleagues in
Hertfordshire to deliver safer care to our
patients by reducing harm from pressure
ulcers, falls, urinary catheters and venous
thromboembolism (VTE). The overall aim of
this continuous journey is that each and every
patient will experience harm free care. We
promoted the importance of this journey with
staff by launching the regional I Trust You to
Care campaign.
In addition to the progress made through our
quality priorities for reducing the harm from
pressure ulcers and falls:
• we trained staff in our bed-based units
how to screen patients for their risk of VTE,
started screening as part of every patient’s
admission in October 2011, and we have
screened 100% of patients admitted since
December 2011

• we developed and introduced a catheter
care diary and a self-care checklist for patients
with indwelling urinary catheters to increase
their knowledge and awareness of hygiene
in their catheter care.
We undertook monthly snap-shot audits of how
many of our patients in all of our bed-based
units received harm free care using the national
Safety Thermometer tool. For example, in
January 2012 this showed us that 82% of
patients in our bed-based units received
harm free care and that 94% of patients had
experienced no new harms. We will introduce
this monthly snap-shot audit into all of our
integrated community teams from April 2012
as we continue to deliver improvements
towards harm free care, and we will use the
information from the Safety Thermometer to
support our actions to deliver improved
outcomes for our patients.
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Patient safety
Safeguarding vulnerable patients
During 2011/12 we continued to embed a
culture of zero tolerance of abuse with the
support of our Named Nurse for Safeguarding
Vulnerable Adults (SVA) and our network of
over 100 safeguarding champions in all our
clinical teams, and by extending our basic
safeguarding adults training to all staff
throughout the organisation whether they
are working directly with adults or not.
We achieved our target of 80% of all our
staff completing this basic training, and in
2012/13 we will maintain this level as a
minimum. This will continue to build on the
work from last year and the progress noted
in the external audit commissioned by the
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board
undertaken in May 2011, which concluded
that we were performing ‘well’ (against a
scale of poor, adequate, well and excellent).
We improved the range of safeguarding
information available to our staff, patients and
the public with new leaflets in our units and
clinics and updating our website with details
of domestic violence services. The increase in
the number of referrals to our Named Nurse
for SVA (116 in 2011/12 compared to 56 in
2010/11) confirms that our staff are more
aware of neglect and abuse and taking
the action to safeguard vulnerable adults.
32 referrals made by our staff led to a formal
multi-agency investigation.
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During 2011/12 88% of our staff received
basic training in safeguarding children, and
85% of our staff working directly with
children and families received more advanced
training and continued to support their
effective decision-making by maintaining
levels of safeguarding supervision in excess of
95%. The outcome of the Hertfordshire-wide
multi-agency audit of Section 47 enquiries, an
assessment of the needs of a child and the
capacity of their parents to ensure the child’s
safety, health and development, undertaken
between May and June 2011, confirms that
risks to children in Hertfordshire are being
clearly identified.
We will continue to work with other agencies
and through the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Adults Board and the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board to ensure that safeguarding
remains a high priority.
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Patient safety
Reporting and learning from incidents and safety alerts
In 2011/12 we wanted to improve our level
of incident reporting to move towards the
highest 25% of similar organisations, as we
know an organisation with a high level of
incident reporting is one more able to learn
and improve their patient safety. We have seen
a steady improvement throughout the year
alongside the roll out of our web-based system
for incident reporting, with an average of 357
patient safety incidents per month during
2011/12 compared to an average of 220 per
month during 2010/11. National benchmarking
data released by the National Patient Safety
Agency (NPSA) for the six months from
April - September 2011, confirms that we
achieved a shift well into the middle of 50%
of similar organisations. We know that our
rate of reporting has continued to rise during
the second six months of the year and therefore
we expect our shift towards the highest 25%
of similar organisations to have continued.

We reported a total of 4,285 patient-related
incidents to our Board during 2011/12 compared
to 2,650 in 2010/11, a 62% increase. The overall
pattern of reporting in 2011/12 remains similar
to 2010/11 with the exception of the significant
increase in pressure ulcers reported and an
increase in incidents related to patient transport
and confidentiality.
• We are sharing information about the
transport incidents with the commissioner
of the service in order to facilitate an
improvement in the service for patients
• We are working to improve our governance
of patient information.

Summary of patient-related incidents

Total number of patient-related incidents reported
Total number of (confirmed) serious incidents
Serious incidents as proportion of all incidents
Never events

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2382

2650

4285

29

22

95

0.012

0.008

0.022

0

0

0

How do we compare?
34.5 patient incidents reported per 1000 bed days, compared to a median of 38.2 for similar organisations.
0.4% of incidents resulted in severe harm or death, compared to 0.7% for similar organisations.
NPSA, April - September 2011
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We reported 99 serious incidents during
2011/12, four of which were down-graded by
NHS Hertfordshire. The confirmed 95 serious
incidents represent 2.2% of all patient-related
incidents reported and reflect the increased
awareness of patient safety through campaigns,
awareness raising events, and an increasing

open and learning culture across the Trust.
Our staff confirmed this in the national staff
survey by reporting an improvement in the
fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting
procedures in 2011; 3.5 (the same as the
national average) compared to 3.44 in 2010.

Top 10 reported incidents 2011/1
Pressure ulcer
Personal accident - patient
Medication
Admission, discharge or transfer
Treatment
Transport
Patient information
Nursing care
Medical devices and equipment
Confidentiality - patient

Categories of reported serious incidents

2010/11

2011/12

10

54

Patient injury - fall

1

13

Breach of confidentiality

3

11

Infection control

2

7

Medication

1

3

Allegations of abuse

2

1

Patient injury - manual handling

0

1

Patient harm

0

1

Late diagnosis

1

1

Notification of child death

0

1

National screening programme

1

1

Estates and facilities

1

1

Pressure ulcer - development of category 3 or 4
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We took actions in response to the learning
from the investigations of our incidents.
• We improved the documentation to support
safe administration of insulin for patients in
their own homes.
• We introduced the protocol released by the
NPSA for patients who have fallen and may
have hit their head, and included it in our
revised Slips, Trips and Falls Policy.

We identified actions we will take in 2012/13.
• We will promote an increased uptake of
influenza immunisation by staff working
with vulnerable patients.
• We will improve the information governance
training for our staff.
• We will reinstate our Medical Devices
Advisory Group.

• We developed a guide to support staff in
the prompt identification and management
of patients with diarrhoea, reducing the risk
of other patients becoming affected.
• We improved access to essential pressure
relieving equipment from Hertfordshire
Equipment Service.
Number of patient-related incidents
450*
400*
350*
300*
250*
200*
150*
100*
50*
0*
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Types of alerts received
2011/12
Medical Device Alerts

99

Medicines and Healthcare Regulatory Agency Drug Alerts

36

Department of Health Chief Medical Officer Messaging

20

Department of Health Estates and Facilities Alerts

10

National Patient Safety Alerts

3

Others

2

During 2011/12 we received 170 alerts through
our Central Alert System Liaison Officer of which
70 were applicable to our services. Of the 48
which required actions to be taken, 45 have
been completed in year and the remaining
three are underway and within the required
timescales. Examples of changes introduced
from the alerts are:
• We are working with other organisations
across Hertfordshire and with the NPSA
to introduce an Insulin Passport for
diabetic patients.

We became aware from our review of
information in our Quality and Risk Profile
issued by the CQC that, like other NHS
organisations, the Medicines and Healthcare
Regulatory Agency (MHRA) had not been
receiving all of our returns confirming our
management of central alerts. We worked
with the MHRA to resolve the problem and
have had confirmation that we are now
meeting all their reporting requirements.

• We are purchasing safer syringe drivers.
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Clinical effectiveness
NICE guidance, streamlining clinical pathways and outcomes and developing new services
In addition to improvements in clinical
effectiveness arising out of our clinical audit
programme (page 67), our Clinical Audit
and Clinical Effectiveness sub-committee
reviewed, updated and developed 19 patient
group directions, which support the timely
administration of medicines to patients in our
care, and 30 policies ensuring our staff are
applying the latest national guidance in the care
that they deliver to patients. The sub-committee
also reviewed all 96 sets of national clinical
guidance released during 2011/12 by NICE,
finding 19 to be applicable to our services,
and reviewed five of the nine quality standards
that they also released. We took action in
response to our self-assessment against the
guidelines and standards. For example, we
developed a toolkit for our clinical staff to
offer information to patients at risk from the
hazards of alcohol.
In December 2011, the Trust achieved level one
accreditation with the NHS Litigation Authority,
a reflection of the quality and content of our
policies and the risk management standards
to which we are working.
During 2011/12 we continued to work with
our partners in the NHS, local authority and
voluntary sector in Hertfordshire and beyond in
redesigning how clinical services are provided
so that patients experience care which is more
effective, evidence-based, has less duplication,
and is more easily accessed and closer to home.

• Our Integrated Community Team and Social
Services in Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield
introduced a single point of access for patients
who are referred for intermediate care.
• Our Sexual Health and Family Planning Service
started combined sexual health and family
planning clinics, reducing the number of
appointments patients need to attend.
• Our Neurological Services introduced One Stop
Clinics in which patients see specialist nurses
and therapists in the same clinic, reducing
the number of appointments patients need
to attend and increasing the speed at which
they can get the help they need. This was a
winner of the East of England’s Celebrating
Our Success Award in 2011 in the category
of Quality Improvement and Innovation.
• We increased the number of dental clinics and
introduced dental surgery at HMP The Mount,
reducing the waiting times for prisoners to
receive non-urgent treatment to five weeks
compared to a reported average in prisons
of 25 weeks.

“

”

It’s a very
good idea to have a
drop-in clinic.

“

Parent

Children’s Speech and
Language Therapy
Drop-in Clinics

”

I hope all
involved in future
courses have a
similar experience
and results as
my own.
Patient

Self-Management Group
Neurology Services

• Our Children’s Speech and Language Therapy
Service piloted drop-in sessions for parents
concerned about their child’s speech and
language, enabling them to get an immediate
answer and advice in nine different locations
in Watford and Hemel Hempstead and
plan to introduce them in Stevenage from
April 2012.

• We developed a combined service with
West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust for patients
with deep vein thrombosis (blood clots),
improving access to scans and treatment and
reducing referrals between organisations.
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During 2011/12 the need to increase productivity
by introducing innovative ways of working
whilst maintaining and improving quality of
care remained as important as it was last year.
We wanted to support more of our staff to
contribute to improvements and in the 2011
annual staff survey 68% (higher than the
national average of 65%) reported that they
were able to do so. Our clinical staff, with the
support of our dedicated Transformation Team,
built on the innovative and transformational
developments they introduced in 2010/11,
realising some tangible benefits for patients,
staff and the Trust.
• We rolled out the Productive Ward and
LEAN thinking into all 12 bed-based units,
concentrating on embedding the foundations
of these approaches to support the staff to
drive forward and shape quality improvements
for their patients and staff.
• We introduced the Productive Community
Service into 15 of our integrated community
teams and seven of our specialist services.
• We made the most of technology by
introducing the use of laptop computers
to support our clinical staff in ‘mobile
working’, the use of data capture pens to
reduce the need for dictation and typing,
and telephone conferencing to reduce the
need for travel.
• We wanted more of our teams to have started
this improvement journey during the year
but service restructure and vacancies in our
teams have affected our progress.

Productive Ward in Practice
By improving the information available ‘at a glance’
and the effectiveness and efficiency of the nursing
handovers at one of our bed-based units, the team
was able to release the equivalent of 208 nursing
shifts per year to provide direct care for their patients.
The learning and improvements are being introduced
into the other bed-based units.
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Innovation in Practice
The health care team at HMP The Mount involved
their prisoners in new ways in 2011/12 to help
them in delivering effective health care:
• by involving prisoners in developing a booklet on
self-help for minor ailments
• by appointing prisoners as champions and
advisers on smoking cessation
• by involving prisoners in the refurbishment of
treatment rooms, as well as contributing artwork
and their ideas to the colour schemes as part of
their NVQ studies; an award winning project for
Enhancing the Healing Environment on 2011.
The health care team at HMP The Mount were the
first prison in the United Kingdom to go live on the
Choose and Book system for arranging hospital
appointments. If this ‘test period’ is successful, it
will maximise the availability of prison escorts and
reduce cancelled appointments, reducing waiting
times for prisoners and increasing efficiencies for
the hospitals and the prison.
In 2012/13, the prison dental service will explore
the introduction of digital X-rays which can be
reviewed by specialists when outside the prison
itself, and reduce delays in providing treatment.

Mobile Working in Practice
After a successful pilot in 2010/11, 360 of our
health visitors and school nurses were provided
with laptop computers. They can now access the
electronic records of their patients, their emails
and electronic calendar wherever they are
within Hertfordshire.
The mother of a three week old baby needed urgent
breast-feeding advice but was not able to drive after
her caesarean section and get to the drop-in clinic.
Having phoned the office for advice at 9.05am,
she was seen by a health visitor at 11.00am on
the same morning. The team leader was able to
view the calendars of the health visitors and
allocate the visit to one of them who was close by.
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Understanding quality in our
developing organisation
Learning from ourselves and learning
from others
During 2011/12 we strengthened the Board’s
leadership of quality improvement through the
five quality priorities, the work of the Healthcare
Governance Committee and its sub-committees,
and the work of the transformation team.
The Board maintained its focus on quality by
members’ visits to services and sites, briefings,
‘deep dives’ into services and the use of the
improved integrated performance report at
every meeting. During 2011/12 other key actions
to support quality assurance have been:
• monthly assessments of the quality of our
care and our governance submitted to the
strategic health authority, and their monthly
management of our performance
• improved reports to the Board on our serious
incidents and patient experience
• supporting the monthly reviews of
performance at business unit and service
level by a series of dashboards and
scorecards, including those for assurance
of compliance with the CQC’s essential
standards of quality and safety
• a programme of reviews of services by
our Healthcare Governance Committee to
support quality improvement or to scrutinise
quality issues. In 2011/12, these were
carried out in services provided to patients
with urinary catheters, patients with
pressure ulcers and patients with diabetes

• routine and unannounced visits by members
of our Quality and Governance directorate
into service areas, reviewing these for patient
experience, safety and service delivery, with
observations fed back to the services
• a systematic review of the effectiveness of
our Healthcare Governance Committee and
its sub-committees
• audits on our CQC self-assessment process,
how patient feedback is used in front-line
services, and the content and data quality in
our Quality Account
• development of our Quality Strategy outlining
our ambitions for the quality of services our
patients and their carers will experience over
the next two years.
In 2012/13 our internal assurance will be
strengthened further. The Board will hear ‘patient
stories’ first-hand as a prelude to their Board
meetings, and they will receive a report which
integrates learning from complaints, litigation,
incidents and issues brought to the attention
of our PALS, and we will develop a set of
indicators for all our services which will go
from patient to Board level.
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NHS Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire LINk

NHS Hertfordshire undertook four quality
assurance visits into our services during 2011/12.

Hertfordshire LINk undertook one Enter and
View visit during 2011/12, visiting Gossoms
End bed-based unit in April 2011 as part of its
review of nutritional care for elderly people in
six health and six social care settings in
Hertfordshire between March and June 2011.
LINk reported that Gossoms End should be
“singled out for high praise” for the quality of
its food and that it “is a very well run facility”
with “staff who have a very positive attitude
to their work and are understandably very
proud of their unit” and that “patients are
very satisfied with the care given”. Since the
visit, patients have their printed menu a day
in advance for their perusal, more staff have
been trained in dementia awareness, and staff
are working with patients and their carers to
ensure they have the information they need
throughout their stay and on their discharge.

Visits to our integrated community teams in
the Watford localities in December 2011 and
in Hoddesdon and Crossbrook Street localities
in February 2012, focused on the quality of
assessment and treatment for patients with
pressure ulcers following an increase in severe
pressure ulcers reported as serious incidents
by these localities. NHS Hertfordshire was
assured that there was no systematic failure
across our services but concluded that there
were improvements needed in the Watford
localities. The clinical teams, supported by
senior managers and our Quality & Governance
directorate were already working hard to
improve the standards in pressure ulcer
management in the Watford localities, and
we will continue to seek our own internal
assurance of the improvements in the quality
of care being provided. NHS Hertfordshire and
the Clinical Commissioning Groups will support
our challenging work with pressure ulcer
reduction through one of our CQUINs in 2012/13
and seek their ongoing assurance through our
regular clinical quality contract meetings.
A visit into Langley House in March 2012
focused on patients’ experience and our
learning from incidents, which were both
commended. Improvements to enhance the
experience of patients with dementia were
recommended and NHS Hertfordshire will
support us getting more timely mental health
care and in improving the information transfer
between organisations in Hertfordshire.

As part of our joint working with LINk to
develop their approach for unannounced
visits, we will undertake some visits into our
bed-based units together during 2012/13.
Representatives from Hertfordshire LINk were
members of the Patient Environment Action
Team (PEAT) who assessed our bed-based
units in 2012. Our PEAT scores can be found
on our website at www.hertschs.nhs.uk

An unannounced visit to Danesbury bed-based
unit in November 2011 undertaken jointly by
NHS Hertfordshire’s Designated Nurse for
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults and our
Assistant Director of Quality & Governance
confirmed that staff awareness of procedures
for safeguarding vulnerable adults had
increased amongst all staff further to the
concern raised by a relative of a service user
which gave rise to the responsive review of
Danesbury by the CQC in June 2011.
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Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Prisons
The annual inspection of the prison by
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Prisons (HMIP)
was undertaken early and as an unannounced
visit during October 2011. In the final report
published in March 2012 HMIP were very
positive about the healthcare prisoners receive,
providing additional assurance of its quality
over and above that submitted quarterly against
the Prison Health Performance & Quality
Indicators to Offender Health. Progress against
the recommendations will be monitored by the
Prison’s Health Delivery Group and reported
to the Prison Partnership Board.

Hertfordshire Overview and
Scrutiny Committee
Members of the Hertfordshire Health Topic
Group of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
visited several of our services throughout the
year, including our Health Visitor Services in
May 2011, our School Nursing Services in
February 2012 and our Neurological Services
in March 2012.
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Improving our staff through continuous
learning and innovation

“

”

All the staff
are a real credit to
the NHS.”

“

Patient

Sexual Health Services

”

The staff
are extremely
professional,
helpful and
enthusiastic.
Patient

Children’s
Physiotherapy Service

We wanted to maintain an empowered,
engaged and supported workforce capable
of delivering the high quality of healthcare we
strive for. In our national staff survey in 2011
94% of staff (above the national average) agreed
that their role makes a difference to patients.
• We developed and extensively piloted our
new appraisal system based on our Trust
values and the behaviours which represent
them, and we increased the rate of staff
undertaking appraisals in year to 82.1%
from 69.5% in 2010/11
• We developed training with other trusts
and the University of Hertfordshire to support
many of our staff in developing their skills
and competencies for shared areas of
clinical priority.
• We increased the number of practice teachers
in our Health Visiting services to support the
fast growing number of student health visitors,
working closely with our experienced health
visitor mentors.
• We introduced a new system of on-line
learning that staff can access at a time and
place to suit them, helping to increase the
uptake of training.
• We continued to develop the leadership
capability of our clinical leaders, senior
managers, Executive and Board members
through training and induction programmes,
action learning sets, secondments, project
work, shadowing, coaching and access to
regional strategic leadership programmes,
and new business skills programmes.
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• We trained 13 additional coaches to
support both our internal and regional
leadership development and we started
work on a Hertfordshire coaching and
mentoring register.
• We supported our nine feedback facilitators
in their reaccreditation in the new NHS
Leadership 360° Framework.
• We supported our staff and managers to
maintain their own health and wellbeing
during these demanding times of change,
through the wellbeing programmes
developed by the County Workforce
Leadership Group.
• We built on our engagement and involvement
with staff through our Board2Patient site
visits, our Listening to You road shows, our
weekly Notice Board, monthly Team Brief,
our new Foundation Trust newsletter, our
regular meetings with representatives of
trade unions and professional organisations,
and our induction days that introduce all
our new staff to our vision and values and
commitment to quality.
To build on our engagement and involvement
of staff throughout the first year as a Community
NHS Trust, we held a celebration event. The event
gave staff the opportunity to meet colleagues,
view examples of good practice, and to hear
patient stories which demonstrated the scope
and range of services which we deliver.
Staff were able to ask questions of the Board
and to recognise staff who had provided an
excellent service or come up with innovative
ideas to make their teams more effective
and efficient and improve the experiences
for patients.
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In 2012/13 we will transform the way we work
through new arrangements in how we manage
our organisation to ensure we are able to deliver
high value healthcare and to help us to meet
the challenges and opportunities presented
by the changing NHS and our own journey to
Foundation Trust.
We will continue to develop our staff into a
flexible, skilled and motivated workforce through
our Workforce and Organisational Development
Strategy and to work collaboratively with other
NHS organisations in the region through our
links into the County Workforce Group.

Celebrating Community Services
On 10 November 2011 over 400 staff and some
special guests came together to celebrate our first
year as a Community NHS Trust.
Staff from different clinical and corporate services
in the Trust set up over 30 stalls to showcase the
good work they are doing.
Patients shared their stories of their experiences
in a film show, with two year old twins winning the
hearts of all.
Runners up from the 80 staff nominated for the
Leading Lights awards were recognised after a
Meet the Board session and the winners received
their prizes.
“I was optimistic that we would generate a healthy
atmosphere and offer colleagues a chance to see
some of the excellent work going on in the Trust.
But never in my dreams did I anticipate the fantastic
buzz you were able to create in showcasing your
services in the best possible light. It was one of the
best events I have ever had the pleasure to be part of.”
Derek Smith, Interim Chief Executive
“What a great example of patient experience
and patient stories it was to have a family with us
to celebrate.”
Clare Hawkins, Director of Quality and Governance
and Chief Nurse

Our strong values-based approach will directly
contribute to being an organisation of choice
for our service users and an employer of choice
for our staff.
• We will fully implement our new appraisal
system, reinforcing the importance which we
place on our values, and continue to increase
the appraisal rate towards our target of 90%.

L EAD IN G
L IGH TS

• We will recognise and celebrate staff
contributions to excellent care through an
ongoing Leading Lights programme.
• We will develop a competence framework
to enable us to identify and implement the
additional skills that our staff will need to
deliver new models of care in these rapidly
changing times.
• We will build on our training programme, and
focus on the skills our staff need to support
patients to plan their own care and to meet
the needs of people with learning disabilities
who use our services.
• We will build on our work with the Department
of Health led project, Embedding Ambassadors
in Community Health to raise awareness of
our staff to the healthcare needs and cultural
preferences of the diverse population.
• We will expand and develop the leadership
and capability of our workforce by providing
a range of development opportunities and
introducing a formal professional
leadership forum.
• We will re-launch the Lone Worker Device
project, improving the safety of our staff
when working alone.
• We will introduce mini on-line surveys for
staff to complete should they wish to which
will help us to monitor staff experience
and morale through our organisational
transformation and journey to Foundation
Trust status.
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Our staff feedback
63% of the staff that we asked gave us feedback in our 2011 national staff survey;
an improvement on last year’s 55% and above the national average.
Key findings in 2011
compared to other
Community Trusts
Better than average
17

National Staff Survey results

HCT HCT
2010 2011

National average
for community
trusts in 2011

Understanding
the score

Overall level of staff engagement

3.61

3.69

3.66

Higher is better
(maximum 5)

Overall level of staff satisfaction

3.55

3.59

3.57

Higher is better

Staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and
patient care they are able to deliver

70%

73%

73%

Higher is better
(maximum 100%)

Staff agreeing that their role makes a difference
to patients

93%

94%

92%

Higher is better

Staff that would recommend the Trust as a place
to work or receive treatment

3.40

3.52

3.52

Higher is better

Staff reporting effective team working

3.84

3.86

3.82

Higher is better

Staff feeling valued by their work colleagues

82%

83%

81%

Higher is better

Staff motivation at work

3.83

3.91

3.85

Higher is better

Staff reporting good communication between
senior management and staff

27%

33%

29%

Higher is better

Trust commitment to work-life balance

3.54

3.63

3.51

Higher is better

Staff feeling work pressure

3.29

3.24

2.95

Lower is better

Staff beliving the Trust provides equal opportunities
for career progression or promotiion

94%

96%

92%

Higher is better

Staff intention to leave jobs

2.70

2.53

2.61

Lower is better

Staff experiencing discrimination at work in
last 12 months

8%

7%

10%

Lower is better

Staff appraised in last 12 months

78%

76%

82%

Higher is better

Staff with an agreed development plan as part
of their appraisal

70%

66%

73%

Higher is better

Staff received job relevant training, learning
and development

82%

77%

82%

Higher is better

Staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents
witnessed in the previous month

97%

95%

97%

Higher is better

Average
12
Worse than average
5
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the Quality Accounts
The Directors are required under the
Health Act 2009, National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 and
National Health Service (Quality Account)
Amendment Regulation 2011 to prepare
Quality Accounts for each financial year.
The Department of Health has issued guidance on the form and content of annual Quality
Accounts (which incorporate the above legal requirements). In preparing the Quality Account,
directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:
• the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the
period covered;
• the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and accurate;
• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to review to
confirm that they are working effectively in practice;
• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Account is
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions,
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and the Quality Account has been prepared in
accordance with Department of Health guidance.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the Quality Account.
By Order of the Board

Signed:

Date:

Declan O’Farrell Chairman

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive Officer
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Assurance Statement from Internal Auditors

An Internal Audit of the quality accounts
process was undertaken in March 2012 by
the Trust’s Internal Auditors, RSM Tenon,
as part of the 2011/12 Internal Audit plan.
The audit focussed on providing assurance that robust governance arrangements were in
place to ensure the production of the quality accounts on a timely basis, including the review
and validation of quality indicators. In addition, as part of the audit, the robustness of data
collection and validation processes for five quality priorities, as detailed below, was reviewed:
• Priority 3 - to further reduce the number if reported patient falls within our bed units;
• Priority 4 - to extend the good practice in reducing infections from our bed-based units into
the community and to continue to reduce Clostridium difficile rates in our bed-based units.
• CQUIN targets;
• Review of services - participation in clinical audit; and
• Data quality - submission to SUS (Secondary Uses Service).
The results of the audit was that accurate information was being reported to the Board and
within the Quality Account in respect of the above five priorities.
The audit provided substantial assurance that the controls upon which the organisation relies to
manage this risk are suitably designed, consistently applied and effective with no significant
weaknesses identified as part of the audit.
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Formal responses
from stakeholder
organisations
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Response from Hertfordshire LINk

A Pathfinder Local HealthWatch

Hertfordshire LINk’s response to Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT)
Quality Account

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) has provided a detailed and easily
understandable Quality Account that clearly sets out the priorities for the coming
year, why they have been chosen and how these will be achieved. Examples of good
practice such as the research into leg ulcer treatments are presented in the report.

Priority 4: To increase the proportion of patients following an acute Stroke who
experience a positive outcome from their rehabilitation is an important one following
poor reviews by the Care Quality Commission in 2011. Although some good
groundwork has been done to improve the situation a more specific focus in 2012/13
should result in quicker and more effective improvements to stroke care in
Hertfordshire.

Supporting patients and their carers to manage their long-term condition (Priority 2)
also impacts on the wellbeing of patients and can reduce the need for emergency
care and is therefore a good priority to target.

Many of the current statistics supplied in the report focus on ‘bed based units’ and it
is therefore good to see that future reporting will include patients at home.

Although there has been a steady improvement in the gaining and understanding of
patient experience, LINk expects to see more evidence that the views of the
vulnerable and their carers and those in the protected characteristics, (as identified
in the Equality Delivery Systems), are taken into account in service access and
design. This is not yet evident.

Collaborative working across organisational boundaries is essential for a provider
that ‘touches a very large part of the population in Hertfordshire’. LINk hopes that the
Trust will work hard to develop these relationships particularly with the new Clinical
Commissioning Groups for the benefit of Hertfordshire residents.

Hertfordshire LINk values the working relationship it has with Hertfordshire
Community NHS Trust and looks forward to continued improvements in patient
experience.

Henry Goldberg, Chair Hertfordshire LINk, May 2012
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Response from NHS Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Quality Account 2011/12

The PCT in conjunction with the two Hertfordshire CCGs has undertaken a review of the
information provided within the Quality Account and checked the accuracy of data within the
account. Where the data relates to contractual reporting it corresponds with data submitted
during the year as part of the on-going contract monitoring process.

The PCT is pleased to see that the Trust has clearly set out its performance for 2011/12 against the
standards and ambitions identified within the report.
The Trust has clearly participated in the national clinic audits and the National Confidential
Enquiries of the National Clinical Audits. We would be keen to see the Trust participate in the
National Adult Diabetes Audit when the electronic record system is able to provide the
relevant information. We note otherwise that the trust participated in all other eligible national
audits. We were a little surprised at the 150°/o data submission for the National Parkinson's
Audit 2011.
NHS Hertfordshire welcomes the Trust's rapid action and progress in implementing actions
required by CQC following inspections to Danesbury Neurological Service, St Peter's ward
and Potters Bar Community Hospital. We are pleased that the Trust is now able to report all
services as CQC compliant.

NHS Hertfordshire welcomes the progress made against the quality priorities set in 2011/12.
In particular the significant increases in patients admitted to your bed based units who were
assessed for their risk of malnutrition within twenty four hours of admission, and the increase
in those assessed by your integrated community teams.
We also welcome the continued reduction in Clostridium Difficile infections in the Trust's bed
based units, and would wish to see this focus continue given the challenging ceilings set for
2012/13.
During 2011/12 the Trust contributed to Hertfordshire wide Patient Safety work and will be
using the national Patient Safety Thermometer during 2012/13 to measure of the number of
'harms' at a set time each month. This tool specifically measures prevalence of pressure
ulcers, falls and urinary infections for those patients with an indwelling catheter. It is the
commissioner's expectation that we will see a downward trend in the numbers of harm
reported.

We note that the Trust achieved a 22% reduction in falls during 2011/12; and that this work is
not to be taken forward as a continued Quality priority for 2012/13 but "will be embedded into
the Trust's quality improvement agenda for 2012/13". Commissioners would wish to see this
continue as an area of explicit focus for the Trust as the number of falls resulting in a fracture
has risen.
The Trust is to be congratulated in that the numbers of the most serious types of Pressure
Ulcers (grade 4) were reduced. However it was disappointing that the Trust failed to reduce
overall numbers of severe pressure ulcers (grade 3 and 4) by 50% as planned during
2011/12. The Trust has worked in an open and collaborative manner with the PCT where
wound care practice has been found to less than satisfactory and a number of key actions
have been put into place to bring about the necessary changes in practice. The Trust is
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committed to the Midlands and East ambition to eliminate all avoidable grade 2, 3 and 4
pressure ulcers by December 2012. This is a very challenging target and the PCT will be
offering support and measuring progress against trajectory closely.

The Trust is to be congratulated on work undertaken to gather patient experience information
in a more systematic way. Improving patient experience across all areas of the trust must
continue be an area of key focus for 2012/13.The Trust will be incentivised through a CQUIN
scheme to introduce the use of the Family and Friends test (net promoter score).which will
enable both commissioners and the Trust to monitor patient experience scores on a monthly
basis and benchmark performance against comparator organisations.
The PCT wishes to see improvements in the care of patients in the last year of their life. To
this end, we have used the CQUIN process to support the wider implementation of end of life
treatment plans and advanced care plans for those patients identified to be within the last 12
months of life.
Quality Priorities for 2012/13 are clear. We are pleased to see that the Trust plans to improve
support for patients living with a long term condition. The result from the national outpatient
survey 2011 highlighted within the Quality Account would support this. However we note the
proposal and measurement to set a baseline is different and would therefore ask the Trust to
review this once baseline data is obtained.
NHS Hertfordshire welcomes the progress made by the Trust in 2011/12 in the quality
improvements of its services and the continued ambitions and targets it has set itself for
2012/13.

Jane Halpin
Chief Executive
NHS Hertfordshire
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Response from Hertfordshire County Council's
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

QUALITY ACCOUNTS
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 2011 - 2012
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
COMMENTARY
Introduction
This is the review of quality issues with the Trust throughout the year
(2011/12) and engagement with the Quality Account.
TRUST NAME: Hertfordshire Community Trust (HCT)
DATE: 15 May 2012
SIGNATURE:

Nick Hollinghurst, Vice Chair HSC
PURPOSE OF REPORT:
This commentary reflects the views (and supporting evidence, where
available) of Hertfordshire County Council Hertfordshire County Council
Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) for the period April 2011 – March 2012
Quality of engagement with Hertfordshire County Council (HSC)
HCT is the most recent of the Herts trusts. It has worked hard to outline its
remit to members through HSC and participation at topic groups. It
participates both as a community health provider and in its role as a key
partner agency with the authority’s social care.
In addition
• there is regular exchange of information between officers to take forward
the work of HSC
• site visits are welcomed
• member queries (often on behalf of residents) are answered promptly
• there is increasing understanding of the relationship with Health Scrutiny
• good support of scrutiny
Quality Account Engagement
The Quality Account was brought to HSC as part of the programme for
involving stakeholders in the identification of priorities. Progress on the QA
for 2011/12 has been monitored in year through a topic group. The Trust has
followed the same process in identifying priorities for 2012/13 and a date has
been set for the progress update.

1
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Health Scrutiny Committees (HSC) attended & contribution
• 9 Feb 2012 in year finance update
• 14 Dec 2011 trust update
• 19 Oct 2011 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP). HSC
dedicated the meeting to gaining a better understanding of QIPP. The
Trust provided detailed information in response to questions distributed in
advance of the meeting which members then considered in greater detail
in small groups. This was the first stage in HSC’s budget scrutiny.
Members appreciated the efforts made by the Trust to provide accurate
and timely information in lay person’s language.
• 19 Oct 2011 Intermediate Care
Topic Groups supported
• 28 Mar 2012 Stroke Care topic group
• 15 Mar 2012 Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) Monitoring of
Recommendations topic group for Quality Accounts (2012/13)
• 6 Mar 2012 Integrated Discharge topic group
• 28 & 29 Feb 2012 Medicine Management topic group
• 23 Feb 2012 School Nursing topic group
• 8 Dec 2011 HSC Monitoring of Recommendations topic group for Health
Visiting progress update
• 8 Dec 2011 HSC Monitoring of Recommendations topic group for Quality
Accounts (2010/11)
• 8 June 2011 HSC Monitoring of Recommendations topic group for budget
• May 2011 Health Visitor Capacity/delivery review topic group
Scrutiny Support
• 6 March 2012 hosted a visit to HCT (as part of the Stroke topic group)
• 23 February 2012 hosted a visit to Watford Hospital (as part of the Stroke
topic group)
• 9 Feb 2012 Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) Nursing Seminar
• 19 Oct 2011 the Trust reiterated its commitment to the HSC Concordat
agreement. The Concordat clarifies relations between scrutiny and health,
especially around expected engagement and consultation practice.
• 16 May 2011 hosted a visit to Waltham Cross Clinic (as part of the Health
Visitors topic group)
• 17 May 2011 hosted a visit to Hertford County Hospital Clinic (as part of
the Health Visitors topic group)
PRIORITY 1: To increase the number of patients who feel that they have
the information which they need, communicated in a clear and
understandable way
Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) comments:
HSC commend this priority: a topic group recently scrutinised medicine
management and a key issue was health professionals, including
pharmacists, communicating more effectively with patients and carers to
provide clear information about the medicines prescribed. Members will be
interested to monitor this priority

2
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PRIORITY 2: To increase the number of patients and their carers feeling
supported to manage their long-term condition
Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) comments:
HSC commend this priority: a topic group recently scrutinised medicine
management and a key issue was supporting patients with long term
conditions. Enhanced patient self care would ensure better patient
understanding of the medicines prescribed and compliance which could be
achieved through greater patient involvement in decision making. Members
will be interested to monitor this priority.
PRIORITY 3: To reduce the number of patients using indwelling urinary
catheters and consequently reduce the number of catheter associated
urinary tract infections
Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) comments:
HSC supports this priority
PRIORITY 4: To increase the proportion of patients following an acute
Stroke who experience a positive outcome from their rehabilitation
Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) comments:
HSC commend this priority: following a poor CQC inspection January 2011 a
topic group recently scrutinised stroke care in Hertfordshire and will be
interested to monitor this priority
PRIORITY 5: To eliminate all avoidable category 2, 3 and 4 pressure
ulcers developed by patients within our care
Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) comments:
HSC supports this priority

3
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Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust would
like to thank all those who have contributed
to this Quality Account during the course
of the year.
How to provide feedback
We hope you find this Quality Account a
useful, easy-to understand document that
gives you meaningful information about
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust and
the services we provide.
If you have any feedback or suggestions on
how we could improve our Quality Account,
please let us know by:
emailing: communications@hchs.nhs.uk
or calling: 01707 388038
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities
Finance
as the Accountable Officer of the Trust
Statement of accounting officer’s responsibilities
The Chief Executive of the NHS has
designated that the Chief Executive should be
the Accountable Officer to the Trust.
The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the Accountable Officers
Memorandum issued by the Department of Health. These include ensuring that:
• there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds and assets and
assist in the implementation of corporate governance
• value for money is achieved from the resources available to the Trust
• the expenditure and income of the Trust has been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them
• effective and sound financial management systems are in place, and
• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of State with the
approval of the Treasury to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end of the
financial year and the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for
the year.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
my letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer.

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the Accounts
The Directors are required under the
National Health Service Act 2006 to
prepare accounts for each financial year.
The Secretary of State, with the approval of the Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of the income and expenditure, recognised gains
and losses and cash flows for the year. In preparing those accounts, Directors are required to:
• apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of State with the
approval of the Treasury
• make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the accounts.
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust and to enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned direction of the Secretary
of State. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the accounts.

By order of the Board

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive Officer

Signed:

Date:

Sean McKeever Director of Finance and Commerce
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Statement of Governance 2011-2012

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Trust Board is accountable for internal control. As Accountable Officer and Chief Executive
of this Board, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports
the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives. I also have responsibility for
safeguarding the public funds and the organisation’s assets for which I am personally
responsible as set out in the Accountable Officer Memorandum.
My responsibilities as Accountable Officer in respect of internal controls are supported by the
Audit Committee, the Healthcare Governance Committee, the Finance, Business & Investment
Committee, the Executive Team and established sub-committees and groups as described under
“The Governance Framework of the Trust” below. Controls are also reviewed by the Trust’s
internal and external auditors.
The Trust is held to account for its performance by the NHS Midlands and East (Strategic Health
Authority), through the SHA’s “Provider Management Regime”, which is modelled on Monitor’s
Compliance Framework for NHS Trusts.
The Trust also works closely with NHS Hertfordshire (Primary Care Trust), who is the Trust’s main
commissioner. This is principally in respect of performance against the contract for provision of
community services.
I am also the nominated officer for the Trust in respect of registration with the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) under the Health & Social Care Act 2006. The Trust was registered in 2010
with no conditions attached to registration.
The Trust has and continues to develop its relationships with Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs), and works in conjunction with all other NHS organisations in Hertfordshire in respect of
“health economy- wide” issues or on specific matters of mutual interest.
Engagement with services users is through a variety of means and an observer from Hertfordshire
Local Involvement Network (LINk) attends meetings of the Trust Board.
The Trust works with Hertfordshire County Council Health and Community Services and Children
Schools and Families (CSF) to support shared or organisation-specific statutory responsibilities or
health care initiatives. The County Council, District and Borough Councils also have an overview of
the Trust’s performance, through the Health Scrutiny Committee, which is hosted by Hertfordshire
County Council.

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-2012

123

Annual Accounts

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
The Trust Board is supported by the following Committees, with membership and attendance
records for meetings in 2011/12 as indicated (number attended/total meetings held in year
eligible to attend).
Trust
Audit Healthcare
Finance Remuneration Foundation
board Committee Governance Business &
Committee
Trust
Committee Investment
Steering
Committee
Group
Chair and Non Executive Directors
Total number of meetings
held in year

7

6

12

12

2

11

6/7

N/A

Member
7/12

Member
10/12

Member
2/2

N/A

Alan Russell
Non Executive Director
and Vice Chair

Member
7/7

N/A

N/A

Member
10/12

N/A

Chair
11/11

Anne McPherson
Non Executive Director

Member
Member
7/7 (from March
2012)
1/1

Chair
12/12

Member
12/12

Chair
2/2

N/A

Julian Laite
Non Executive Director

Member
6/7

N/A

Chair
9/12

N/A

Member
6/11

Jeff Phillips
Non Executive Director
(from September 2011)

Member
3/4

Member
Member
(and Chair (from March
from March
2012)
2012)
1/1
2/2

Member
7/7

N/A

N/A

Alison White
Non Executive Director
(until February 2012)

Member
6/6

Chair
(until Feb
2012)

N/A

Member
(until Feb
2012)

Member
(until Feb
2012)

N/A

David Law
Chief Executive
(from March 2012)

Member
1/1

N/A

N/A

Member
1/1

N/A

Member
0/0

Derek Smith
Interim CEO

Member
6/6

N/A

N/A

Member
8/11

N/A

Member
10/10

Karen Taylor
Acting CEO
(until May 2011)
Deputy CEO
(until February 2012

Member
4/6

N/A

N/A

Member
8/10

N/A

Member
6/11

Declan O’Farrell
Trust Chair

Member
5/6

Executive Directors
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Audit Healthcare
Finance Remuneration Foundation
Trust
board Committee Governance Business &
Committee
Trust
Committee Investment
Steering
Committee
Group
Executive Directors continued
Total number of meetings
held in year

7

6

12

12

2

11

Member
2/2

N/A

N/A

Member
3/3

N/A

Member
3/3

John Summers
Member
Interim Director of Finance
2/3
& Commerce
(July-December 2011)

N/A

N/A

Member
4/6

N/A

Member
6/6

Sean McKeever
Director of Finance
& Commerce
(from December 2011)

Member
2/2

N/A

N/A

Member
4/4

N/A

Member
3/3

Dr Joel Bonnet
Medical Director
(until September 2011)

Member
3/3

N/A

Member
4/6

Member
0/5

N/A

N/A

Dr John Riordan
Member
Interim Medical Director
1/2
(November-December 2012)

N/A

Member
1/3

Member
0/2

N/A

N/A

Dr Hemal Desai
Medical Director
(from February 2012)

Member
1/1

N/A

Member
1/2

Member
2/2

N/A

N/A

Clare Hawkins
Director of Quality &
Governance/Chief Nurse

Member
1/1

N/A

Member
1/2

Member
2/2

N/A

N/A

Julie Hoare
Director of Operations
( from March 2012)

Member
1/1

N/A

Member
1/1

Member
1/1

N/A

Member
0/0

Gloria Barber
Director Workforce
& OD
(until june 2011)

Non
Voting
Member
0/2

N/A

N/A

Member
0/3

N/A

Member
0/3

Krystyna Ruszkiewicz
Non
Interim Director Workforce Voting
& OD
Member
(until june 2011)
4/4

N/A

N/A

Member
6/8

N/A

Member
5/7

Alison Shelley
Director of HR & OD
(from March 2012)

N/A

N/A

Member
1/1

N/A

Member
0/0

Gordon Flack
Director of Finance
& Commerce
(until July 2011)

Non
Voting
Member
1/1
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The Healthcare Governance Committee is supported by a number of Sub-Committees as follows:
• Clinical Compliance Sub-Committee
• Clinical Audit and Clinical Effectiveness Sub-Committee
• Infection Control Sub-Committee
• Patient Experience Sub-Committee
• Patient Safety Sub-Committee
• Safeguarding Sub-Committee
The Board and CEO as Accountable Officer are also supported by the Executive Team,
which consists of all Executive Directors. The Executive Team meets weekly.
There are also a number of Sub-Groups, which report to the Executive Team. These are:
• Business Development & Innovation Group
• Capital Investment Group
• Emergency Planning & Resilience Group
• Health & Safety Group
• Information Governance Group
• Procurement Review Group
• Workforce & OD Group
There is also a Joint Negotiating Committee, which consists of managerial and staff representatives.
All Committees, Sub-Committees and Groups operate within Terms of Reference which are
approved by the “parent” committee. The minutes of Board Committee meetings are received
and discussed at Board meetings and the Chairs of each committee make a verbal report on the
committee’s activities and any issues for the Board’s attention.
Key items highlighted to the Board by the Audit Committee in 2011/12 were:
• Endorsement of the Trust’s Internal and External Audit Plans for 2011/12
• Recommendation to adopt the Annual Accounts, Annual Report, Statement on Internal
Control and Quality Account for 2011/12
• Endorsement of the Annual Counter-Fraud Plan 2011/12
• Change in Terms of Reference for the Committee following establishment of a Finance,
Business and Investment Committee (thereby transferring the role of financial monitoring to
the new committee)
• Consideration of the Head on Internal Audit’s (HOIA) Opinion and Annual Report and External
Audit Annual Governance Letter
• Completion of a self-assessment of Effectiveness by the Committee
• Outcomes of regular review of the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) and High Level Risk
Register (HLRR) and that a review of the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) had been
requested, led by the Interim CEO
• Receipt of progress reports from internal and external audit
• Concern at the cost of the external audit fee
• Consideration of Internal Audit Reports completed in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan
and compliance therewith

126

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-2012

Annual Accounts

• The publication of an updated version of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook
• Review of the Trust’s Risk Action Plan
• A review of the Financial Shared Services (FSA) Service Level Agreement (SLA)
• Reviews of (i) The Counter-Fraud and Bribery & Corruption Strategy and (ii) The Risk
Management Strategy and Policy (iii) The Bribery Act 2010 Action Plan
• Progress monitoring of achieving NHSLA Level 1 and in in-depth review of Information
Governance (IG) and progress towards achieving NHS IG Toolkit Level 2
• A proposal for the role of the Audit Committee in clinical governance
• Review and endorsement of the Internal and External Audit Plans for 2012/13
• Reviews of (i) losses and special payments and (ii) tender waivers
• The timetable for the production of the 2011/12 Annual Accounts, Annual Report, Annual
Governance Statement and Quality Account
• Informal reviews of Audit Committee meetings
The Board has been in transition during 2011/12 with most key executive director posts
covered by interim appointments. For this reason the Board did not undertake a review of its
own effectiveness in 2011/12. However, there were two “Board Observation” exercises carried
out as part of the FT process by external parties and recommendations and actions arising from
the observations were put in place. As from May 2012, the Board will be at full complement of
executive and non-executive director posts and a full self-assessment will be carried out in year.
Three Board Committees, (Audit, Healthcare Governance and the FT Steering Group) have
carried out self-assessment exercises of their effectiveness during the year.
The Board has not formally subscribed to the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the
Financial Reporting Council in 2010, as not all of its content is relevant to public sector bodies.
The Trust is however aiming to comply with those provisions and principles which are relevant
or which are otherwise reflected in similar guidance or direction to NHS Trusts.
The Board receives a number of standing reports which act as assurances. These include a monthly
“Integrated Performance Report”, which covers the domains of patient safety, quality, finance
and workforce. Progress against key performance indicators are also included, and this includes
performance against national targets as identified under the NHS Operating Framework and also
local targets as identified by NHS Hertfordshire as the principal, local commissioner.
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RISK ASSESSMENT
Risks to the achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives are identified by the Executive Team
and entered on the Board Assurance Framework (BAF). The BAF sets out:
1 The risk and the strategic objective it relates to
2 Lead Director responsibility
3 Controls in place
4 Assurances (external and internal)
5 Actions (And timescales) required to mitigate the risk
6 Progress on actions
7 Scoring based on a 5 x 5 matrix which measures likelihood of the risk occurring x consequences
should the risk materialise. Scores are identified as (a) an initial risk score (ie assuming no
controls or assurances are in place), (b) a current risk score and (c) a residual risk score, which
is the level which once achieved represents the level at which the Board considers the risk
acceptable or no further mitigation or control is reasonably practicable. At this point a risk is
removed from the Framework and entered on an archive.
The BAF is submitted for review and discussion to every meeting of the Audit Committee and
the Board.
Risks identified at Business Unit Level are entered on Business Unit Risk Registers. Risks scoring
15 or over, are then recorded on a “High Level Risk Register” (HLRR). Both of these follow the
same model and content as the BAF.
The HLRR is also considered monthly by the Executive Team and is submitted to the Audit
Committee and the Board meeting in public. Clinical risks are also examined by the Healthcare
Governance Committee.
Risks on the HLRR which are considered by the Executive Team to have a strategic impact are
escalated to the Board Assurance Framework.
The “Top Five” strategic risks on the BAF and current risk scores as at 31 March 2012 were as
below. In 2012/13, the Trust’s strategic objectives are to be reviewed, and this will impact on the
risks identified in the Assurance Framework.
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Consequences
x likelihood

Score

Increased market plurality and competition, and increased use of "Any
Qualified Provider" contracting model, may result in loss of existing or
future business.

4x4=

16

Herts QIPP plan fails to make system changes resulting in inadequate
development of community reprovision and consequent adverse impact
on HCT's viability.

4x4=

16

Under developed or lack of embedded information governance systems
and processes may result in serious adverse data incidents which are in
breach of statutory or common law duties attracting legal sanctions
and with significant financial or reputational consequences
for the Trust.

4x4=

16

Available budget is insufficient to meet expenditure which has a
negative impact on the overall Trust financial position and may require
reductions in estate expenditure compromising quality and availability
of provided services

4x4=

16

Failure to manage costs adequately, generate projected revenues or
achieve required CIPs results in not achieving a surplus outturn.

4x4=

16

One of the risks identified concerns information governance and data security.
During 2011/12, the Trust had 11 lapses of data security which were logged and investigated
as serious incidents. These were reported to NHS Hertfordshire and individuals affected were
advised, but none were deemed sufficiently serious or met the guideline criteria for reporting
to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). All data security incidents are reviewed by the
Trust’s Information Governance Group. Changes in practice have been made in some cases to
minimise the risk of repetition. Information Governance policies have also been updated during
the year to meet the requirements of Level 2 of the NHS “Information Governance Toolkit”.
A summary of the lapses in 2011/12 is as follows:
Administration Errors (x 8)
A form was attached to the wrong letter; notes of wrong patient with the same name sent out
in response to an access to health records request; two families were sent wrong reports because
of similar names of their children; the wrong address was typed on to a report; and a report was
put in the wrong envelope.
Postal incident (x 1)
Notes of a meeting containing personal-identifiable data was posted but failed to arrive.
Information disclosed without express consent of patient (x 1)
Information provided to a caller verbally and a report was also sent to the local council without
the consent of the patient.
Theft (x 1)
A member of staff’s house was broken into and a work bag was stolen.
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RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK
The Trust has a Board approved Risk Management Strategy in place which identifies actions for
developing risk management systems and processes.
The Risk Management Strategy is also underpinned by a Risk Management Policy. It is also
supported by various policies and procedures pertinent to risk and covering a range of areas
associated with the Trust’s functions. This includes for example, risk assessment, information
governance, health & safety (including fire safety), counter-fraud, security, clinical practice,
incident reporting and management, financial procedures and emergency preparedness
The principal aim of the Risk Management Strategy is “for the Board, Executive Directors and all
staff to have understanding and ownership of, and commitment to, the control and management
of all reasonably foreseeable risks that may arise within the context of the Trust’s activities”.
Under the policy on risk management, identification and management of risk is also promoted
as being “everyone’s business” and not just an issue for managers. Staff are therefore encouraged
to identify and address risks and if necessary, to submit them for inclusion on their Business
Unit’s risk register.
Following identification and scoring of risks (see “risk assessment” above), risks are recorded on
the relevant risk register (Board Assurance Framework, High Level Risk Register or Business Unit
risk register). Controls and assurances are also identified and recorded.
Controls are measures in place to mitigate the risk from its original score, which is that which
applies if there were no controls in place.
Assurances are sub-divided between internal assurances and external assurances. The former
may include eg standing reports, minutes of meetings where a risk-related issue is discussed and
internal audit reports, which identify areas of weakness and make appropriate recommendations.
External assurances are independent sources, such as external audit, inspection or assessment
reports from regulatory bodies or commissioners with which the Trust has contracts.
Assurances are monitored and “fed through” to the Board through the Committee structure
outlined in “The governance framework of the organisation” (above). More detail on individual
committee roles is also given in “Review of Effectiveness” below.
Gaps in controls and assurances are also recorded, along with actions required to mitigate the
gaps. These are accorded a timescale for completion and progress is reported.
The management of risks is delegated to a named director in the case of strategic risks,
assistant director level in the case of high level risks and service manager or equivalent in the
case of risks recorded in Business Unit risk registers.
Lessons learned from risks which materialise plus sources such as complaints, claims, incidents
and internal or external reports highlighting any areas of weakness are shared throughout
the organisation.
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REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control. My review is informed in a number of ways. The Head of Internal Audit
provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance through the
Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of Internal Audit’s work. The Head
of Internal Audit has reported that based on the work undertaken in 2011/12, significant
assurance can be given that there is a sound system of internal control, designed to meet the
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are being applied consistently.
Executive Directors within the organisation who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the system of internal control provide me with assurance. The Assurance
Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage
the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed. My review
is also informed by:
• Internal Audit Reports
• External Audit
• Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration requirements and outcomes
• CQC Reports
• National Health Service Litigation Authority (NHSLA) “Level” 1 Risk Management Standards
assessment. (The Trust achieved level 1 in December 2011).
• The Trust’s monthly Integrated Performance Report
• Minutes of the Trust Board Committees and Sub-Committees
• Reports from the Local Counter-Fraud Specialist
• Performance submissions to NHS Midlands and East Strategic Health Authority
• Quality review meetings with NHS Hertfordshire
• Board and Executive site visits and “deep dives” into services
• NHS “Information Governance Toolkit” compliance
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control by the Audit Committee, Healthcare Governance Committee
(and its sub-committees) and the Executive Team.
The following have a role in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control as follows:
The Board
The Board has been actively involved in developing and reviewing the Trust’s risk management
processes including receiving and reviewing minutes and Chair’s observations from the Audit
Committee, Health Care Governance Committee and Finance, Business & Investment Committee.
The Board also reviews the Board Assurance Framework and Integrated Performance reports.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has been a directing force in relation to reviewing the framework of internal
control particularly with regard to corporate risk, the Assurance Framework, the High Level Risk
Register and counter fraud.
The Healthcare Governance Committee
The Healthcare Governance Committee is responsible for the governance and management
of clinical risk, including ensuring compliance with regulatory standards and requirements,
adoption of clinical policies and review of clinical aspects of performance, including incidents
and complaints. The Committee is also supported in its work by six sub-committees, as
identified under “The Governance Framework of the Organisation” above. The Committee
also provides assurance to the Board in respect of patient safety, quality of services and
patient experience.
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The Finance, Business & Investment Committee
The Finance, Business & Investment Committee is made up of all members of the Board and
meets monthly. The remit of the Committee is to scrutinise current financial performance and
future financial plans; review financial and business risks; monitor that decisions involving
finance are properly made and to promote good financial practice throughout the Trust.
The Information Governance Group
The Information Governance Group reports to the Executive Team and is responsible for
the governance and management of information associated risk and compliance with the
“NHS Information Governance Toolkit”.
The Executive Team
The Executive Team operationally manages all areas of risk, including the risk and control
framework. The Executive also populates and reviews the Board Assurance Framework and
reviews the High Level Risk Register.
Executive Directors also ensure that key risks have been highlighted and monitored within
their directorates and the necessary action has been taken to address them.
Internal Audit
Internal Audit has reviewed and reported upon control, governance and risk management
processes, based on an audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. Where scope for
improvement was found, recommendations were made and appropriate action plans
agreed with management.

As noted, the Board Assurance Framework identifies gaps in control and gaps in assurance
in relation to the Trust’s principal risks and the actions being taken to address them.
The Healthcare Governance Committee, supported by its Compliance Sub-Committee,
provides assurance as to CQC essential standards of quality and safety.
A plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
My review confirms that Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has a generally sound system
of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives.
Significant Issues
There are no significant issues to report for 2011/12.

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive
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Independent auditor’s report to the Directors of
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
I have audited the financial statements
of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust for
the year ending 31 March 2012 under
the Audit Commission Act 1998.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows
and the related notes.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and the accounting policies directed by the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury
as relevant to the National Health Service in England.
I have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers, and related narrative notes
(contained within the annual report on page 42)
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers, and related narrative notes on page
(contained within the annual report on page 44) and
• the disclosure of pay multiples on page 41.
This report is made solely to the Board of Directors of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust in
accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out
in paragraph 45 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published
by the Audit Commission in March 2010.
Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards require me to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical
Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust's circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Trust; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition, I read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If I become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my report.
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Opinion on financial statements
In my opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust as at
31 March 2012 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended, and
• have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the
Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service
in England.
Opinion on other matters
In my opinion:
• the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in accordance
with the requirements directed by the Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury as
relevant to the National Health Service in England, and
• the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which I report by exception
I report to you if:
• in my opinion the governance statement does not reflect compliance with the Department of
Health's Guidance
• I refer the matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act
1998 because I have a reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to
make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has
taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or
• I issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.
I have nothing to report in these respects.

Conclusion on the Trust's arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
Respective responsibilities of the Trust and auditor
The Trust is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to
review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
I am required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy myself that the
Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires me to
report to you my conclusion relating to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant criteria
specified by the Audit Commission.
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I report if significant matters have come to my attention which prevent me from concluding that
the Trust has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources. I am not required to consider, nor have I considered, whether all aspects of
the Trust's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
I have undertaken my audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to
the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in October 2011,
as to whether the Trust has proper arrangements for:
• securing financial resilience, and
• challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for me to consider
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying myself whether the Trust put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the
year ended 31 March 2012.
I planned my work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on my risk assessment,
I undertook such work as I considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant
respects, the Trust had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of my work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published
by the Audit Commission in October 2011, I am satisfied that, in all significant respects,
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2012.
Certificate
I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit
Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Signed:

Date:

Mark Hodgson District Auditor
Audit Commission, 3rd Floor, Eastbrook, Shaftesbury Road, Cambridge CB2 8BF
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2012
NOTE

2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

8.1
6
3
4

(92,751)
(33,331)
125,807
1,396

(89,950)
(41,380)
128,188
3,400

1,121

258

10

0

Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year
Public dividend capital dividends payable

1,131
(101)

258
(74)

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year

1,030

184

0

(3,637)

1,030

(3,453)

Employee benefits
Other operating costs
Revenue from patient care activities
Other operating revenue
Operating surplus/(deficit)
Investment revenue

12

Other Comprehensive Income
Net gain/(loss) on other reserves
Total comprehensive income for the year
Financial performance for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit)
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2012
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
(restated)
NOTE
£000
£000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

13
14

3,139
492

1,671
315

3,631

1,986

343
10,438
8,537

105
16,638
3,404

Total current assets

19,318

20,147

Total assets

22,949

22,133

(14,131)
(2,658)
0

(16,976)
(27)
0

(16,789)

(17,003)

Non-current assets plus/less net current assets/liabilities

6,160

5,130

Total assets employed

6,160

5,130

FINANCED BY:
TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
Public dividend capital
Retained earnings
Other reserves

0
1,214
4,946

0
184
4,946

Total taxpayers' equity

6,160

5,130

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

17
18.1
20

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Capital loan from Department

21
24

Total current liabilities

The notes on page 140 to 169 form part of this account.
The financial statements on pages 136 to 139 were approved by the Board on 30 May 2012 and signed on its behalf by:

Signed:

Date:

David Law Chief Executive
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity
for the year ended 31 March 2012
Public
dividend
capital (PDC)
£000s

Retained
earnings

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000s

£000s

£000s

Balance at 1 April 2011

0

184

4,946

5,130

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2011/12
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension

0
0

1,030
0

0
0

1,030
0

Net recognised revenue/(expense) for the year

0

1,030

0

1,030

Balance at 31 March 2012

0

1,214

4,946

6,160

Balance at 1 April 2010
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year
Movements in other reserves
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension

0
0
0
0

0
184
0
0

8,583
0
(3,637)
0

8,583
184
(3,637)
0

Net recognised revenue/(expense) for the year

0

184

(3,637)

(3,453)

Balance at 31 March 2011

0

184

4,946

5,130

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2010/11
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2012
2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

1,121
569
(101)
(238)
6,200
(2,513)
2,631

258
363
(74)
2,640
(13,013)
13,333
27

7,669

3,534

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Rental revenue

10
(2,109)
(437)
0

0
0
(131)
0

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

(2,536)

(131)

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) BEFORE FINANCING

5,133

3,403

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital grants and other capital receipts

0

0

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

0

0

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

5,133

3,403

Cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdraft)
at beginning of the period
Opening balance adjustment - TCS transactions
Restated cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdraft)
at beginning of the period

3,404

1

0
3,404

0
1

8,537

3,404

NOTE
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/deficit
Depreciation and amortisation
Dividend paid
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdraft) at year end

20
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Notes to the Accounts

1. Accounting Policies
The Secretary of State for Health has directed that the financial statements of NHS Trusts shall meet the accounting
requirements of the NHS Trusts’ Manual for Accounts, which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2011/12 NHS Trusts’ Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the NHS Trusts Manual for Accounts
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the Trust are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

1.2.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management
has made in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The Trust has considered its position with regard to financial, operating and other associated risks and determined it
is a going concern. These accounts have been prepared on this basis.
The risks and rewards of ownership of all land and buildings used by the Trust for clinical and administrative functions
are owned or leased by NHS Hertfordshire. The Trust is provided with fully serviced accommodation.
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1.2.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
The Trust has estimated the life of assets capitalised as Plant, Property & Equipment based on advice from specialist
staff and previous experience - note 1.6.
The Trust is carrying a liability for provisions. In order to calculate the carrying amount the Trust has estimated the
costs of staff affected by its planned restructuring - note 1.12.

1.3 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of revenue for the Trust is from
commissioners for healthcare services. Revenue relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year
end are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period
compared to expected total length of stay/costs incurred to date compared to total expected costs.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating
injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The Trust
only recognises income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation
Recovery Unit that a compensation claim has been successful and is about to be paid to the Trust. The income is
measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual. The Trust has not included a
provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts, as it does not recognise income ahead of
being paid.
The Trust provides against an impairment of receivables and this is shown in note 18.3. The impairment is calculated
on all non NHS receivables and shown at current value.
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1.4 Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries and wage payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees.
The Trust leave year runs from 1 April to 31 March. The Trust has a policy of not allowing any staff to carry forward
untaken leave into the new financial year and so no accrual has been made for annual leave earned but not taken.
Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating
in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Trust commits itself to
the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.5 Other expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received.
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
● it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
● it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to, the Trust
● it is expected to be used for more than one financial year
● the cost of the item can be measured reliably, and
● the item has cost of at least £5,000 or,
● collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250,
where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control, or
● items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
Land and buildings used by the Trust are owned or leased by NHS Hertfordshire and the Trust pays for the use of
these buildings. During 2011/12 the Trust had a capital resource limit to invest in buildings that were anticipated
to transfer from NHS Hertfordshire, as part of the Department of Health's Transforming Community Services
programme. The transfer did not take place due to delays nationally. Revised guidance from the DH anticipates
assets transfer by 31 March 2013. The Trust used its capital resource limit to invest in those buildings that it uses
and has recognised this expenditure in its accounts.
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Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost
is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is
capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.7 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from
the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust; where the
cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at least £5000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating
of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and
equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is
capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:
● the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
● the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it
● the ability to sell or use the intangible asset
● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential
● the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and
sell or use it
● the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active market.
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1.8 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment
and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that
reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an
asset is the period over which the Trust expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset.
This is specific to the Trust and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and
residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.
At each reporting period end, the Trust checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or
intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset
and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit
should be taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have
been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to
expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.9 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The Trust has reviewed its leases and has no
finance leases.
The Trust as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. It is not possible to separate land and buildings
costs from the charge made by NHS Hertfordshire.

1.10 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the weighted average cost formula.
This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.
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1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management.

1.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Trust has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with ongoing activities of the entity.
The Trust is currently consulting staff on a restructuring of its management functions and this finishes on 2 June 2012.
A provision is included which estimates the costs arising from this restructuring.
The Trust has included a further provision for the redundancy costs arising from the closure of inpatient facilities
at both Hitchin and Royston Hospitals. NHS Hertfordshire, as the main commissioner of services from the Trust,
led the public consultation and its Board approved the closure of these wards in June. Staff will be redeployed
into vacancies wherever possible, but a provision has been included to cover costs resulting from these changes.
The Trust expects to be fully reimbursed for all these costs by NHS Hertfordshire and has recognised this as an asset.

1.13 Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability
remains with the Trust. The NHSLA does not carry any provisions on behalf of the Trust.

1.14 Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
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1.15 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required
to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
The Trust has reviewed past events to determine if any possible obligations or assets may arise and considers
that there are no contingent assets or liabilities to disclose.

1.16 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Trust becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case
of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
held to maturity investments; available for sale financial assets, and loans and receivables. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with
embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss. The Trust has reviewed its contracts and has no embedded derivates.
Held to maturity investments
The Trust has no held to maturity investments.
Available for sale financial assets
The Trust has no available for sale financial assets.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Current receivables are held at book value and are expected to be recovered within one year.

1.17 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Trust becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the
liability has been paid or has expired.
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1.18 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable,
the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.19 Foreign currencies
The Trust's functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. The Trust has had no transactions in a
foreign currency.

1.20 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the Accounts
since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. Details of third party assets are given in Note 30 to the Accounts.

1.21 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend
Public dividend capital represents taxpayers’ equity in the NHS Trust. At any time the Secretary of State can issue
new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from the Trust. PDC is recorded at the value received. As PDC is issued
under legislation rather than under contract, it is not treated as an equity financial instrument.
An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as
public dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on
the average carrying amount of all assets less liabilities, except for donated assets and cash balances with the
Office of the Paymaster General. The average carrying amount of assets is calculated as a simple average of
opening and closing relevant net assets.
Although the Trust does not have any PDC, it made public dividend capital dividend payments to the Department
of Health based on its average relevant net assets.

1.22 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are
therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into
different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been bearing
their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
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1.23 Subsidiaries
For 2010/11 and 2011/12 in accordance with the directed accounting policy from the Secretary of State, the
Trust does not consolidate the NHS charitable funds for which it is the corporate trustee.
The Trust does not have any other subsidiaries.

1.24 Associates, joint ventures and joint operations
The Trust does not have any associates, joint ventures or joint operations.

1.25 Research and Development
The Trust has recognised income and expenditure as research and development costs. It has previously supported
the University of Hertfordshire to make applications for research funding to the National Institute of Health
Research (NIHR). Several ongoing projects transferred to the Trust as part of the overall transfer of assets and
liabilities when it was created in 2010. Funding is provided by the Department of Health directly to the Trust
and the Trust is charged by the University. These contracts ended during the year 2011/12.

1.26 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The Treasury FReM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2011/12.
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2011/12,
were they applied in that year:
IAS 1
IAS 12
IAS 19
IAS 27
IAS 28
IFRS 7
IFRS 9
IFRS 10
IFRS 11
IFRS 12
IFRS 13
IPSAS 32

Presentation of financial statements (Other Comprehensive Income) - subject to consultation
Income Taxes (amendment) - subject to consultation
Post-employment benefits (pensions) - subject to consultation
Separate Financial Statements - subject to consultation
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - subject to consultation
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (annual improvements) - effective 2012/13
Financial Instruments - subject to consultation - subject to consultation
Consolidated Financial Statements - subject to consultation
Joint Arrangements - subject to consultation
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - subject to consultation
Fair Value Measurement - subject to consultation
Service Concession Arrangement - subject to consultation

2. Operating Segments
The Trust engages in its activities as a single operating segment ie the provision of health care. The main source of
revenue for the Trust is from commissioners of health care services which are principally Primary Care Trusts (PCTs).
The Department of Health has deemed that as PCTs are under common control they are classed as a single
customer for the purposes of segmental analysis. No other customer generates in excess of 10% of total revenue.
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3. Revenue from patient care activities

Strategic health authorities
NHS trusts
Primary care trusts - tariff
Primary care trusts - non-tariff
Primary care trusts - market forces factor
Foundation trusts
Local authorities
Department of Health
NHS other
Non-NHS:
Private patients
Injury costs recovery
Other

2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

88
5,269
1,843
114,691
249
214
3,052
0
0

38
5,793
137
116,625
19
427
2,658
1
2,049

18
30
353

0
57
384

125,807

128,188

2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

322
776
0
22
276

175
431
2,523
134
137

1,396

3,400

127,203

131,588

4. Other operating revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Other revenue

Total operating revenue

5. Revenue
Revenue is almost totally from the supply of services. Revenue from the sale of goods is immaterial.
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6. Operating expenses
2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

0
290
50
9,130
270
164
8,048
9
14,023
42
0
478
91
104
163
76
288
105

20
272
50
11,487
2,845
91
9,518
37
12,787
198
2,745
351
12
119
0
200
274
374

33,331

41,380

Employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding Board members
Board members

91,813
938

89,900
50

Total employee benefits

92,751

89,950

Total operating expenses

126,082

131,330

Services from PCTs
Purchase of health care from non NHS bodies
Trust chair and non executive directors
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairment and reversals of receivables
Inventories write down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Audit fees
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Other

The Trust is charged by NHS Hertfordshire for the use of fully serviced clinical and administrative buildings.
Costs have been treated as a revenue expense during 2011/12 and categorised as premises costs above.
There is no formal agreement in place and therefore it is not appropriate to treat the costs as an operating lease.
The agreed Audit fee for 2011/12 is £114k (including VAT) and the £104k stated above is net of a rebate for the
previous year.
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7. Operating leases as lessee
The Trust is lessee under a number of operating leases, the main categories being estates, franking machines, lease
cars and water coolers.
The Trust is charged by NHS Hertfordshire for the use of fully serviced clinical and administrative buildings. Costs have
been treated as a revenue expense during 2011/12. There is no formal agreement but the Trust considers that
the arrangement is in substance as though an operating lease were in place. No payments have been anticipated
for 2012/13 onwards, as the estate is due to transfer from NHS Hertfordshire by 31 March 2013, under merger
accounting. It is anticipated that not all of the estate currently used by the Trust will transfer. The Trust is reviewing
its estates and clinical strategies and until these are finalised it is not possible to determine its exact requirements
and therefore the level of lease payments to a third party.
The leases for franking machines have a maximum lease term remaining of four years, at which point the service
will be subject to full tendering.
Cars are leased by individual staff and some services. The maximum life of any lease is three years and the Trust pays
the annual lease, with staff repaying this through monthly salary deductions. Staff have the option to purchase cars
at the end of the lease, but this is a private arrangement between the member of staff and the lease company.

7.1 Trust as lessee
2011/12
Total
£000

2010/11

Payments recognised
as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Sub-lease payments

271
0

67
0

Total

271

67

Land
£000

Buildings
£000

Other
£000

£000

Payable:
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years

0
0
0

0
0
0

269
312
0

269
312
0

74
218
0

Total

0

0

581

581

292
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8. Employee costs and numbers

8.1 Employee benefits
Total

Other

£000

Permanently
employed
£000

Employee Benefits 2011/12 - gross expenditure
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits

76,102
5,295
8,778
2,658

71,090
5,295
8,778
2,658

5,012
0
0
0

Total employee benefits

92,833

87,821

5,012

(322)

(322)

0

92,511

87,499

5,012

82

82

0

92,751

87,739

5,012

Total

Other

£000

Permanently
employed
£000

Employee Benefits 2011/12 - income
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS BSA - Pension Division

272
19
31

272
19
31

0
0
0

Total excluding capital costs

322

322

0

Total

Other

£000

Permanently
employed
£000

Employee Benefits 2011/12 - net expenditure
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits

75,830
5,276
8,747
2,658

70,818
5,276
8,747
2,658

5,012
0
0
0

Total employee benefits

92,511

87,499

5,012

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
(table below)
Total - Net employee benefits including capitalised costs
Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs
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£000

£000

£000

82
92,429
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8.2 Average number of people employed
2011/12
Total

Medical and dental
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Other
Total
Of the above staff engaged on capital projects

Other

2010/11
Total

Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Number

Numbers

29
270
693
899
0
486
3

28
259
673
873
0
478
3

1
11
20
26
0
8
0

81
629
719
1,200
1
669
12

2,380

2,314

66

3,311

1.18

1.18

0

4

8.3 Staff Sickness absence and ill health retirements

Total days lost
Total staff years
Average working days lost

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

Total additional pensions liabilities accrued in the year

2011/12
Numbers

2010/11
Numbers

42,508
2,407

36,387
2,405

17.66

15.13

2011/12
Numbers

2010/11
Numbers

4

0

2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

82

0
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8.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting
valuation every year. An outline of these follows.
a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last formal actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending
31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008.
However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes have been suspended by HM Treasury
on value for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while
future scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision. Employer and
employee contribution rates are currently being determined under the new scheme design.
b) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period.
Actuarial assessments are undertaken in intervening years between formal valuations using updated membership
data are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. However, as the interval
since the last formal valuation now exceeds four years, the valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2012,
is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March 2010 updated to 31 March 2012 with summary global
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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c) Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be
met before these benefits can be obtained:
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and
of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations
have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional
tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as
“pension commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and
are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year.
From 2011/12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the
Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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9. Better Payment Practice Code

9.1 Measure of compliance

Non-NHS payables
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid
within target
NHS payable
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid
within target

2011/12
Number

2011/12
£000

2010/11
Number

2010/11
£000

15,861
14,092

14,550
13,490

19,066
17,279

17,581
15,524

88.85%

92.71%

90.63%

88.30%

764
699

7,684
7,412

930
820

7,006
5,916

91.49%

96.46%

88.17%

84.44%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within
30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. Performance of deemed to be a measure of compliance.

9.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The Trust did not receive any claims for payment under this legislation.

10. Investment Income

Interest Income
Bank interest
Other loans and receivables
Subtotal
Total investment income

2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

10
0

0
0

10

0

10

0

11. Other gains and losses
The Trust has had no gains or losses during the year on the disposal of assets or changes in fair value of
assets or liabilities

12. Finance costs
The Trust has not incurred any finance costs for interest on loans or overdrafts.
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13.1 Property, plant and equipment
Buildings
excluding
dwellings
2011/12
£000

Plant and
machinery

information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

0

1,175

1,650

500

3,325

0

0

0

0

0

At 1 April 2011 restated
Additions purchased
Reclassifications
Disposals other than for sale

0
942
0
0

1,175
28
(70)
(40)

1,650
798
0
0

500
178
70
(3)

3,325
1,946
0
(43)

At 31 March 2011

942

1,093

2,448

745

5,228

Depreciation
at 31 March 2011
Prior period adjustments

0
0

742
0

541
0

371
0

1,654
0

At 1 April 2011 restated
Reclassifications
Disposals other than for sale
Charged during the year

0
0
0
3

742
(11)
(40)
109

541
0
0
327

371
11
(3)
39

1,654
0
(43)
478

At 31 March 2011

3

800

868

418

2,089

Net book value
at 31 March 2012

939

293

1,580

327

3,139

Purchased

939

293

1,580

327

3,139

Total at 31 March 2012

939

293

1,580

327

3,139

Assets financing:
Owned

939

293

1,580

327

3,139

Total at 31 March 2012

939

293

1,580

327

3,139

Cost or valuation
at 31 March 2011
Prior period adjustment
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13.2 Property, plant and equipment
Buildings
excluding
dwellings
2010/11
£000

Plant and
machinery

information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Cost or valuation
at 1 April 2010
Additions purchased

0

1,175

842

500

2,517

0

0

808

0

808

At 31 March 2011

0

1,175

1,650

500

3,325

Depreciation
at 1 April 2010
Charged during the year

0
0

602
140

361
180

340
31

1,303
351

At 31 March 2011

0

742

541

371

1,654

Net book value
at 31 March 2011

0

433

1,109

129

1,671

Purchased

0

433

1,109

129

1,671

Total at 31 March 2011

0

433

1,109

129

1,671

Assets financing:
Owned

0

433

1,109

129

1,671

Total at 31 March 2011

0

433

1,109

129

1,671

The cost and cumulative depreciation for Plant & Machinery has been adjusted by £54,000 from the closing
position in the 2010/11 accounts. This corrects an error made in the previous year accounts due to the transfer
of assets under merger accounting from NHS Hertfordshire. The Net Book Value remains the same.
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13.3 Property, plant and equipment (cont.)
Asset lives and residual values have been reviewed, but have not changed during 2011/12.
The Trust does not hold any assets at revalued amounts nor have there been any impairments during the year.
Property Plant & Equipment assets are depreciated over their useful economic lives. The Trust applies the following
standard lives to these classes of assets:

Buildings
Plant and machinery
Information technology
Fixtures and fittings

Min Life
Years

Max Life
Years

5
5
5
5

20
25
5
10

The Trust retains a number of fully depreciated assets still in use. The gross carrying amount of these is as follows:
2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

Plant and machinery
Information technology
Fixtures and fittings

391
1
292

418
0
295

Total

684

713
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14.1 Intangible non-current assets
Software
purchased
£000

£000

Cost or valuaton:
At 31 March 2011
Prior period adjustments

359
0

359
0

At 1 April 2011 restated
Additions - purchased

359
268

359
268

At 31 March 2012

627

627

Amortisation
At 31 March 2011
Prior period adjustments

44
0

0
0

At 1 April 2010
Charged during the year

44
91

44
91

At 31 March 2012

135

135

NBV at March 2012

492

492

Net book value at 31 March 2012 comprises:
Purchased

492

492

Total at 31 March 2012

429

429

Software
purchased
£000

Total
£000

Cost or valuaton:
At 1 March 2010
Additions - purchased

53
306

53
306

At 31 March 2011

359

359

Amortisation
At 1 April 2010
Charged during the year

32
12

32
12

At 31 March 2011

44

44

315

315

2011/12

Total

14.2 Intangible non-current asset

2010/11

Net book value at 31 March 2011
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14.3 Intangible non-current assets
All intangible assets controlled by the Trust have been recognised as assets and are purchased externally
rather than internally generated.
The Trust retains a dental software system which has been fully amortised during the year but is still in use.
The gross replacement cost of this was £25,628.
All intangible assets are carried at amoritsed cost and have a finite life, so are amortised over five years.

15. Commitments

15.1 Capital commitments
Contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements.
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000
£000
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

599
5

809
174

Total

604

983

15.2 Other financial commitments
The Trust has not entered into any non-cancellable contracts (including leases or PFI contracts or other service
concession arrangements).

16. Intra-Government and other balances
Receivables
£000

Payables
£000

8,859
67
1,213
299

10,584
3
934
2,610

At 31 March 2012

10,438

14,131

prior period
Balances with other Central Government Bodies
Balances with Local Authorities
Balances with NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Balances with bodies external to government

15,227
437
622
352

12,454
0
1,313
3,209

At 31 March 2011

16,638

16,976

Balances with other Central Government Bodies
Balances with Local Authorities
Balances with NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Balances with bodies external to government
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17. Inventories
Other
£000

Total
£000

Balance at 1 April 2011
Prior period adjustment

105
0

105
0

Restated at 1 April 2011
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Transfers (to)/from other bodies

105
343
(37)
(68)

105
343
(37)
(68)

Balance at 31 March 2012

343

343

The Inventory comprises stocks held by the Wheelchair Service.
The Trust sold some stock to Hertfordshire County Council during the year, when the Council's integrated Equipment
Service took on responsibility for running the Approved Repairer Service previously undertaken by the Trust.

18.1 Trade and other receivables
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000
£000
NHS receivables - revenue
NHS Prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables - revenue
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Total current

7,177
2,730
226
190
(50)
165

15,725
215
741
33
(198)
122

10,438

16,638

The great majority of trade is with Primary Care Trusts, as commissioners for NHS patient care services.
As Primary Care Trusts are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them
is considered necessary.

18.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000
£000

162

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months

1,594
254
811

783
746
1,232

Total

2,659

2,761
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18.3 Provision for impairment of receivables

Balance at 1 April 2011
Amount written off during the year
(Increase)/decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March

2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

(198)
190
(42)

(2)
2
(198)

(50)

(198)

The majority of receivables impaired are due to overpayment of salaries to staff, many of whom are no longer
employed by the Trust but the debt is being actively pursued.

19. Other financial assets
The Trust does not have any other financial assets.

20. Cash and cash equivalents
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000
£000
Opening balance
Net change in year

3,404
5,133

1
3,403

Closing balance

8,537

3,404

Made up of
Cash with Government banking services
Commercial banks
Cash in hand

8,533
1
3

3,391
13
0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft - Government banking services

8,537
0

3,404
0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows

8,537

3,404
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21. Trade and other payables
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000
£000
NHS payables - revenue
NHS payables - capital
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables - revenue
Non-NHS payables - capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Total payables

8,603
1
2,818
1,233
604
802
52
18
0

13,521
121
2,114
353
862
0
0
3
2

14,131

16,976

Where the Trust has received an invoice from another organisation at 31 March and this is showing as unauthorised
on the ledger system, this is disclosed as NHS payables - revenue and Non-NHS payables - revenue.
All other expenditure is accrued and classified as either NHS or Non-NHS.

22. Other liabilities and borrowings
The Trust does not have any other liabilities or borrowings, including loans or overdrafts.

23. Deferred income
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000
£000
Opening balance at 1 April 2011
Deferred income addition

303
655

0
303

Current deferred income at 31 March 2012

958

303

Legal Claims Restructuring
£000
£000

Redudancy
£000

24. Provisions
Total
£000

164

Balance at 1 April 2011
Arising during the year
Reversed unused

27
2,658
(27)

27
0
(27)

0
1,774
0

0
884
0

Balance as at 31 March 2012

2,658

0

1,774

884

Expected timing of cash flows:
No Later than one year

2,658

0

1,774

884
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Restructuring
The provision is calculated on estimated costs of posts at risk within the consultation to restructure management
functions and average redundancy costs based on mid-point of pay scales. The full costs are expected to be
reimbursed by NHS Hertfordshire and this has been recognised as an asset.
Redundancy
The provision is calculated on members of staff at risk from the closure of inpatient facilities at Hitchin
and Royston Hospitals. The full costs are expected to be reimbursed by NHS Hertfordshire and this has been
recognised as an asset. There are no provisions held by the NHS Litigation Authority in respect of Clinical
Negligence Liabilities for the Trust

25. Financial instruments

25.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing
service provider relationship that the Trust has with primary care trusts and the way those primary care trusts are
financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments
play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the
financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to
change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters
defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors.
Trust treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors.
Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with all transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and
sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
Interest rate risk
The Trust borrows from Government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by the strategic
health authority. The borrowings are for one to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest
is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust therefore has low exposure to
interest rate fluctuations.
Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has
low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2012 are in receivables from customers,
as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
Liquidity risk
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with primary care trusts, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its
prudential borrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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25.2 Financial assets
At fair
value through
profit and loss
£000

Loans and
receivables

Total

£000

£000

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand

0
0
0

9,907
531
8,537

9,907
531
8,537

Total at 31 March 2012

0

18,975

18,975

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand

0
0
0

15,758
880
3,404

15,758
880
3,404

Total at 31 March 2011

0

20,042

20,042

At fair
value through
profit and loss
£000

Other

Total

£000

£000

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables

0
0

11,421
2,710

11,421
2,710

Total at 31 March 2012

0

14,131

14,131

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables

0
0

13,642
3,334

13,642
3,334

Total at 31 March 2011

0

16,976

16,976

25.3 Financial liabilities

26. Events after the reporting period
There are a number of events that will have an impact on the Trust during 2012/13. These include:
• The Trust has won a major contract to deliver children's services in West Essex from 1 April 2012 valued at
£3.8m per year for three years, with associated expenditure.
• The inpatient facilities at Royston Hospital closed at the end of April 2012 and the beds were transferred
to Hitchin Hospital, which is scheduled to close in June 2012. This will reduce income and expenditure.
The financial value of this is still under negotiation.
• The transfer of estate from NHS Hertfordshire under the Department of Health's Transforming Community
Services programme is expected to be completed on 31 March 2013. The financial effect of this cannot be
estimated as negotiations are ongoing with NHS Hertfordshire.
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27. Related party transactions
During the year none of the Department of Health Ministers or members of the key management staff, or parties
related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has
had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the
parent Department. These entities are:

NHS Hertfordshire
South East Essex PCT
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust

Payments
to
related party
£

Receipts
from
related party
£

Amounts
owed to
related party
£

Amount
due from
related party
£

16,467,924
0
572,747
3,735,770

114,427,124
2,028,596
4,111,266
860,495

9,666,916
0
119,699
614,058

7,831,474
132,972
731,081
36,210

In addition, the Trust has had material transactions with other government departments and local government bodies.
These are:

HM Revenue & Customs
Hertfordshire County Council

Payments
to
related party
£

Receipts
from
related party
£

Amounts
owed to
related party
£

Amount
due from
related party
£

5,294,619
36,274

0
3,072,204

18,074
2,537

165,318
67,346

The Trust had material transactions with the following companies whose directors were members of the Trust Board:

Creative Consulting
Firstex (UK) Ltd

Payments
to
related party
£

Receipts
from
related party
£

Amounts
owed to
related party
£

Amount
due from
related party
£

107,254
83,204

0
0

0
0

0
0
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28. Losses and special payments
The total number of losses cases in 2011/12 and their total value was as follows:
Total Value Total Number
of Cases
of Cases
£
£
Losses
Special payments

92,352
0

28
0

Total losses and special payments

92,352

28

The total number of losses cases in 2010/11 and their total value was as follows:
Total Value Total Number
of Cases
of Cases
£
£
Losses
Special payments

200,705
0

68
0

Total losses and special payments

200,705

68

2010/11
£000

2011/12
£000

131,588
184

127,203
1,030

Break-even in-year positon

184

1,030

Break-even cumulative postion

184

1,214

2010/11
%

2011/12
%

0.14%
0.14%

0.81
0.95

29. Financial performance targets

29.1 Breakeven performance

Turnover
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year

Materiality test (i.e. is it equal to or less than 0.5%)
Break-even in-year positon as a percentage of turnover
Break-even cumulative postion as a percentage of turnover
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29.2 Capital cost absorption rate
The Trust is required to absorb the cost of capital at a rate of 3.5% of of average relevant net assets and make a
public dividend capital payment.

29.3 External financing
The Trust is given an external financing limit which it is permitted to undershoot.

£000
External financing limit
Cash flow financing

2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

(190)

1,500
(3,403)

(5,133)

(3,403)

4,943

4,903

2011/12
£000

2010/11
£000

2,214
2,214
2,281

1,114
1,114
1,500

67

386

(5,133)

External financing requirements
Undershoot/(overshoot)

29.4 Capital resource limits
The Trust is given a capital resource limit which it is not permitted to exceed.

Gross capital expenditure
Charge against the capital resource limit
Capital resource limit
(Over)/underspend against the capital resource limit

30. Third party assets
The Trust held cash and cash equivalents which relate to monies held by the NHS Trust on behalf of patients.
This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£
£
Third party assets held by the Trust
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That was the day that was...
Trust’s first open day is a hit
The venue was buzzing, the car
park over flowing, the chatter
incessant, the tributes glowing...
it was all going on when the
Celebrating Community Services
hit Hatfield.
Over 400 staff and members of public
crammed into the Fielder Centre in
Hatfield and the exhibition area soon

resembled a north African market
bazaar with colleagues swapping
stories, people putting a face to a
name, and HCT staff vying to show
off their wares and talk about their
plans and achievements - in between
queuing up to have their flu jabs.
Such was the crowding that conference
centre staff were in a tizzy managing the
car parking (200 spaces gone in a flash)
and shifting extra chairs into the
conference room to accommodate an
overflowing audience for a film show,
Trust Board presentation and the
Leading Lights staff awards ceremony.
The ‘market place’ show cased many
of our services and highlighted
award winners such as our Palliative
Care Service in West Herts and the
Step2 service for younger people
with behaviour problems.
A highlight of the afternoon was
when the two stars of our film - two
year old twins Ayala and Caira Brooks
- blew out the candle on the Trust’s
one year birthday cake. Everyone went
away - complete with a conference
bag of goodies - uplifted by a
fantastic afternoon.

Caring for you

www.hertschs.nhs.uk

